

Three dimensional modelling and finite element distortion analysis of the mandible

Author: Ben Nissan, Besim

Publication Date: 1987

DOI: https://doi.org/10.26190/unsworks/7726

License:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/au/ Link to license to see what you are allowed to do with this resource.

Downloaded from http://hdl.handle.net/1959.4/62172 in https:// unsworks.unsw.edu.au on 2024-05-01

THREE DIMENSIONAL MODELLING AND FINITE ELEMENT DISTORTION ANALYSIS OF THE MANDIBLE

by

B. BEN-NISSAN

A dissertation submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at The University of New South Wales.

APRIL 1987

UNIVERSITY OF N.S.W.

14 JUN 1988

BIOMEDICAL LIBRARY

"I hereby declare that this submission is my own work and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, it contains no material previously published or written by another person nor material which to a substantial extent has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma of a university or other institute of higher learning, except where due acknowledgement is made in the text."

ABSTRACT

In the past due to the complexity of its movements, the biomechanics of the mandible have proved difficult to analyze. Even tough estimation of the temporomandibular forces from mathematical models has a long history, it has led to quite conflicting results.

Until to-day, only few papers have been published concerning the development, analysis and experimental verification of three dimensional, finite element models of the human mandible. The mathematical models used in these studies have been almost exclusively first-order, partially completed, over constrained structural models, exhibiting limited anatomic description and properties. Since structures in oral cavity are complex by nature the only useful mathematical models of the mandibular environment are the ones which represent these complexities. Improvement on previous models should include, forces acting on the mandible, realistic geometry and boundary conditions analogous to musculature support and ultimately better bone and tissue property characterization both structurally and biologically. The use of computers are essential if the analysis is to be applied to physiologic problems.

In this thesis a three-dimensional finite element model of the mandible in its intact, physiologic state has been developed using CAD methods. Both cortical and cancellous bones were represented in the 3-D model. The model geometry was derived from physical measurements taken of an average size mandible. Data on anatomic and functional aspects, and material properties were obtained from literature. Materials were idealized as homogeneous, isotropic and linearly elastic. The complete model consisted of 258 (20 node) solid elements and 1106 nodes.

Three nodes on the symmetry plane were restrained. Reactions of those points were shown to be zero so that constraining these parts had no effect on the stress distribution. Thus the model was completely free to deform, removing the approximation caused by over-restraining in previous models.

It has been reported that the mandibular bone flexes when subjected to a variety of intrinsic and extrinsic forces. A survey of the literature reveals that the possibility of the mandibular distortion during functional movements has not been biomechanically investigated and to date no mathematical model of the mandible has been attempted to solve this or other related problem. The distortion of the mandible by using two different three dimensional models has been found to occur.

When published values of distortions are compared with this work, the calculated values are in good agreement with the previously measured values.

The range of mandibular movement and its distortion during clenching, opening and protrusion is dependent on mandibular geometry, mechanical properties and the thickness of the cortical bone, and the type, magnitude and to the point of application of the muscle forces.

The range of mandibular distortion during opening and protrusion could present some important clinical problems.

Several improvements on the development of the 3-D model also have been suggested to provide better insight in the fields of biomechanics, oral implantology, periodontology, prosthetic dentistry, maxillofacial reconstructive surgery, temporomandibular joint dysfunction and periodontic corrective device methodology.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work could never have been completed without the assistance and encouragement of several special people. I would like to take this opportunity to record my appreciation of their help and understanding.

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to Professor N. L. Svensson and Dr. T. T. Vajda.

Professor Svensson, who supervised this thesis, provided direction, insight, warm friendship and an educational standard of excellence which is difficult to emulate.

Special thanks is given to Dr. T. Vajda, who through his vigorous research in the area of implantation has not only created a stimulating atmosphere, but also availed his expertise and knowledge, and spent many hours in very helpful discussions.

I would like to extend my gratitude to Professor Valliappan who was responsible for initiating my interest in the finite element method and Dr. D. Kelly for his further guidance, enthusiastic participation and very useful discussions. He has not only made the initiation of this thesis possible, but has left an impression which will continue to influence my work.

I extend my sincere thanks to Mr. Surjanil Pal and Mr. T. Harris who spent many hours with me on Unix and PDP11/60 systems and proved me that computers and computer graphics could be an excellent engineering tool.

I would like to thank my friend Dr. Ella Sugo for her help related to the anatomy of the masticatory system. Thanks also goes to her colleagues from the University of Sydney School of Anatomy, who kindly gave me the opportunity to observe the muscles in more detail.

Acknowledgement is also extended to my colleague and friend Dr. R. F. G. MacMillan who has reduced my teaching duties in NSWIT during the period which this work was carried out. His remarks, friendship, and silent support was very crucial on completion of this thesis. The standard of the presentation of the thesis is due to the efforts of Mrs. H. Dalrymple. I extend my sincere gratitude to her for impeccable typing and to Ariela who helped me with the proof reading and final compilation of this thesis.

I would like to thank my wife Ariela and my children, for their love and understanding, and patiently enduring the many sacrifices which inevitably resulted from such a multidisciplinary project.

Finally, I would like to thank Dr. Sela (Rotchild Hospital), Professor Gutman, Dr. Minkov, Dr. Laufer and Dr. Sharon (Rambam Hospital, Haifa, Israel) and Professor M. Weiss (Illinois University, U.S.A.), who has given me the first insights of the most meaningful side of the medical research, starting from that dark October '73 night until now ... Without them, this thesis could not have been completed. It is for this reason that this thesis is as much theirs as it is mine.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABS	TRACT		iii
ACK	NOWLE	EDGEMENTS	v
TAB	LE OF C	CONTENTS	vii
LIST	ST OF APPENDICES		
LIST	OF TAI	BLES	xii
LIST	OF SYN	MBOLS	xiii
I.]	INTRODUCTION	
	1.1	Mandibular Flexure and Distortion	1
	1.2	The Purpose of the Research	7
π		ANATOMY OF THE MANDIBLE	
11,			
	2.1	The Skull	13
	2.2	The Mandible	19
III.		FUNCTIONAL ANATOMY	
	3.1	Temporomandibular Joint	25
	3.2	Temporomandibular Joint Ligaments	28
	3.2.1	The Collateral Ligaments	28
	3.2.2	The Capsular Ligament	30
	3.2.3	The Temporomandibular Ligament	31
	3.2.4	The Sphenomandibular Ligament	32
	3.2.5	The Stylomandibular Ligament	32
	3.3	The Musculature of the Masticatory Mechanism	33
	3.3.1	Muscles of Mastication	33
	3.3.1.1	Masseter Muscle	34
	3.3.1.2	The Temporalis	36
	3.3.1.3	The Medial Pterygoid	38
	3.3.1.4	The Lateral Pterygoid	40
	3.3.2	The Suprahyoid Muscles	42
	3.3.2.1	The Digastric Muscle	43
	3.3.2.2	The Geniohyoid Muscle	45

3.3.2.3	The Mylohyoid Muscle	46
3.3.2.4	The Stylohyoid Muscle	48
3.3.3	Infrahyoid Muscles	49

IV. FUNCTIONAL ASPECTS OF THE MANDIBLE

4.1	Movements of the Temporomandibular Joint	58
4.1.1	Temporomandibular Articulation	60
4.2	Mandibular Movements	64
4.2.1	Mandibular Rest Position	65
4.2.2	Movement of Initial and Maximal Opening	66
4.2.3	Lateral Movements of the Jaws	70
4.2.4	Closing Movement	71
4.2.5	Protrusion and Retrusion Movements	72
4.2.6	Masticatory Movements	72

V. FUNCTIONAL NEUROANATOMY:

5.1	Muscle Structure	76
5.2	The Muscle Function	81
5.3	Neurologic Structures	84
5.3.1	Muscle Spindles	85
5.3.2	Golgi Tendon Organs	88
5.3.3	Pacinian Corpuscles	89
5.3.4	Nociceptors	89
5.4	Neuromuscular Function	90
5.4.1	Reflex action	91
5.4.1.1	The Myostatic Reflex	91
5.4.1.2	Nociceptive (flexor) Reflex	92
5.4.2	Antagonistic Action	93

VI. BIOMECHANICS OF THE MANDIBULAR MOVEMENT

6.1	Axis of the Opening Movements	98
6.2	Non Lever Action Hypothesis	101
6.3	Lever Action Hypothesis	104

VII. BIOMECHANICAL ANALYSIS OF THE MANDIBLE

	7.1	Direction of Muscle Forces	110
	7.2	Magnitude of Muscle Forces	111
	7.3	Bite Forces Analysis	112
	7.4	Barbanel Analysis	115
	7.5	Pruim, Ten Bosch and DeJough Analysis	119
VIII.		FINITE ELEMENT ANALYSIS IN BIOMECHANICS	
	8.1	Finite Element Analysis in Orthopedic Systems	128
	8.2	Finite Element Analysis in Oral Systems	134
IX.		MATHEMATICAL ANALYSIS	
	9.1	Method of Analysis	150
	9.2	Methods and Equipment Used	152
	9.2.1	MSC/Nastran	152
	9.2.2	Metsap	152
	0.0.0		

IX.

	9.1	Method of Analysis	150
	9.2	Methods and Equipment Used	152
	9.2.1	MSC/Nastran	152
	9.2.2	Metsap	152
	9.2.3	Digitizer	152
	9.2.4	Palette, CAD Software	153
	9.4	Method of Modelling	154
	9.4.1	First Stage Modelling	155
	9.4.2	Second Stage Modelling	159
	9.5	Mechanical Properties of the Mandibular Bone	164
	9.6	Forces Acting on the Mandible	165
	9.6.1	Clenching	167
	9.6.2	Opening	171
	9.6.3	Protrusion	174
X.		RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS	176
XI.		CONCLUSIONS	192
XII.		SUGGESTED FUTURE CONSIDERATIONS	
	12.1	Clinical	196
	12.2	Further Research	197
		REFERENCES and BIBLIOGRAPHY	201
		APPENDICES	229

LIST OF APPENDICES

 $\gamma^{\mu\nu}$

APPENDIX I Digitizing method and finite element nodal point generation.	229
APPENDIX II General published anatomic data on the muscles of the mastic	cation. 241
Table A - Origin and insertions of muscles.	
Table B - General location and action of muscles.	
Table 1 - Average length of muscles of mastication.	
Table 2 - Average weight of muscles of mastication.	
Table 3 - Mandibular dimensions.	
Table 4 - Reported average maximum opening.	
Table 5 - Reported maximum bite forces.	
APPENDIX III General published biomechanics data on the muscles of mast	ication. 246
Table 6 - Physiological cross-sectional area of the facial muscles.	
Table 7 - Average calculated maximum muscle forces.	
Table 8 - Average Muscle Tensions.	
Table 9 - Muscle Moment arms.	
Table 10 - Angular Directions.	
APPENDIX IV General published data on the mechanical properties	
of the mandibular bone.	250
Table 11 - Various published Young's modulus values	
for Enamel Dentin and PDL.	
Table 12 - Various published Young's modulus values of	
Cortical, Alveolar and Cancellous bones.	
Table 13 - Variations in Young's moduli values according to	
intermedullary cancellous bone percentages.	
Table 14 - The elastic moduli of bone (MPa).	

APPENDIX V Details of the force analysis of the muscles of mastication. Various previously published data were utilised to determine the magnitude and the direction of the muscles.

- Table 15 Estimated muscle force magnitudes (N) and directions during "clench".
- Table 16 Estimated muscle force magnitudes (N) and directions during "wide opening".
- Table 17 Estimated muscle force magnitudes(N) and directions during "Protrusion".
- Table 18 Method of analysis for the reaction force and calculated

 reaction force, bite force and moments.

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE I	The average and maximum degree of adduction of the mandible in first and	
	protrusion.	8
TABLE II	Proportions of fibre types in human and cat closing muscles (Taylor et al. 1976).	79
TABLE III	Estimated mean fibre cross-sectional and percentage areas for the fibre type	s
	in human jaw closing muscles (Ringqvist, 1973; Taylor et al., 1973).	79
TABLE IV	Muscle force parameters according to Barbanel (1972).	116
TABLE V	Calculated muscle forces joint reaction force and bite force magnitudes (N) during clench.	170
TABLE VI	Calculated muscle forces and joint reaction force during wide opening.	173
TABLE VII	Calculated muscle forces and joint reaction force, during protrusion.	175
TABLE VIII	Comparative values of the distortions (mm) at first and second molar region	IS,
	both as reported and corrected during wide opening.	190
TABLE IX	Comparative values of distortions (mm). At first and second molar regions, both as reported and corrected during protrusion.	190

LIST OF SYMBOLS

а _b	Moment arm of the bite force
a _m	Moment arm of an muscle
a _n	Moment arm of the n th muscle
b _k	Moment arm of the k th bite force
[B]	Partial derivative of the matrix [N]
B _k	The k th bite force
B	Bite Force
$[B]^{T}$	The transpose of matrix [B]
ca	Moment arm of the q th joint force
[D]	Elasticity matrix for the material of the element
E ₁	Young's modulus value of the cortical bone
E ₂	Young's modulus value of the cancellous bone
E	Young's modulus value of the cancellous bone
E _{cor}	Young's modulus value of the cortical bone
F _b	Bite force
FE	Muscle Force (Lateral Pterygoid)
F	Muscle Force (Medial Pterygoid)
F.	Joint force
F _M	Muscle Force (Masseter)
F m	Muscle force
F _m (max)	Physiological maximum force
F _{mp}	Medial pterygoid muscle force
Fn	The force of the n th muscle
Fp	Lateral pterygoid muscle force
FT	Muscle Force (Temporalis)
F _x	Force component in x axis
Fy	Force component in y axis
Fz	Force component in z axis
Jq	The q th joint force
[K]	Overall stiffness matrix
Κ	Number of bite forces
[k] ^e	The stiffness matrix for an element
L	Magnitude of load
Lp	Lateral Pterygoid muscle
М	Masseter muscle
м ₁	First molar
M ₂	Second molar
M.	Third molar

Mp	Medial Pterygoid muscle
N	Number of muscles
[N]	A matrix of shape function
0	Opener (digastric, mylohyoid, geniohyoid) muscles
[P]	Overall load vector
[P] ^e	Load vector for an element
P ₁	First premolar
P _{Mv}	y component of masseter muscle
P _{Mpv}	y component of medial pterygoid muscle
P	x component of the muscle force
P _{xv}	Projection of the force P on a xy co-ordinate plane
P _{xz}	Projection of the force P on a xz co-ordinate plane
P _v	y component of the muscle force
P _z	z component of the muscle force
P _{zv}	Projection of the force P on a zy co-ordinate plane
Q	Number of joint forces
R	Temporomandibular joint force resultant
Т	Temporalis muscle
ta	Anterior temporalis muscle
tp	Posterior temporalis muscle
[U]	Displacement
[u] ^e	The displacement of the nodes of an element
α _k	The angle of the k th force to y axis
α _m	The angle of the muscle force to y axis
α _n	The angle of the n th force to y axis
α _q	The angle of the q th force to y axis
β_k	The angle of the k th force to x axis
β _n	The angle of the n th force to x axis
β _q	The angle of the q th force to x axis
γ_k	The angle of the k th force to z axis
Υn	The angle of the n th force to z axis
γ _q	The angle of the q th force to z axis
$\Phi_{\rm m}^{\rm I}$	Physiological cross section
Γ	Maximum muscle tension
Φ	Joint force resultant angle to z axis
θ	Load angle to z axis
[σ]	Stress matrix

[e] Strain matrix

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Mandibular flexure and distortion.

The mandibular bone flexes when subjected to a variety of intrinsic and extrinsic forces. This response is a function of the mechanical properties of the bone as well as the type, magnitude, direction and point of application of the force.

For many years from the clinical standpoint the bone was thought to be rigid and unyielding. The first suggestion that the medial angulation of the external pterygoid muscles could introduce a contracting action upon the two halves of the jaw was made by Grunewald (1921). The effect of the mechanical deformation on the mandible was studied by Kuntscher (1934) in vitro, using colophonium and by Evans (1953) and Du Brull and Sicher (1954) with a "stress-coat" technique. Evans studied the strain due to statically applied loads of the order of 260 N applied to the chin and to the ramus near the angle. Du Brul and Sicher examined the effect of manual force tending to squeeze the condyles together. They reported stress cracks near the symphysis and at the point of insertion of the lateral pterygoid muscles. They demonstrated that the lateral pterygoid muscles contracting in an almost frontal plane during opening and protrusion of the mandible pull the condyles together. This contraction causes flexure, around the mandibular symphysis, with a resultant sagittal movement of the posterior segments. They have reported a distortion between the last mandibular molars which was up to 0.5 mm less when the jaw was forcefully protruded than when it was at rest.

Distortion of the mandible in vivo due to physiological forces was detected by Jung (1952, 1959). The method employed a modified dial gauge which measured the distance between the lingual surfaces of contralateral teeth. When the subject's mouth was opened, the mandible was moved laterally, or closure was attempted against resistance, a reduction in the inter-premolar and inter-molar distance was detected. The lower jaw was found to be distorted more than the upper jaw. In the mandible a greater reduction in width was recorded in the molar than in the premolar region. These findings were considered to be due to distortion of the jaws caused by contraction of the muscles of mastication and of the floor of the mouth. Weinmann and Sicher (1955) also have stated that "The bending force is exerted mainly by the medial component of force of the obliquely arranged external pterygoid muscles. If the two external pterygoids are forcefully contracted the mandibular condyles are pulled medially and the mandible is measurably deformed".

Most earlier studies of mandibular arch deformation in vivo were performed by using occlusal templates and micrometers.

McDowell and Regli (1961) determined arch width changes by securing intra oral metal splints using measuring points in the first premolar and second molar regions. Only the "maximal readings" were recorded and averaged. "Minimal dimensional changes" were observed in the premolar region. In the 20 patients studied, the average dimensional change was reported to be from rest to wide open 0.4 mm and in protrusion 0.5 mm. Also maximum recorded change of 1.5 mm decrease in width was reported in the forced protrusive position.

Most studies of the effect of force to the skull as a whole have been concerned with the results of injuries so that only static loads have been used and the amount of force has been large.

Dynamic distortion of the bone due to varying loads was studied in the skull of dogs by Gurdjian and Lissner (1944) who used wire resistance strain gauges. The same principle was used by Evans (1953) to detect physiological distortion of the tibia of a dog during walking. Force applied to the teeth was found, by Muhlemann (1954), to cause elastic deformation of the alveolar margin in Rhesus monkeys. Static buccolingual force was used. Force above 100 gr produced displacement of the bone detected by a dial gauge anchored to the teeth.

Movement of the tooth caused tension of the principal fibres of the periodontal membrane on the side of the applied force. Progressive deformation of the bone in this region was observed as the force increased.

Zwirner (1949, 1951) reported a method utilizing a movable plates of a condenser, one attached to the tooth to be measured and the other to the substance in which the jaws of a rat were embedded.

Picton (1962) described a clinical method of measuring axial tooth movement by means of resistance-strain gauges. Biting force was exerted on the teeth through a dynamometer employing a further wire strain gauge. Fourteen young male subjects were studied. For the test, the rubber dam clamp carrying two transducers were mounted on the first or second premolar while the dynamometer was placed between the teeth on the opposite side of the mouth so that force could be applied to the contralateral tooth. He has reported that when biting force is applied to a tooth, the tooth is depressed into the socket and tilts mesially producing slight mesial displacement of the anterior teeth. At the same time distortion of the jaws occurs which may spread to cause movement between adjacent teeth on the contralateral side. He further concluded that this contralateral deformation is due to distortion of the mandible.

Osborn and Tomlin (1964) developed a different method to measure mandibular distortion using an intraoral transducer suspended between mandibular molars. Measurements were carried out on 40 people, the average medial movements reported, on opening was 0.07 ± 0.013 mm and on protrusion 0.09 ± 0.013 mm. They haven't found any statistical evidence showing that the amount of medial movement resulting from opening is greater than resulting from protrusion. Neither was there any evidence of the amount of medial movement (on opening or protrusion) is related to the maximum extent to which the mouth could be opened. There appeared to be no correlation between the age of the subject and the degree of flexion. There is little doubt that a properly calibrated variable capacitance transducer could be made to yield accurate results, but the bulk of the one used in this project appeared to occupy tongue space. In keeping the tongue from containing the transducer, the subject may have experienced some limitation of mandibular movement.

Regli and Kelly (1967) found a decrease in mandibular width during opening at the second molar region. Using occlusal templates of cold curing acrylic resin and a micrometer, measurements were made on casts taken at various vertical openings. They have reported average distortion across the mandibular arch from first bicuspid to first bicuspid to be 0.03 mm and that from second molar to second molar 0.09 mm. The greatest change in dimension, 0.2 mm was measured at the second molar level in one subject.

Burch and Borchers (1970) designed a device to record the process of change in mandibular arch width as the mandible moved through its various excursions. They used strain gauges, mounted above and below a beryllium-copper spring steel strip, slightly bowed vertically across the mandibular arch and adapted to fit between the right and left first molars. Ten subjects were tested, they showed decrease in mandibular arch width during movement from rest position to a full protracted, a wide open, a right lateral, and a left lateral position. They have reported the mean magnitude of decrease in arch width of 0.610 mm in protraction, 0.438 mm in opening, 0.243 mm in right lateral, and 0.257 mm in left lateral movements.

Bowman (1970) also used strain gauges to evaluate flexure of the mandible between the first molars. The mean medial flexure was 0.29 mm for maximum opening and 0.637 mm for full protrusion. Bowman also observed that adduction continued following an opening movement of 20 mm. Adduction during protrusion began immediately and was proportional to the amount of protrusion. The effects of incisal biting and horizontal retruding force caused the mandible to flex laterally an average of 0.27 and 0.18 mm respectively.

Novak (1972) conducted three separate experiments, the first part was carried out using an intraoral device capable of measuring the distance between the mandibular second molars, second part consisted of making a wax intraoral occlusal record and cast of the lower arch. The third consisted of having intraoral occlusal films taken of a mandible in an open and closed positions. He reported that mandible flexed inward 1 mm in the first molar region when the mandible was in a wide open position. He further concluded that in the region of the angle, this flexion could be greater.

In 1972, Burch designed a device that could record the dynamics of mandibular arch width change. A strip of beryllium copper, 6.5 mm wide and 0.21 mm thick was shaped to form a vertical arch, and two strain gauges were cemented to it above and below the greatest curvature of the arch. The instrument was placed between the jaws of a micrometer caliper and coupled to a polygraph for calibration and testing. The device was then used on 25 dentists and students to record changes in arch width. The apparatus was affixed to mandibular first molars and coupled to a polygraph while the subject was instructed to perform various mandibular movements. Wide opening and protraction from rest position produced 0.224 mm and 0.432 mm decrease in arch width respectively. It was further reported that maximum decrease was not maintained when the fully protracted or open positions were held for 6 to 10 seconds.

Goodkind and Heringlake (1973) attached a metal clutch with a micrometer to the posterior teeth of 20 male and female students. The projecting arm of the clutch afforded extra oral anchorage of the dial micrometer. The gauge's probe was directed against the buccal surface at the height of contour of the second molar tooth in the contralateral mandibular quadrant. The mean premolar region values reported was 0.0316 mm and for the second molar region was 0.0768 mm. They have also noticed a continuous change in the amount of flexure with a brief stabilization at maximum opening. Upon closing the arch width dimension was found to return to its original value as recorded by a zero gauge reading.

De Marco and Paine (1974) designed a gauge which could be placed on the occlusal surfaces of the mandibular first molars. Seven men and 18 women were subjects in this study. The amount of maximum opening was determined by measuring from the base of the nose to a mark placed on the chin. This was measured with the teeth in centric occlusion and at maximum opening. The difference between these two measurements was called the maximum interocclusal distance. All measurements were expressed as percentages. In the 25 patients tested, the average maxillo mandibular opening was found to be 52.5 mm, while the mandible was found to contract an average of $0.78 \pm .05$ mm during maximum opening. A range of 0.6 to 1.5 mm was reported. The results were plotted and it was noted that there was no change in the width of the mandible up to 28 percent opening. Thereafter, the dimensional change that occurred was directly related linearly to the percent of opening.

The effect of fixed prostheses or mandibular arch width in a forced open position was investigated by Fischman (1976). With various combinations of fixed splints in place, changes in the width of the mandibular arch during forced opening were measured. Cast copings with receptacles for the measuring caliper were constructed for the mandibular right first and left second molars. Measurements were made in the most closed and forced open positions. The amount of control flexure was reported to be 0.86 mm (0.0339"). In all instances, mandibular flexure was reported to be reduced when fixed splints were present in the mouth. He also reported that none of the splints tested completely inhibited flexure. From this he concluded that all splints undergo at least some form of stress and in some cases flexure during mandibular opening.

Omar and Wise (1981) measured the mandibular flexure in the horizontal plane, with an "anterior jig" when the retruded axis position (R.A.P.) recordings were made, during chin-point guidance and patient applied muscle forces. The retruded axis position is considered by many authors to be the relationship of the mandible to the maxilla when the condyles are most posteriorly and superiorly located in the glenoid fossal (Boucher, 1974). Many workers agree that the reproductibility of this position renders it a valuable reference position (Kantor, Silvermann and Garfinkel, 1972). Other research workers have shown that the R.A.P. exhibits variability. Variations in the R.A.P. have shown to be time-dependent (Shapagh, Yoder and Thayer, 1975), posture dependent (Helkimo, Ingervall and Carlsson, 1973) and technique dependent (Kantor et al., 1972; Strohaver, 1972; Calagna, Silvermann and Garfinkel, 1973; Federick, Pameijer and Stallard, 1974). In Omar and Wise's studies ten subjects were investigated, mandibular horizontal flexure was observed in all subjects during a patient-applied muscle force R.A.P. registration. In all cases there was an increase in mandibular arch-width. The mean increase was 0.073 ± 0.028 mm. A decrease in mandibular arch width in wide opening movements has occurred in all cases. A mean of 0.093 ± 0.044 mm, with a range of 0.012 mm to 0.164 mm, was reported.

The range of movement, was a mean of 0.166 mm, although on an individual basis, the range was 0.084 mm to 0.234 mm.

The changes of the mandibular arch width and distortion by using light sensing photodiode (L.S.P.) was carried out by Gates and Nicholls (1981). Positional changes of the light on the diode surface were detected and quantitatively measured by relating output voltage to light source. This photo diode-fibreoptic system evaluated mandibular arch width changes in vivo. To compare arch width changes with mandibular opening and protrusion, a linear variable differential transformer (L.V.D.T.) mounted extraorally measured the quantity of the opening or protrusion while the photo diode has measured the mandibular arch width changes. They reported mandibular distortion values for opening which ranged from 0.053 mm to 0.306 mm and protrusion values ranged from 0.113 to 0.51 mm. They have concluded that when distortion was compared to millimeter of opening, the arch width change took place after 20 mm of opening which was in good agreement with Bowman's (1970) results. However, a linear relationship was not observed, after the patient exceeded 28 percent of maximal opening as reported by DeMarco and Paine (1974).

1.2 The Purpose of the Research:

The importance of understanding the human musculoskeletal system, which combines bones, joints and muscles in an intricate supportive and protective structure is of paramount importance in the field of reconstructive surgery and prosthetic replacement where the principal aim is to restore or replace a damaged tissue or organ so that the patient can function effectively.

The accompanying field of applied mechanics relies heavily on a proper understanding of anatomic systems before research methods can be applied and mathematical tools used, to gain insight into their physical nature.

The concern of this thesis is to examine the mandible, which as a biomechanical system, together with the temporomandibular joint, is one of the most complex of all anatomic systems. A fundamental insight into the biomechanics behaviour of this system and the functional aspects, is a necessity if appropriate surgical techniques and prosthetic devices are to be further developed.

In the past the main areas of study into the mandibular distortion have been centred on a simple type of investigation, in which the investigator has recorded the amount of distortion with various methods and equipment in bicuspid and molar areas of the mandible. To date no mathematical model of the mandible has been attempted to solve this or other related problems.

There were various reports on two dimensional and three dimensional modelling of the mandible. These models appear to be very remote from the actual anatomic and biomechanical conditions.

The purpose of this study was to improve the method of three-dimensional modelling and uniting biomechanics and medical science research approach by utilizing the model in an important maxillofacial problem namely "functional distortion of the mandible".

The degree of adduction of the mandible, when it is depressed or protruded, has been measured by a number of researchers (TABLE I).

TABLE I

The average and maximum degree of adduction (mm) of the mandible in first and second molars measured by various investigators during wide open and protrusion.

		OPEN				PROTRUSION			
		1ST MOLAR		2ND MOLAR		1ST MOLAR		2ND M	OLAR
	DATE	AVER.	MAX	AVER.	MAX.	AVER.	MAX.	AVER.	MAX
JUNG V. F.(1)	1952			0.35	0.84			0.70	1.00
DEBRUL & SICHER(2)	1954							0.5	
McDOWELL & REGLI(3)	1961			0.421	1.4			0.535	1.5
OSBORN & TOMLIN(4)	1964			0.07	0.33			0.09	0.46
REGLI & KELLY(5)	1967			0.09	0.18				
BURCH & BORCHERS(6)	1970	0.438				0.61			
BOWMAN A.(7)	1970			0.297	0.59			0.637	1.286
NOVAK C. A.(8)	1972	1.00							
BURCH J. G.(9)	1972	0.224	0.61			0.432	0.75		
GOODKIND& HERIN. (10)	1973	0.076	0.109						
DEMARCO & PAINE(11)	1974	0.78	1.5						
FISCHMAN B. M.(12) *	1976			0.861	1.11				
KOLLNER H. J.(13) **	1978	0.105	0.2						
OMAR & WISE(14)	1981	0.093	0.164						
CATES & NICHOLLS(15)	1981	0.142	0.306			0.29	0.51		

Measured between mandibular right second and left first molars.
 Measured between the first and second molar interfaces.

There is considerable discrepancy between the results obtained by these researchers, but certainly some of the reported distortions are very significant. If these distortions really occur - as reported -, this must be taken into consideration by the dentists, surgeons and dental appliance designers for the following reasons :

- i) The mandible may flex during impression making. A lower prosthesis fabricated from this impression may not seat.
- Modern rehabilitation concepts call for extreme accuracy in impression technique and in making inter-occlusal records. Flexion of the mandible during these critical recording procedures may create serious errors.
- iii) Forced depression or protrusion of the mandible, in the presence of a removable or fixed partial denture, may cause undue stress on the abutment teeth or prosthesis.
- iv) Patients with full lower dentures may also be affected by mandibular distortion, both by the initial fit of the denture resulting from the impression, and by the functional bending of the mandible while wearing the denture.
- v) The effect of the mandibular distortion on the endosteal implant micromovements and osteolysis.

Experimental work and clinical experience in the field of rigid internal fixation in general and in mandibular fractures in particular provide a basis for the development of practical implant prosthetics.

It is apparent from clinical experience and from experiments that, the incorporation of a transplant and induction of bone formation succeed in locations where mechanical motion is absent. The theoretical principle, on which the insertion of an implant to secure the prosthesis is based, is that bone is not an "inert" supporting substance. Injury to bone always elicits the same chain of reactions, regardless of whether due to fracture or mechanical damage caused by the insertion of an implant: rapid proliferation of osteoblasts and osteoclasts in the endosteum and periosteum. The process is based on the principle of inducing osteogenesis. However, the formation of such tissue depends on the type of mechanical strain (Krompecher, 1937; Pauwells, 1965; Basset, 1962; Basset et al., 1961; Schenk, 1975). Bone forms directly only when mechanical movement is absent. By contrast, shearing forces stimulate the formation of cartilaginous tissue, and

tractional forces the formation of all type of (bone, scar, cartiloginous) of connective tissue. Thus, mechanically induced reaction in the bone must be taken into account in the implantation of any prosthetic material.

In 1962 Basset postulated that, under certain conditions, one category of cells, the undifferentiated mesenchymal cells can apparently produce different types of tissue. The possibility of such cell modulation (translation from one functional form to another) is verified most strikingly in the use of endosteal implants.

During various mandibular movements, implants (the screw, needle or blade type) could be subjected to an alternating load oscillating through zero. The results are micromovements between the implant and the bone, which do not lead to osteogenetic but rather to fibroblastic differentiation. The proliferative connective tissue forms an additional barrier against the possible advance of angiogenic (vascular) bone tissue. The micromovements cause an increasing loosening of the implant. This condition and subsequent fibrosis, greatly facilitates infection. Resorptive granulation tissue is formed and destroys the contact zones between the implant and the bone. This process is designated as osteolysis by Ganz et al. (1975).

This osteolysis, which is induced by movement, and the greatly potentiated risk of infection could be the main cause of the failures recorded so far in dental implantology.

The dentists are also regularly confronted with patients who show symptoms of the mandibular dysfunction syndrome (Agerberg and Carlsson, 1972). According to Nordh (1974), the clinical characteristics of this syndrome are as follows:

- i) Spasm of the elevators of the mandible;
- ii) Pain in the head and face;
- iii) Discomfort in the mandibular joints;
- iv) Limitation in the movement of the mandible; and
- v) Disturbances in occlusion and/or articulation.

Effective management of temporomandibular disorders depends on precise identification of the kind of dysfunction present in the complaint, where it is located, and what chiefly is responsible for it.

In patients with orofacial pain and functional disorders electromyography has been used to demonstrate abnormal muscle activity in the elevators of the mandible (Jarabak, 1957; Perry, 1955, 1957; Ramfjord and Ash, 1971; Moller, 1966, 1970). By quantitating the electrical activity they have shown that pain and tenderness of the same muscles are accompanied by increased postural activity and low maximal strength.

If the abnormal muscle activity is a source of pain in functional disorders of the masticatory system, treatment followed by the relief of pain must have involve changes in the action of the muscles of mastication.

Depending on their clinical similarities, temporomandibular disorders may be grouped into five classes proposed by Bell (1982):

- i) Acute muscle disorders;
- ii) Disc-interference disorders of the joint;
- iii) Inflammatory disorders of the joint;
- iv) Chronic mandibular hypomobilities
- v) Growth disorders of the joint.

These functional disturbances of the masticatory system can be, as complicated as the system itself. Although numerous treatments have been advocated, none are effective for every patient every time. Effective treatment selection should begin with a thorough understanding of the disorder and its etiology. An appreciation of the various types of bones, muscles, ligaments and biomechanics of the temperomandibular joint is essential for understanding and effective managements of the symptoms. The anatomy and function of the temperomandibular joint have been well described in detail, in many textbooks. However until recently, very little information could be found about the changes in the joints that occur during normal development or associated with abnormal function or pathological conditions. A realistic three dimensional model of the mandible and temperomandibular joint might help to establish, specific treatment goals before the therapy begins.

Due to the complexity of movements, the biomechanics of the mandible have proved difficult to analyze. Even that estimation of the temperomandibular forces from two-dimensional mathematical models has a long history it has lead to quite conflicting results. The greatest controversy has been over whether the temperomandibular joint is even a load bearing joint or not. With an exception of few 3-Dimensional partial models, most of the mandibular models are two-dimensional, two/four muscle models. The predictions made from such models are incomplete because the forces and movements operate in three dimensions and their projections onto a plane suppress what may be important biomechanical aspects of the system.

A survey of the literature suggests that the possibility of the mandibular distortion, during functional movements, has not been biomechanically investigated or analyzed.

This thesis is, therefore concerned with the three dimensional modelling and finite element analysis of the mandibular distortion.

The main aim of this thesis is to create a nucleus, for the computational biomechanics analysis of maxillofacial problems. The style has been aimed to satisfy both the dental/medical scientists and biomechanical engineers. Most of the fundamental anatomic and biomechanics data, assumed not known to either side, has been included in simplified form hopefully to generate further research, into one of the most challenging anatomic systems of the body.

CHAPTER II

ANATOMY OF THE MANDIBLE.

The masticatory system is the functional unit of the body primarily responsible for chewing, swallowing, and speaking. Components also play a major role in tasting and breathing. The masticatory system is a complex and highly refined unit. It is made up primarily of bones, joints, muscles, ligaments and teeth. Movement is regulated by an intricate neurologic controlling mechanism. Each movement is co-ordinated to maximize function while minimizing the energy used and damage to any structure. Precise movement of the mandible by the musculature is required to move the teeth efficiently across each other during function. A sound understanding of its functional anatomy and biomechanics is essential to the study of occlusion. There is no way of studying function without the knowledge of structure and no understanding of structure without knowledge of function, even at the molecular level. An appreciation of an integration of morphology and physiology of the oral structures is necessary for those who are concerned with the form and functions of the masticatory system.

2.1 The Skull.

The skull is the most complex bony structure in the body because it encloses the brain which is irregular in shape, houses the organs of special senses, and encloses the openings into the digestive and respiratory tracts.

Five views of the exterior of the skull are used in an atomical descriptions; each is spoken of as a norma.

i) Anterior aspect (Norma Frontalis):

The anterior aspect of the skull comprises the anterior part of the calvaria (brain case) superiorly and the skeleton of the face inferiorly. Notable features are: the forehead, the prominences of the cheek (zygomatic bones), the anterior nasal appertures and the paired maxillae (upper jaw) containing maxillary teeth and the mandible (lower jaw) containing the mandibular (lower) teeth. The anterior aspect of the skull may be divided into five areas: frontal, maxillary, nasal, orbital and mandibular (Fig. 1).

In the anatomical position, the skull is oriented so that the inferior margins of the orbits (eye sockets) and the superior margins of the external acoustic meatus (auditory canals) are horizontal. This is called the orbitomeatal plane (Frankfurt plane).



Frontal bon

- Supraorbital margin
- Supraorbital notch Trochlear spine
- Parietal bone
- Temporal bone
- 8 Nasal bone

Orbit

- Lacrimal bone
- 10 Posterior lacrimal crest

Sphenoid bone

- 12 Greater wing of sphenoid bone 13 Lesser wing of sphenoid bone
- Superior orbital fissure
 Inferior orbital fissure
- 16 Zygomatic bone

Maxilla

- 17 Frontal process
- 18 Infraorbital foramen 19 Zygomatic process
- 20 Body of maxilla
- 21 Alveolar process with teeth

Nasal cavity

- 22 Anterior nasal aperture
- 23 Middle nasal concha24 Inferior nasal concha
- 25 Nasal septum, vomer

Mandible

- 26 Body of mandible 27 Ramus of mandible
- 28 Mental foramen
- 29 Alveolar part with teeth30 Base of mandible
- 31 Mental protuberance

Sutures

- 33 Coronal suture
- 34 Frontonasal suture
- 35 Internasal suture
- 36 Nasomaxillary suture
 37 Zygomaticomaxillary suture
- 38 Intermaxillary suture

Figure 1 Photograph of the anterior aspect (norma frontalis) of an adult skull (Rohen and Yokochi, 1983).

The posterior aspect of the skull (Fig. 2), noticeably convex, is mainly formed by the parietal and occipital bones which meet the mastoid parts of the temporal bones laterally. The most prominent feature of the posterior aspect of the skull is the rounded posterior pole, called the occiput.



Figure 2. Drawing of the posterior aspect (norma occipitalis) of an adult skull, (Moore, 1982).

iii) Superior Aspect (norma Verticalis)

The superior aspect or "top of the skull" is rounded or void in many people and is broadened posteriorly by pariental eminences or tubers (Fig. 3).



Figure 3. Photograph of the superior aspect (normal verticalis) of an adult skull, showing the sagittal and coronal sutures of the calvaria, (McMinn and Hutchings, 1977).

iv) Inferior Aspect (Norma Basalis).

The external surface of the base of the skull, with the mandible removed (Fig. 4), shows the inferior surface of the maxillae anteriorly, with the bony palete and maxillary teeth, and the zygomatic arches curving posteriorly on each side. The zygomatic arch is formed by the temporal process of the zygomatic bone and the zygomatic process of the temporal bone (zygoma). Centrally the inferior surface of the skull is irregular owing to the many foramina, processes, and articulations. Laterally the base of the skull exhibits the temporal bones with their prominent mastoid and styloid processes.

The foramen magnum, one of the most conspicuous features of the base of the skull, is bordered anterolaterally by the occipital condyles, which articulate with the atlas or first cervical vertebra.



Figure 4. Drawing of slightly more than half of the external surface of the base (norma basalis) of an adult male skull. Note that the temporal process of the zygomatic bone unites with the zygomatic process of the temporal bone to form the zygaomatic arch (Moore, 1982).

v) Lateral Aspect (Norma Lateralis).

The lateral aspect of the skull (Fig. 5) includes parts of the temporal bone and the temporal and infratemporal fossae. The lateral aspect of the skull indicates clearly the division of the skull into the large ovoid cranial vault (brain case) and the smaller uneven facial skeleton. Obvious features of the lateral aspect of the skull are: the external acoustic meatus, zygomatic bone, zygomatic arch, mastoid process of the temporal bone, and mandible. The mastoid process projects anteroinferiorly, medial to the lobule of the auricle, where it is readily palpable. The size of the mastoid process varies with the age and muscularity of the person. It is not present at birth and it is small during childhood. The mastoid process is part of the insertion of the sternocleidomastoid muscle.

The mental protuberance is an obvious feature in lateral views of the skull in most people. It consists of a triangular prominence of bone with its apex directly superiorly toward the incisive fossa of the mandible.



Figure 5. Photograph of a lateral view (normal lateralis) of an adult skull, naming the bones and various outline features, (Rohen and Yokochi, 1982).

The skull is composed of many bones which are closely fitted together. Except for the mandible and the ossicles of the middle ear, the bones of the adult skull are joined by rigid structures of synchondroses. In effect, the cranium of a mature adult is essentially a single complex bone.

Although the adult skull is rigid, the bones of the cranium of infants and children grow as individual bones and undergo remodelling. Furthermore, relationships among the various bones are constantly changing during infancy and childhood.

2.2 The Mandible

The mandible is the largest and strongest bone of the face. Mandibular teeth project superiorly from their sockets in the alveolar process of the mandible.

The mandible consists of two parts: a horizontal part called the body, and two vertical oblong parts, the rami (Fig. 6). The right and left parts of the body are fused anteriorly at the symphysis menti to form a U shaped bone. The halves of the newborn mandible articulate at the symphysis menti. Fusion of this joint occurs in the second year.



Figure 6: Drawing of the lateral aspect of the right half of an adult mandible, (Moore, 1982).

Each ramus ascends almost vertically from the posterior aspect of the body. The superior part of the ramus has two processes: a posterior condylar process with a head and neck, and a sharp anterior coronoid process. The condylar process is separated from the coronoid process by the mandibular notch, which forms the concave superior border of the mandible. The rami and the body meet posteriorly at the angle of the mandible.

In the anatomical position, the rami of the mandible are almost vertical, except during infancy and in edentulous persons.

Viewed from the superior aspect, the mandible is horse shoe-shaped, whereas each half is L shaped when viewed from the side.

On the internal aspect of the ramus of the mandible, there is a large mandibular foramen (Fig. 7). It is the oblong entrance to the mandibular canal which transmits the inferior alveolar vessels and nerve to the roots of the mandibular teeth. Branches of these vessels and the mental nerve merge from the mandibular canal at the mental foramen.

Anterior to the mandibular foramen there is a thin, tongue-like projection (spur) of bone, called the lingula of the mandible, that somewhat overlaps and guards the superoanterior border of the foramen like a tongue or shield. The sphenomandibular ligament attaches to the lingula.

Running inferiorly and slightly anteriorly on the internal surface of the mandible from the mandibular foramen is a small mylohyoid groove (sulcus), indicating the course taken by the mylohyoid nerve and vessels.

The internal surface of the mandible is divided into two areas by the mylohyoid line, which commences posterior to the third molar tooth.


Figure 7 Photograph and a drawing of the internal aspect of the right half of an adult mandible (Rohen and Yokochi, 1983; Moore, 1982).



Figure 8 Photographs of the different aspects of the mandible (Rohen and Yokochi, 1983).



Figure 9 Photographs of the mandible maxilla and the position of teeth (Rohen and Yokochi 1983).

CHAPTER III

FUNCTIONAL ANATOMY

The mandibular condyle articulates at the base of the cranium with the squamous portion of the temporal bone. This portion of the temporal bone is made up of a concave mandibular fossa, in which the condyle is situated and which has also been called the articular or glenoid fossa (Fig. 10, 11).



Figure 10 A sagittal section through the left temporomandibular joint (Gray's Anatomy, 1982).

Immediately anterior to the fossa is a convex bony prominence called the articular eminence. The degree of convexity of the articular eminence is highly variable but important since the steepness of this surface dictates the pathway of the condyle when the mandible is positioned anteriorly.

3.1 Temporomandibular Joint:

The area where craniomandibular articulation occurs is called the temporomandibular joint (TMJ). The temporomandibular or craniomandibular articulation is the articulation between the mandible and the cranium. It is a highly specialized synovial joint and is distinguished from most other such articulations by the avascular fibrous tissue that covers the bony articulating surfaces. This avascular fibrous tissue may contain a variable number of cartilage cells. This is unlike the usual condition where synovial joint articulating surfaces are covered by hyaline cartilage.

The temporomandibular joint is a diarthrodial joint because an articular disc is interposed between the temporal bone and the mandible, thus dividing the articular space into an upper and lower compartments.

Gliding movements occur in the upper compartment (arthrodial joint), while the lower compartment functions primarily as a synovial joint, (ginglymoid joint). Therefore, the temporomandibular joint is often classified as a hinge joint with a movable socket. (ginglymoarthrodial joint)

The temporomandibular joint is formed by the mandibular condyle fitting into the mandibular fossa of the temporal bone. Separating these two bones from direct articulation is the articular disc. The articular disc is composed of dense fibrous connective tissue devoid of any blood vessels or nerve fibres. In the sagittal plane it can be devided into three regions according to thickness. The central area is the thinnest and is called the intermediate zone. Both anterior and posterior to the intermediate zone the disc becomes considerably thicker. The posterior border is generally slightly thicker than the anterior border. In the normal joint the articular surface of the condyle is located on the intermediate zone of the disc, bordered by the thicker anterior and posterior regions, (Fig. 11).

From an anterior view the disc is generally thicker medially than laterally, which corresponds to the increased space between the condyle and the articular fossa toward the medial of the joint (Fig. 11).



Figure 11 Articular disc, fossa and condyle, anterior view (A), posterior view (B), lateral view (A'), and inferior view (B'). MF mandibular fossa, AE articular eminence, STF, squamotympanic fissure (Okeson, 1985).

The precise shape of the disc is determined by the morphology of the condyle and mandibular fossa. During movement the disc is somewhat flexible and can adapt to the functional demands of the articular surfaces. The disc maintains its morphology unless destructive forces or structural changes occur in the joint. If these changes occur, the morphology of the disc can be irreversibly altered and a pathologic condition ensue.

The articular disc is attached to the capsular ligaments, which divides the joint into two distinct cavities. The upper (superior) cavity is bordered by the mandibular fossa and the superior surface of the disc. The lower (inferior) cavity is bordered by the mandibular condyle and the interior surface of the disc.

The internal surfaces of the cavities are surrounded by specialized endothelial cells that form a synovial lining. This lining, along with a specialized synovial fringe located at the anterior border of the retrodiscal tissues (Fig. 12), produces synovial fluid, which fills both joint cavities.

This synovial fluid serves two purposes. Since the articular surfaces of the joint are nonvascular, the synovial fluid acts as a medium for providing metabolic requirements to these tissues. There is free and rapid exchange between the vessels of the capsule, the synovial fluid, and the articular tissues. The synovial fluid also serves as a lubricant between articular surfaces during function.

Synovial fluid lubricates the articular surfaces by way of two mechanisms. The first is called boundary lubrication, which occurs when the joint is moved and the synovial fluid is forced from one area of the cavity into another. The synovial fluid located in the border regions is forced upon the articular surface, thus providing lubrication. A second lubricating mechanism is called weeping lubrication. This refers to the ability of the articular surfaces to absorb a small amount of synovial fluid. Thus, when articular surfaces are placed under compressive forces this small amount of synovial fluid is released, lubricating the tissues. Weeping lubrication helps eliminate friction in the compressed but not moving joint. Only a small amount of friction is eliminated as a result of weeping lubrication, and prolonged compressive forces to the articular surfaces might exhaust this supply.



Figure 12 Temporomandibular joint (Sagittal view); A, articular surface, B, synovial membrane, C, superior cavity, D, vascular knee, E, superior stratum, F, inferior stratum, G, loose areolar connective tissue, H, posterior capule, I, inferior cavity synovial membrane, J, articular surface of condyle, K, blood vessels, L, superior belly of lateral pterygoid, M, inferior belly of lateral pterygoid muscle. (from Bell, W. D. Clinical management of temporomandibular disorders, Chicago 1982).

27

3.2 Temporomandibular Joint Ligaments:

As in any joint system, ligaments play an important role in protecting the structures. The ligaments of the joint are made up of collagenous connective tissues, which do not stretch. They do not enter actively in joint function but instead act as passive restraining devices to limit and restrict joint movement. There are three functional and two accessory ligaments that support the TMJ:

- i) The collateral (discal) ligaments,
- ii) the capsular ligament,
- iii) the temporomandibular ligament,
- iv) the sphenomandibular ligament, and
- v) the stylomandibular ligament.

3.2.1 The Collateral Ligaments:

The discal or collateral ligaments attach the medial and lateral borders of the articular disc to the poles of the condyle. There are two collateral ligaments. The medial discal ligament attaches the medial edge of the disc to the medial pole of the condyle. The lateral discal ligament attaches the lateral edge of the disc to the lateral pole of the condyle (Fig. 13).



Figure 13 Temporomandibular Joint (anterior view), AD, articular disc, CL, capsular ligament, LDL, lateral discal ligament, MDL, medial discal ligament, SC, superior joint cavity, IC, inferior joint cavity. (from Mahan, P.E., and Kreitziger, K.L: In Alling, C.C., and Mahan, P.E.: Facial pain, 1977).

These ligaments are responsible for dividing the joint mediolaterally into the superior and inferior joint cavities. The discal ligaments are true ligaments, composed of collagenous connective tissue fibres, and therefore do not stretch. They function to restrict movement of the disc away from the condyle. In other words, they cause the disc to move passively with the condyle as it glides anteriorly and posteriorly. The attachments of the discal ligaments permit the disc to be rotated anteriorly and posteriorly on the articular surface of the condyle. These ligaments thus are responsible for hinging type movement of the TMJ, which occurs between the condyle and the articular disc.

The discal ligaments have a vascular supply and are innervated. Their innervation provides information regarding joint position and movements. Strain on these ligaments produces pain.

3.2.2 Capsular Ligament:

The entire TMJ is surrounded and encompassed by the capsular ligament (Fig. 14). The fibres of the capsular ligament are attached superiorly to the temporal bone along the borders of the articular surfaces of the mandibular fossa and articular eminence. Inferiorly the fibres of the capsular ligament attach to the neck of the condyle.



Figure 14 Capsular ligament (lateral view)

The capsular ligament acts to resist any medial, lateral or inferior forces that tend to separate or dislocate the articular surfaces. A significant function of the capsular ligament is to encompass the joint thus retaining the synovial fluid. The capsular ligament is well innervated and provides proprioceptive feed back regarding position and movement of the joint.

3.2.3 Temporomandibular Ligament:

The lateral aspect of the capsular ligament is reinforced by strong tight fibres that make up the lateral ligament or the temperomandibular ligament. The TM ligament B composed of two parts, an outer oblique portion and an inner horizontal portion (Fig. 15).



Figure 15 Photograph and drawings of Temporomandibular joint, a) sagittal section through the temporomandibular joint, b) effect of the mastication muscles on the temporomandibular joint, c) schematic diagram of the ligaments (Rohen and Yokochi, 1983).

The outer portion extends from the outer surface of the articular tubercle and zygomatic process poster oinferiorly to the outer surface of the condylar neck. The inner horizontal portion extends from the outer surface of the articular tubercle and zygomatic process posteriorly and horizontally to the lateral pole of the condyle and posterior part of the articular disc.

3.2.4. Sphenomandibular Ligament:

The spenomandibular ligament is one of two accessory ligaments of the TMJ (Fig. 16). It inserts on the mandible at the mandibular lingula, which is located along the anterior and superior border of the mandibular foramen. It also inserts along the lower border of the groove of the mandibular neck. In most individuals, the sphenomandibular ligament is a thin layer of connective tissue with indistinct anterior and posterior borders. It does not have any significant limiting effects on mandibular movement. It has been suggested by Moss (1959) that this ligament protects the neural and vascular structures passing through the mandibular foramen from tensile stress during mouth opening. This hypothesis assumes that the axis of mandibular rotation is always located within the region of the mandibular foramen.



Figure 16 The mandible, TMJ and the accessory ligaments (medial aspect) (Gray's Anatomy, 1982).

3.2.5. The Stylomandibular Ligament:

The stylomandibular ligament is a reinforced part of a fascial lamella that extends from the styloid process and stylohyoid ligament to the region of the mandibular angle. Part of its fibres are attached to the mandible itself, but the majority continue into the fascia on the medial surface of the medial pterygoid muscle. The upper border of the stylomandibular ligament is often thickened considerably. The ligament is loose when the jaw is closed and is tense when the mandible is protruded. This ligament might function in limiting excessive protrusive movements. The stylomandibular ligament is in its most relaxed state during maximal opening.

3.3 The Musculature of the Masticatory Mechanism:

The muscles involved in jaw movements include the muscles of mastication and also other muscles namely suprahyoid and infrahyoid groups:

- Muscles of mastication: Masseter; Temporalis; Medial pterygoid; Lateral pterygoid.
- ii) Suprahyoid Muscles:
 Digastric;
 Stylohyoid;
 Mylohyoid;
 Geniohyoid.
- iii) Infrahyoid Muscles:
 Sternohyoid;
 Thyrohyoid;
 Sternothyroid;
 Omohyoid.

3.3.1 Muscles of Mastication:

The masticatory muscles, especially the elevators, act in directions specifically designed to transmit the majority of the masticatory force in a direction at right angles to the dental arches. The muscles also tend to stabilize the occlusion in contact so that no rocking or tipping occurs. This specific force direction and stabilization is the result of the combined action of the temporalis, masseter, medial and lateral pterygoid muscles.

The muscles of mastication, in conjunction with the tongue, facial, palatal, infra and suprahyoid muscles, work as a group. Nevertheless, knowledge of the theoretical action of the individual mandibular muscles is necessary in analyzing their co-ordinate function during movements of the mandible.

3.3.1.1 Masseter Muscle:

The masseter is a quadrilateral muscle, consisting of three superimposed layers which blend with one another in the anterior region. The superficial layer is the largest and arises as a thick aponeurosis from the zygomatic process of the maxilla, and from the anterior two thirds of the lower border of the zygomatic arch (Fig. 17, 18). Its fibres pass downwards and backwards to insert into the ramus and angle of the mandible. The middle layer arises from the deep surface of the anterior two-thirds of the zygomatic arch and from the lower border of the posterior third and is inserted into the middle of the ramus of the mandible. (Fig.29, 30)

The deep layer arises from the deep surface of the zygomatic arch and inserts into the upper of the ramus of the mandible and to the coronoid process. The fibres of the deep layer run vertically downwards and slightly forwards. Immediately in front of the TMJ, the deep portion is not covered by the superficial portion and can be seen as a triangular muscle field, the fibres of which run almost exactly downward at an angle of about 30 to 40 degrees to the fibres of the superficial muscle splat. The deep part of the masseter muscle is inseparably fused with the most superficial fibres of the temporalis muscle.

The oxygen consumption of the masseter muscle greatly exceeds that of the limb muscles, indicating some difference in their energetic functional process (Kawamura and Takata 1961). The number of muscle fibres per motor unit in the masseter is high which indicates that the masseter muscle is a powerful muscle. Sicher (1960), states that "muscle composed of fibres arranged at an angle to the axis of the muscle will consist of relatively more and shorter fibres and will therefore, by primarily muscles of great power". He says that the masseter muscle has this specific structure.

The action of the muscle is that of a powerful elevator which exerts pressure at a right angle to the molar region of the dental arch. The deep portion of the muscle has a retracting component in its action. Therefore the muscle acts in elevating and to a small degree retruding the mandible. The fibres of the deep portion that originate immediately in front of the articular eminence is thought to stabilize the condyle against the articular eminence during biting (Hylander, 1975).



Figure 17 Mandible, TMJ, and muscles of mastication.



Figure 18 Masseter muscle (A). SP, superficial portion, DP, deep portion. Function of the masseter muscle during elevation of the mandible (B).

3.3.1.2 The Temporalis:

The temporalis is a large fan-shaped muscle that originates from the temporal fossa and the lateral surface of the skull. Its fibres come together as they extend downward between the zygomatic arch and the lateral surface of the skull to form a tendon that inserts on the coronoid process and anterior border of the ascending ramus (Fig.29, 30). It can be divided into three distinct areas according to fibre direction and alternate function. The anterior portion consists of fibres that are directed almost vertically. The middle portion contains fibres that run obliquely across the lateral aspect of the skull. The posterior portion consists of fibres that are aligned almost horizontally, coming forward above the ear to join other temporalis fibres as they pass under the zygomatic arch (Fig. 19).

When the entire temporalis contracts, it elevates the mandible, and the teeth are brought into contact. If only portions contract, the mandible is moved according to the direction of those fibres that are activated. When the anterior portion contracts, the mandible is raised vertically. Contraction of the middle portion will elevate and retrude the mandible. Function of the posterior portion is somewhat controversial. Some authors suggest that contraction of this portion will retrude the mandible; others suggest that contraction of the posterior portion will cause elevation and only slight retrusion.

It really appears that the most posterior fibres should have a large mandible-retracting component because of their oblique direction downward and forward; however, these fibres are bent around the root of the zygomatic process and thus are oriented essentially in a vertical manner (Sicher and Du Brul,1975). Therefore, this portion of the temporalis muscle exerts a vertical force on the mandible. Since its fibres pass close to the articular eminence, it probably functions both as a stabilizer of the TMJ and an elevator of the mandible.



Figure 19 Temporalis muscle (A), AP, anterior portion, MP, middle portion, PP, posterior portion. Function of the temporalis muscle during elevation of the mandible(B).

3.3.1.3 The Medial (Internal) Pterygoid:

The medial pterygoid muscle, which is situated on the medial side of the mandibular ramus, is a counterpart of the masseter muscle, both anatomically and functionally. Although it is a powerful rectangular muscle, it is weaker than the masseter. Its main origin is in the pterygoid fossa. The innermost fibres arise by strong tendons, while others arise directly from the medial surface of the lateral pterygoid palate. The tendon covers the medial surface of the muscle at its origin and is as wide as the tensor veli palatini muscle with which it is in contact. The more anterior fibres arise from the outer and inferior surface of the pyramidal process of the palatine bone and from the adjacent parts of the maxillary tuberosity. These fibres are positioned lateral to the lateral pterygoid muscle. The remaining and largest portion of this muscle is positioned medial to the lateral pterygoid muscle.

The fibres of the medial pterygoid muscle run downward, backward and outward and are inserted along the medial surface of the mandibular angle. The field of insertion is approximately triangular and is located between the mandibular angle and the mylohyoid groove (Fig.20, 30, 31). The fibres of the medial pterygoid muscle often meet fibres of the masseter in tendinous raphe behind and below the mandibular angle. This muscular arrangement is ofter termed the pterygomasseteric sling.

The internal structure of the medial pterygoid muscle is a complicated alternation of fleshy and tendinous parts. The muscle fibres themselves, arising from one tendon and ending on another, are arranged at an angle to the general orientation of the muscle. This arrangement gives the muscle fibres a braided appearance and tends to increase the power of the muscle. The fibre orientation of the medial pterygoid muscle is similar to the superficial portion of the masseter muscle and therefore it is primarily an elevator of the mandible.





3.3.1.4 The Lateral (External) Pterygoid Muscle:

The lateral pterygoid muscle arises from two heads. The larger inferior head originates from the outer surface of the lateral pterygoid plate, and the smaller superior head originates from the infra temporal surface of the greater sphenoid wing medial to the infra temporal crest. The fibres of the upper head run almost horizontally backward and outward in close relation to the cranial base. The fibres of the lower head converge upward and outward and ascend in a progressively steep manner. The two heads, separated at their origins by a wide gap, supposedly fuse in front of the TMJ. (Sicher 1960) The uppermost and deepest fibres, which constitute the upper head, are attached to the articular capsule and thus to the anterior border of the articular disc. According to Sicher (1960), the majority of the fibres of the superior head and all of the fibres of the inferior head insert along a roughened fossa on the anterior surface of the mandibular neck. Honee (1972), however stated that the two heads do not fuse in front of the TMJ and that the superior head is only attached to the capsule and disc. Therefore it can be identified as two distinct and different muscles.

The lateral pterygoid muscle is thought to have three heads of insertion (Hawthorn 1969), while most of the anatomical evidence indicates that the lateral pterygoid muscle is made up of two functionally distinct parts, (McNamara 1973 and Lipke et al. 1977).

The inferior lateral pterygoid originates at the outer surface of the lateral pterygoid plate and extends backward, upward, and outward to its insertion primarily on the neck of the condyle (Fig. 21). When the right and left inferior lateral pterygoids contract simultaneously, the condyles are pulled down the articular eminences and the mandible is protruded. Unilateral contraction creates a mediotrusive movement of that condyle and causes a lateral movement of the mandible to the opposite side. When this muscle functions with the mandibular depressors, the mandible is lowered and the condyles glide forward and downward on the articular eminences.

The superior lateral pterygoid is considerably smaller than the inferior and originates at the infratemporal surface of the greater sphenoid wing, extending almost horizontally, backward, and outward to insert primarily on the articular capsule and disc and to a slight extent on the neck of the condyle. Whereas the inferior lateral pterygoid is active during opening, the superior remains inactive, becoming active only in conjunction with the elevator muscles. The superior lateral pterygoid is especially active during the power stroke and when the teeth are held together. The power stroke refers to movements that involve closure of the mandible against resistance, such as in chewing.

The pull of both lateral pterygoids on the disc and condyle is in a significantly medial direction. As the condyle moves more forward, the medial angulation of the pull of these muscles becomes even greater. In the wide open mouth position the direction of the muscle pull is almost entirely medial.



Figure 21 Lateral pterygoid muscle, A) inferior head, B) medial head, C) superficial slip of superior head, D) deep slip of superior head, E) ramus of mandible (redrawn from Hawthorne, 1969).

3.3.2 The Suprahyoid Muscles:

This muscle group is arranged between the skull, the mandible and the hyoid bone and functions either to elevate the hyoid bone and with it the larynx or to depress the mandible. Whether one or other movement is affected depends on the state of contraction of other associated muscles. If the mandible is fixed in position by the action of masseter, temporalis and medial pterygoid muscles in the tooth contact of swallowing, the suprahyoid group will elevate the hyoid bone and larynx, and facilitate swallowing. If on the other hand the infrahyoid muscles are contracted the hyoid bone is immobilized and the suprahyoid muscles that extend to the mandible will assist in depression and retraction of the lower jaw. The suprahyoid muscles are the digastric, the geniohyoid, the mylohyoid, and the stylohyoid (Fig. 22).



Figure 22 Muscles of the front of the neck (Gray's Anatomy, 1982).

3.3.2.1. The Digastric Muscle:

The digastric muscle consists of two fleshy parts, a posterior and an anterior belly, which are connected by a strong round tendon (Fig. 17, 23).



Figure 23 The digastric muscle (Moore , 1982).

The posterior belly arises from the mastoid notch medial to the mastoid process. The intermediate tendon is fixed by a fascial pulley to the hyoid bone, and the anterior belly finds its attachment in the digastric fossa of the mandible at its lower border close to the midline. The two bellies of the muscle form an obtuse angle that is maintained by the pulley of fascia, which fixes the tendon in its relation to the hyoid bone, but allows the tendon to slide in the fascial sling.

The posterior belly is much longer than the anterior belly, almost circular in cross section, and only slightly flattened in latero medial direction. Gradually tapering anteriorly, the posterior belly continues into the round intermediate tendon.

The anterior belly, arising from the intermediate tendon, is much shorter than the posterior belly. It consists, in most individuals, of a thicker lateral and a thinner medial part. Its insertion into the digastric fossa of the mandible is partly fleshy and partly tendinous. The transverse diameter of the anterior belly varies considerably. If this part of the muscle is broad, right and left muscles touch or almost touch each other at their insertion. If the anterior belly of the digastric muscle is narrow, there is a distance between right and left muscles, and the submental region is not triangular but irregularly quadrilateral.

The intermediate tendon is not directly attached to the hyoid bone but is fastened to it by strengthened fibres of the cervical fascia, which form a loop around the tendon. The tendon, therefore, can slide in this loop. The fibres of this pulley are attached to the greater horn and the lateral part of the body of the hyoid bone (Fig. 24)



Figure 24 Drawing of the hyoid bone showing its parts and the sites of attachments of muscles (Moore, 1982).

The length of the fascial loop varies considerably; thus, the distance of the tendon from the hyoid bone and the angle between the posterior and anterior bellies of the digastric muscle also varies. The longer the loop the greater, therefore, the distance between hyoid bone and tendon, the more obtuse is the angle between the two bellies of the muscle.

It is usually stated that if the hyoid bone is fixed by the action of the stylohyoid and infrahyoid muscles, activity of the digastric muscle then pulls the mandible back and down. Thus, the digastric muscle is thought to function during retrusive and opening movements of the mandible. During opening, the digastric forms a force couple with the lower head of the lateral pterygoid muscle.

Moyers (1950) in his EMG studies found that the digastric muscles always act together and that they are secondary to the lateral pterygoids in mandibular depression, and coming into play especially in maximal depression.

Crompton et al.(1975) in his studies of hyoid movements during opening and closing of the jaws suggested that the hyoid bone is never completely fixed during these movements. Nevertheless, the digastric muscles appear to function as stated. The posterior belly is found to be active in swallowing and chewing actions.

3.3.2.2. The Geniohyoid Muscle:

The geniohyoid muscle (Fig. 25) arises above the anterior end of the mylohyoid line from the inner surface of the mandible, close to the midline and lateral to the mental spines, by a short and strong tendon. The muscle, in contact with that of the other side, proceeds straight posteriorly and slightly downward and is attached to the upper half of the hyoid body. Posteriorly the muscle gradually widens and assumes, in cross section, a triangular shape.

The geniohyoid muscle pulls the hyoid bone upward and forward, thus acting as a partial antagonist to stylohyoid, or it exerts a downward and backward pull on the mandible, depending on the fixation by other muscles, of either mandible or hyoid bone.



Figure 25 Geniohyoid and mylohyoid muscles in a drawing of a dissection of the muscles of the floor of the mouth (Moore, 1982).

3.3.2.3. The Mylohyoid Muscle:

The mylohyoid muscle form, anatomically and functionally, the floor of the oral cavity. The right and left muscles are united in the midline between mandible and hyoid bone by a tendinous strip, the mylohyoid raphe (Fig. 26).

The muscle arises from the mylohyoid line on the finer surface of the mandible. Its most posterior fibres take their origin from the region of the alveolus of the lower third molar. The origin of the anterior fibres deviates more toward the lower border of the mandible. The posterior fibres of the coarsely bundled muscle run steeply downward, medially, and slightly forward, and are attached to the body of the hyoid bone; the majority of the fibres, however, join those of the contralateral muscle in the mylohyoid raphe. The muscle plate is considerably thicker in its posterior part.

Only the posterior bundles of the mylohyoid muscle, running almost vertically from the mandible to the hyoid bone, is believed to have a slight, almost negligible, influence on these bones; if the hyoid bone is held in place, they help in depressing the mandible. The anterior larger but thinner part of the mylohyoid muscle has no action on the lower jaw or the hyoid bone.

In contracting, the downward convex plate of this portion, consisting of the right and left fibres joined in the median raphe, flattens its curvature, and thus the floor of the oral cavity is elevated and with it the tongue that rest on it. The mylohyoid muscle is, therefore, tought to be primarily an elevator of the tongue.



3.3.2.4 Stylohyoid Muscle:

The stylohyoid muscle arises from the lateral and inferior surface of the styloid process (Fig. 27). It is a thin round muscle that converges with the posterior belly of the digastric muscle anteriorly and inferiorly. It lies first superior and medial to the digastric muscle and then close to its upper border. Where the stylohyoid muscle reaches the intermediate tendon of the digastric muscle, it splits in most individuals into two slips that enclose the tendon of the digastric muscle and insert onto the greater horn of the hyoid bone where it joins the body.

The function of the stylohoid muscle is the elevation and retraction of the hyoid bone. This elongates the floor of the mouth. With the other supra and infra-hyoid muscles it can fix the hyoid bone as a basis for the action of tongue muscles attached to the bone. Its precise role in masticatory and vocal movements have not been satisfactorily analysed.



Figure 27 Stylohyoid muscle (lateral view).

3.3.3 Infrahyoid Muscles:

The infrahyoid muscles extend between the hyoid bone above the sternum, clavicle, and scapula below. The two superficial muscles, sternohyoid and omohyoid, directly connect the shoulder girdle and the sternum with the hyoid bone; the deep layer connects the sternum to the thyroid cartilage, and the omohyoid connects the scapula to the hyoid bone. Thus, the deep layer is divided into two muscles, the sternothyroid and the thyrohyoid (Fig. 28).

The function of the infrahyoid muscles is twofold; they may either depress the hyoid bone (Crompton et al. 1975) and, with it, the larynx, or together with the stylohyoid, fix the hyoid bone in its position, anchoring it to the trunk. The hyoid bone then is made the fixed point from which the suprahyoids, with the exception of the stylohyoid muscle, can act on the mandible. Although the larynx generally moves with the hyoid bone, the attachment of the deep layer of the infrahyoids to the thyroid cartilage allows for some independent movement of the larynx and hyoid bone.



Figure 28 Infrahyoid muscles and the muscles of the neck (lateral aspect) (Gray's Anatomy, 1982).



The skull, from the right. Muscle attachments 1 Occipital part of occipitofrontalis 2 Sternocleidomastoid

- 3 Temporalis
- 4 Masseter
- 5 Zygomaticus major
 6 Zygomaticus minor
 7 Orbicularis oculi
- 8 Procerus
- 9 Levator labii superioris alaeque nasi
- 10 Levator labii superioris
- 11 Nasalis
- 12 Levator anguli oris
- 13 Buccinator
- 14 Depressor labii inferioris15 Depressor anguli oris
- 16 Platysma

Figure 29

Insertion of the muscles (McMinn and Hutchings, 1977).



The mandible, A from the front, B from behind and above, C from the left and front. Muscle attachments (Capsule attachment, interrupted line; the

dotted line indicates the limit of attachment of the oral mucous membrane)

- 1 Temporalis
- 2 Masseter
- 3 Lateral pterygoid
- 4 Buccinator
- 5 Depressor labii inferioris
- 6 Depressor anguli oris
- 7 Platysma
- 8 Mentalis
- 9 Medial pterygoid
- 10 Pterygomandibular raphe and superior constrictor
- 11 Mylohyoid
- 12 Anterior belly of digastric
- 13 Geniohyoid
- 14 Genioglossus
- 15 Sphenomandibular ligament
- 16 Stylomandibular ligament

• The buccinator is attached to the alveolar processes of the maxilla and mandible opposite the three molar teeth. (Note that in this mandible the third molar has not yet erupted).



24 22 21	10 14)3 10 16 16 18 19 19

Inferior surface of the base of the skull. Muscle attachments

- (Capsule attachment, interrupted line)
- Masseter
 Upper head of lateral pterygoid
- 3 Deep head of medial pterygoid
- 4 Superior constrictor
- 5 Tensor veli palatini
- 6 Palatopharyngeus and musculus uvulae
- 7 Levator veli palatini
- 8 Pharyngeal raphe9 Longus capitis
- 10 Rectus capitis anterior
- 11 Rectus capitis lateralis
- 12 Styloglossus 13 Stylohyoid
- 14 Stylopharyngeus
- 15 Posterior belly of digastric16 Longissimus capitis

- Splenius capitis
 Sternocleidomastoid
- 19 Occipital part of occipitofrontalis
- 20 Trapezius
- 21 Semispinalis capitis
- 22 Superior oblique
- 23 Recrus capitis posterior minor24 Recrus capitis posterior major

Figure 31 Insertions from the inferior aspect (McMinn and Hutchings, 1977).

CHAPTER IV

FUNCTIONAL ASPECTS OF THE MANDIBLE

The study of mandibular function is not limited only to the muscles of mastication. Other major muscles, such as the sternocleidomastoid and the posterior neck muscles, play major roles in stabilizing the skull and enabling controlled movements of the mandible to be performed. There exists a finely tuned dynamic balance of all the head and neck muscles, and this must be appreciated for an understanding of the physiology of mandibular movement to occur.

Movements of the mandible may occur as opening (depressive), closing (elevation), forward (protrusive), backwards (retrusive) or side to side (lateral) movements either alone or in combination with each other. Some very extensive studies have been carried out on human subjects in an attempt to define the movements of the mandible during chewing and to determine the role of the individual muscles in the execution of those movements. These experiments present enormous technical problems if the apparatus used to gather the information is not to interfere too much with the normal working of the system. To obtain a complete record of movements of the mandible during mastication, it would be necessary to monitor changes in its position in three planes with respect to the remainder of the skull.

The range of movements of the mandibular condyle were described in classical papers at the turn of the century by Ulrich (1896) and Bennett (1908). Ulrich observed the movement of a ball overlying the condyle which was attached by a wire to the lower teeth. Bennett used a light in a similar way, with a second one fixed to some other part of the mandible. These lights were projected with a lens onto a wall, where their movements were plotted on a piece of paper. With this method, movements of the whole mandible could be plotted and its instantaneous axis of rotation determined. These very simple experiments together showed that there was no fixed axis of rotation for the mandible and that normal movements always involved both a simultaneous hinge and a sliding movement of the condyle. Even the small movement from rest to occlusion always involved a small posterior movement as well as a rotation of the condyle. With maximum opening the condyles move forward beyond the lowest part of the articular eminence, and further than they move during maximum protrusion, with the teeth in contact. When the mandible is moved to one side, the condyle on that side moves laterally (Bennett movement) and backward, and if the lateral movement of the jaw is accompanied by opening, then the condyle on that side moves downward too. It was also shown that a posterior movement of the condyles from centric occlusion can be produced. These observations nearly 90 years later still form the basis of present knowledge on the potential movements of the temporomandibular joint.

Similar experiments using tracing devices fixed at one end to the mandible and the other to a tracing plate was carried out by Campion (1905), Gysi (1921), Posselt (1952), Shanahan and Leff (1966).

Lindblom (1960) pointed out that it is nearly impossible with these methods to avoid a certain degree of pressure being applied to the jaws during registration of movement.

Thouren (1914) used a film camera with 16 exposures per second and thus obtained a moving picture of mandibular movements on a moving plate through a narrow slot using small indicators attached to the outside of the lower central incisors.

Cineradiography both direct and indirect has also been applied to the study of mandibular movements by Hildebrand (1931), Jankelson (1953) and Kydd (1958).

Several authors have used the cephalostat which restricts the subject's head movements and maxilla remains in a constant position with respect to the camera (Broadbent 1931), or modifications of it when taking radiographs of the temporamandibular joints and jaws and deducing mandibular movements therefrom [Bjork (1947); Posselt (1952); Nevarkari (1956); Brown (1965)].

To understand the functional movements of the mandible, detailed specific informations on the muscle activities has to be obtained. The simplest way of obtaining evidence of muscle activity in man is to attach electrodes to the skin and record the small electrical potentials set up by action currents flowing in the underlying muscles. Although this method of recording electromyograms from skin has the advantage that it is simple, it suffers some very serious limitations. The most obvious is that it cannot be used to record activity from muscles such as lateral pterygoid which are not immediately beneath the skin; the further the muscle fibres are from the electrodes, the smaller the recorded potentials tend to be. Its major limitation stems from the fact that the record obtained cannot always be attributed with certainty to one particular muscle. This is a very serious limitation when one attempts to record from the anterior belly of digastric. Two electrodes placed over this muscle, just medial to the lower border of the mandible, will pick up activity from mylohyoid, geniohyoid, genioglossus, mentalis, platysma and possibly even medial pterygoid, masseter and others too, as well as from the digastric. Thus a record made during chewing or opening with electrodes on the skin under the chin cannot be attributed solely to the digastric, without further evidence.

Another problem which arises when attempts are made to measure EMG is the extent to which it is possible to make quantitative comparisons between records from different individuals, or even between records from the same individual taken on different occasions. Because the voltages recorded depend upon the position and separation of electrodes, resistance of skin, thickness of subcutaneous fat, electrode and amplifier noise, stray pick-up from other sources as well as the activity of muscle fibres, they are subject to very large errors and therefore quantitative comparisons between measurements obtained under different conditions can be almost meaningless.

Some of these limitations can be overcome by using micro-electrodes in the form of needles (Basmajian and Stecko, 1962) or coiled wires (Bowman and Erickson, 1985) inserted into a muscle to pick up the all-or-none action potentials of individual muscle-fibres. Usually several muscle-fibres are innervated by one motor nerve - a motor unit- so that the all-or-none event which is recorded is the compound action potential from several fibres. Suitable electrodes can be made by cementing two thin insulated wires into a gauge 25 hypodermic or mandibular block needle and cutting off the wires flush with the

55

bevel at the needle tip (Moyers, 1950; Milner-Brown et al., 1973; Hannam and Wood, 1981; Vitti and Basmajian, 1977). This type of electrode can be sterilized and inserted through the skin or mucous membrane into a muscle with little discomfort. A motor-unit is selected by moving the needle tip small distances within the muscle and once a suitable recording site has been found it is usually possible to hold the unit and record from it for some time, even while the muscle is shortening during a movement, although extensive movements could shift the needle tip and the unit would be lost. Recordings have to be made from a series of different units in turn to build up a picture of the properties of the whole population in the muscle.

The movement which the individual muscles are capable of producing can be deduced from examination of the cadaver, and these are described in textbooks of anatomy and several reviews (Carlsoo, 1952; Lindblom, 1960; Moller, 1966). However, it does not follow that each muscle is active in normal function during every movement to which it is capable of making a contribution.

Several studies have been done on the movements of the anterior region of the mandible during the masticatory cycle and all show that the pattern varies considerably between individuals, although any one individual usually has a characteristic pattern (Ahlgren, 1966; Hildebrand, 1931).

A much more detailed analysis of the masticatory movements would be possible in experimental animals and several different patterns of activity have been described on the basis of observations with cinefluorographic techniques (Crompton and Hotton, 1967; Hiiemae, 1966).

Gillings (1967) devised the photoelectric cell mandibulography for recording jaw movements in three dimensions.

Knap et al. (1970) studied jaw movement by placing a sensing device which consisted of six potentiometers arranged in precision linkage that provided electric signals for computer analysis, to the upper and lower jaws by cast clutches.
Araiche et al. (1966) and Goodson and Johansen (1975) used a mandibulograph which was capable of measuring the position of one point on the mandible in three dimensions, and was operated by electrical transducer measurement of the displacement of a rod connected through a flexible coupling to the lower incisor area. This six transducer mandibulograph produced quite useful data for characterization of the 3-D mandibular movement.

Karlsson (1977) and Hedegard (1979) recorded the mandibular movements by intraorally placed light emitting diodes.

The incidence of tooth contacts during mastication has been investigated very extensively and the most accurate information has been obtained by using micro radio transmitters incorporated into bridge pontics, which interfere minimally with normal movements (Glickman, 1968; Kavanagh, 1965).

Inhibition of the mandibular elevator muscles after maximum tooth contact in man either in the open-close, clench cycle (Griffin 1969, 1971) or during mastication (Ahlgren 1966, 1969, 1970) has also been reported.

Hannam et al. (1980) have measured jaw movements in three planes and recorded the associated electromyographic activity of six muscles during functional chewing movements. His technique consists of recording displacement by means of a transducer which senses the field strength of a small magnet cemented to the labial surface of the lower incisor teeth, the muscle activity was recorded by means of surface electrodes placed over the temporal and masseter muscles and using a computer to analyze all the data recorded.

Solomon and Waysenson (1979), have combined the advantage of the motion picture photography technique with the speed and accuracy of the electronic transducers without interfering with the patient's jaw during experiments by measuring the mandibular movements with a computer assisted radionuclide tracking technique. Nevertheless, despite the sophistication of these recording techniques, the movements of the mandible represent the integrated result of the activity of the muscles of mastication and ligaments. The movement is regulated by an intricate neuromuscular system. From these observations, and studies on the neural mechanisms controlling jaw movements, it has been possible to obtain a better understanding of the mechanisms which regulate the function of the mandible in man.

4.1 Movements of the Temporomandibular Joint.

Sicher (1960) states that, "Mechanically speaking, the upper articulation is a sliding joint, that is, the disc and the condyle slide down and forward along the posterior slope and the flattening summit of the articular tubercle. The translatory movement may be executed symmetrically (forward thrust) or unilaterally (lateral swing). The two lower compartments together represent a hinge joint. The two discs are the socket of the "hinge" in which the mandible rotates." Sicher also adds that under normal conditions translation of the upper joint and rotation of the lower joints are always combined.

The Bennett movement is another movement occurring in the temporomandibular joint. It is generally regarded as a translatory movement occurring along the line of the hinge axis and not being of more than 2-3 mm, in extent. This movement only takes place on the working side of the articulation during lateral excursions. It would seem that the Bennett shift plays a part in locating the posterior area of the working side arch in a more lateral relationship to the maxillary arch thus facilitating a more uniformly cusp to cusp working occlusion. The movement takes place mainly in the upper joint compartment with both condyle and the meniscus shifting sideways.

Posselt (1952) placed emphasis on the limitations of joint movements by the capsule and its ligaments. He refers to the work of Langer (1865) and Meyer (1875) who state that the temporomandibular ligaments determine the course of the posterior opening movement in post-mortem operations, and also determine the path of this movement in the

living individual.

Hjortsjo (1953) described opening movements of the jaws partially as rotation of the condyle around an axis in the vicinity of its own centre and partially as rotation of the temporomandibular meniscus around the articular eminence - these rotations have been referred to as capitulum and tuberculum rotations respectively. According to Hjortsjo (1953) the opening movement of the jaws starts with a rotation of the condylar heads and continues as a combination of capitulum and tuberculum rotation. At the termination of the opening movement tuberculum rotation predominates.

With regard to the actual relationships between the disc and articulating bones during movement, Rees (1954), has written an excellent paper. He discusses not only the anatomic shape of the meniscus but also relates this shape to function and postulates the movements between the condyle and the meniscus and also between the temporal bone.

He also states that "the temporo mandibular ligament is fairly taut in all positions of the joint and no doubt serves to keep condyle, disc and temporal bone firmly opposed. Limitation of forward movement, however, seems to result from the restraint offered by the posterior fibres of this ligament and of backward movement by the anterior fibres, while limitation of lateral movement results from the tension of the ipsilateral and of medial movements by the contralateral ligament".

The alternating movements of the mandible from side to side has been investigated by Sarnat (1951, 1980). Alternative methods of describing mandibular movements have also been proposed by Kraus et al. (1969).

It is important to note that both temporomandibular joints are necessarily involved in every jaw movement, forming together a bicondylar arrangement. Consult Hylander (1975) for further literature background and discussions.

4.1.1. Temporomandibular Articulation:

The temporomandibular joint is a compound joint. Its structure and function can be divided into two distinct systems:

- a) One joint system is the tissues that surround the inferior synovial cavity. Since the disc is tightly bound to the condyle by the lateral and medial discal ligaments, the only physiologic movement that can occur between these surfaces is rotation of the disc on the articular surface of the condyle. Therefore the condyle-disc complex is the joint system responsible for rotational movement in the temporomandibular joint.
- b) The second system is the condyle-disc complex, which functions against the surface of the mandibular fossa. Since the disc is not tightly attached to the articular fossa, free sliding movement can occur between these surfaces in the superior cavity. This movement occurs as a result of the mandible being positioned forward (translation). Translation therefore occurs in this superior joint cavity between the superior surface of the articular disc and condyle and acts as a nonorssified bone contributing to both joint systems, and hence the function of the disc justifies classifying the TMJ as a true compound joint.

The articular disc has been commonly referred to as a meniscus. However, it is not a meniscus at all. By definition, a meniscus is a wedge-shaped crescent of fibrocartilage attached on one side to the articular capsule and unattached on the other side, extending freely into the joint spaces.

A meniscus does not divide a joint cavity, isolating the synovial fluid, nor does it serve as a determinant of joint movement. Instead, it functions passively to facilitate movement between the bony parts. Typical menisci are found in the knee joint. In the TMJ the disc functions as a true articular surface in both joint systems and therefore more accurately is termed an articular disc.

The articular surfaces of the joint have no structural attachment or union, yet contact must be constantly maintained for joint stability. Stability of the joint is

maintained by constant activity of the muscles that pull across the joint, primarily the elevators. Even in the resting state, these muscles are in a mild state of contraction called tonus. As muscle activity increases, the condyle is more greatly forced against the disc and the disc against the fossa, resulting in an increase in the interarticular pressure of these joint structures. It is possible that in the absence of interarticular pressure, the articular surfaces could separate and the joint might technically dislocate.

The width of the articular disc space varies with interarticular pressure. As the interarticular pressure increases, the condyle seats itself on the thinner intermediate zone of the disc. When the pressure is decreased and the disc space is widened, a thicker portion of the disc is rotated to fill the space. Since the anterior and posterior bands of the disc are wider than the intermediate zone, technically the disc could be rotated either anteriorly or posteriorly to accomplish this task. The direction of the disc rotation is determined by the structures attached to the anterior and posterior borders of the disc.

Attached to the posterior border of the articular disc are the retrodiscal tissues. The superior retrodiscal lamina is composed of elastic connective tissue. Therefore the effect of the superior retrodiscal lamina is to retract the disc posteriorly on the condyle. When the teeth are together and the condyle is in the closed joint position, the elastic traction on the disc is minimal. However, during mandibular opening, when the condyle is pulled forward down the articular eminence, the superior retrodiscal lamina becomes increasingly stretched, creating increased forces to retract the disc. In the full forward position the posterior retractive force on the disc created by the tension of the stretched superior retrodiscal lamina is at a maximum. The interarticular pressure and the morphology of the disc prevent the disc from being overretracted posteriorly. In other words, as the mandible moves into a full forward position and during its return the retraction force of the superior retrodiscal lamina holds the disc rotated as far posteriorly on the condyle as the width of the articular disc space will permit. This is an important principle in understanding the temporomandibular articulation. Likewise, it is important to remember that the superior retrodiscal lamina is the only structure capable of retracting the disc posteriorly on the condyle when the condyle is stationary.

61

Attached to the anterior border of the articular disc is the superior lateral pterygoid muscle. When this muscle is active, the disc is pulled anteriorly and medially. Therefore the superior lateral pterygoid is technically a protractor of the disc. This function, however, does not occur during most jaw movements. The superior lateral pterygoid is activated only in conjunction with activity of the elevator muscles during mandibular closure or a power stroke.

Like most muscles, the superior lateral pterygoid is constantly maintained in a mild state of contraction or tonus, which exerts slight anterior and medial force on the disc. In the resting closed joint position this anterior and medial force will normally exceed the posterior elastic retraction force provided by the nonstretched superior retrodiscal lamina. Therefore in the resting closed joint position, when the interarticular pressure is low and the disc space widened, the disc will occupy the most anterior rotary position on the condyle permitted by the width of the space. At rest with the mouth closed the condyle will normally be in contact with the intermediate and posterior zones of the disc.

This disc relationship is maintained during minor passive rotational and translatory mandibular movements. As soon as the condyle is moved forward enough to cause the retractive force of the superior retrodiscal lamina to be greater than the muscle tonus force of the superior lateral pterygoid, the disc is rotated posterior to the extent permitted by the width of the articular disc space. When the condyle is returned to the resting closed joint position, once again the tonus of the superior lateral pterygoid becomes the predominant force and the disc is repositioned forward as far as the disc space will permit.



Figure 32 Normal functional movement of the condyle and disc during the full range of opening (A-D) and closing (D-A) (Rees, 1954).

During chewing, when resistance is met during mandibular closure, such as when biting on hard food, the interarticular pressure on the biting side is decreased. This occurs because the force of closure is not applied to the joint but is instead applied to the food. With the condyle forward and disc space increased, the tension of the superior retrodiscal lamina will tend to retract the disc from a functional position. This will cause separation of the articular surfaces, resulting in a dislocation. To avoid this, the superior lateral pterygoid becomes active during the power stroke, rotating the disc forward on the condyle so the thicker posterior border of the disc maintains articular contact. Therefore joint stability is maintained during the power stroke of chewing. As the teeth pass through the food and approach intercuspation, the interarticular pressure is increased. As the pressure is increased, the disc space is decreased and the disc is mechanically rotated posteriorly so the thinner intermediate zone fills the space. When the force of closure is discontinued, the resting closed joint position is once again assumed.

4.2 Mandibular Movements:

The masticatory muscles combine in various patterns to execute the different movements of the mandible. It is especially important to realize that one muscle may act synergistically with different muscles at different times. In no instance does a muscle act as an independent unit; instead muscles act in groups and almost always in suprisingly large groups. In addition, a single muscle may have portions that can function differently. This is particularly true of the temporalis and lateral pterygoid muscles.

The most important muscles that affect movements of the mandible can be divided into three exclusive groups:

- i) Elavators, or the temporalis, masseter and medial pterygoid muscles;
- ii) Depressors, or the digastric, mylohyoid and geniohyoid muscles; and
- iii) Protractors, the lateral pterygoid muscles.

64

The retractors of the mandible do not constitute an independent group. They are represented by the middle and posterior fibres of the temporalis muscle, the deep portion of the masseter, and the mylohyoid, geniohyoid and digastric muscles. Thus, both elevators and depressors may function as retractors of the mandible.

4.2.1. Mandibular Rest Position:

It is commonly assumed that the mandible is maintained in a fairly constant position in relation to the maxilla when a person is relaxed, and that the maintenance of this position is the function of some postural control mechanism which produces a low level of activity in the elevator muscles to oppose the effects of gravity (Posselt, 1963).

If the elevator muscles were engaged in actively maintaining the position of the mandible against gravity in the rest position, as has usually been assumed, it should be possible to record EMG activity from them. The evidence on this however, is not conclusive one way or the other. There have been reports of low levels of activity in the masseter, temporalis, lateral pterygoid and suprahyoid muscles at rest (Carlsoo, 1952, 1958; Kawamura et al., 1967; Lehr et al., 1971; Lund et al., 1970) and, furthermore that there are changes in the activity of these muscles when the body is tilted, suggesting that the resting activity may be adjusted according to gravitational effects (Lund et al., 1970). However, no actual measurements were made to show that the mandibular position remained constant in these experiments.

A total absence of muscle activity at rest would not automatically exclude the existence of a control system regulating the resting posture of the mandible, however. It might be that the equilibrium position due to just the passive forces of the muscles, ligaments and joint capsules coincides with the position "sought" by the control system, in which case the muscles would only be called into action to correct any transient imbalance or to oppose some external force which tended to disturb the passive equilibrium. Such a

mechanism is thought to operate in many of the limb and trunk muscles in maintaining an erect posture during standing.

4.2.2 Movements of Initial and Maximal Opening:

During simple opening and closing mandibular movements, the mandible rotates around a frontal axis that passes approximately through the centres of the two condyles while the axis itself progresses in space (Ulrich 1886, Gibbs 1969).

Moyers (1950) in his EMG analysis of temporomandibular movements postulated that the opening movement is caused by a combined action of the lateral pterygoid and digastric muscle. Today it is well known that the action of geniohyoid and mylohyoid cannot be excluded from this movement. If this movement occurs without resistance, the depressors act without any great force. The protracting force of the inferior head of the lateral pterygoid muscles acting upon the condyles and discs, the depressing and retracting force of the geniohyoid and digastric muscles acting upon the chin, and the action of the mylohyoid muscle upon the body of the mandible combine to produce rotatory and translatory jaw movement.

The movement of the mandible from centric occlusion to the resting position has been termed by Lindblom (1960) "The small translatory movement of the jaws". Attempts to measure the condylar translation directly on radiographs have been made, by Higley and Logan (1941), Beyron (1942) and Lindblom (1960). Posselt (1952) had stated that the change of position of the mandible from centric occlusion to the rest position was in the nature of a bodily movement.

The large opening movement of the jaws is agreed by most authors to be achieved by a combination of rotatory and translatory movements of the mandibular condyles (Sarnat, 1964, 1980).

The movement which starts from centric occlusion commences as a vertical drop (translation, slide). From this position the movement continues as a forward translation

to near the anterior part of the articular eminence. During this part of the opening movement there appears to be only small transversal rotatory movements. However, the terminal part of opening is achieved mainly by a rotatory (hinge) movement of the condyles (Lundberg 1963).

According to Sicher (1960) and Hylander (1975) in the opening movement of the jaw the condyles rotate against the discs around a transverse axis as they slide downward and forward along the posterior slope and summit of the articular eminence. The movement is effected by an initial activity of the lateral pterygoids, which first fix the condyles firmly against the posterior slope of the eminence. Immediately this is followed by contraction of the digastric muscles, and the sustained activity of both muscle pairs, acting as a force-couple, turns the mandible around a roving horizontal axis passing through the rami of the mandible. This motion affects all the other muscles anchored to the mandible, but it has also a receding influence on muscles and more peripheral to the central action. Thus the elevators of the jaw must lengthen to act as mild balancers and so ensure smoothness of performance.

According to some authors the oblique portion of the temporomandibular ligament also influences the normal opening movement of the mandible. During the initial phase of opening, the condyle can rotate around a fixed point until the temporomandibular ligament becomes tight as its point of insertion on the neck of the condyle is rotated posteriorly. When the ligament is taut, the neck of the condyle cannot rotate further. If the mouth were to be opened wider, the condyle would need to move downward and forward across the articular eminence.

This unique feature of the temporomandibular ligament which limits rotational opening, is found only in humans.

In the erect postural position and with a vertically placed vertebral column, continued rotational opening movement will cause the mandible to infringe on the vital submandibular and retromandibular structures of the neck. The outer oblique portion of the temporomandibular ligament possibly functions to resist this infringement.



Figure 33 Normal Opening Movement of the Mandible Composite of functional cephalometric radiographs.



Figure 34 The normal TMJ hard and soft tissue articulating relationship during opening movement. The four drawings represent the relationships of the disc to bony structures a closed position and various stages of opening, as seen arthrographically.(from Wilkes, C. H., 1978).

4.2.3 Lateral Movements of the Jaws

Lateral movements of the jaws are assymmetrical. The side to which the mandible moves is called the working side (Ramfjord and Ash, 1971). The opposite side is called the balancing side or the non-functional side. In general, the axes of right and left lateral movements are located posterior to the working side condyles (Fisher, 1952). Because of the position of the axis for lateral movements of the jaws the working side condyle will shift laterally in the direction of movement and probably slightly downwards (Bennett, 1908). In the average individual the Bennett shift is approximately 1.5 mm in the lateral direction corresponding to edge - to - edge position of the cuspids on the working side (Posselt, 1962). The balancing side condyle during lateral excursion moves downwards, forwards and medially. The angle traced by the balancing side condyle in relation to the sagittal plane is called Bennett angle. The downward movement of the balancing side condyle is greater than the downward movement of the working side condyle and because of this the distance between the dental arches will be greater on the balancing side than the working side (Christensen, 1905).

Lateral movements of the mandible may be inspected as regards habitual contact gliding movements from centric occlusion to either side or alternatively as non-contact lateral movements.

Some observers (Beyron, 1969; Krogh-Poulsen and Olsson, 1969) are of the opinion that several contacts are desirable between the teeth on the functional side during lateral excursion whilst other observers are of the opinion that there should only be contact between the upper and lower canines on the functional side (D'Amico, 1958; Stallard and Stuart, 1963; Stuart, 1964). The latter concept of contact lateral gliding movements of the jaws have been called canine protection and asserts that contacts between the posterior teeth should only occur in centric occlusion and that during lateral excursion all teeth except the canines on the functional side should immediately be taken out of occlusion by contact between the gliding inclines of the canines.

According to Sicher and Du Brul (1975), "in the lateral movement one condyle and disc slide downward, medially, and forward along the articular eminence while the other rotates laterally around a vertical axis". The lateral pterygoid muscle, inserted on the inwardly thrust medial pole of the condyle, pulls inward and forward in the horizontal plane. The horizontal fibres of the temporalis muscle, inserted at the posterior tip of the coronoid process, pull outward and backward. These muscles, operating as a force-couple, contribute to the torque of the rotating condyle necessary to effect chewing on this side. But perhaps equally important, they let out slack with a strong lengthening tension to provide maximum stability of the condyle.

If the chin is moved to the left, the holding posterior part of the temporalis muscle forces the left condyle towards its marginal or extreme position under the restricting influence of the temporomandibular ligament aiding in the Bennett Shift. At the same time the right pterygoid muscle pulls the right condyle and disc forward, downward, and medially as the whole jaw is swung, as well as shifted bodily, to the left.

In the closing stroke the force-couple changes in direction and components. The posterior fibres of the right temporalis move the mandible back toward the right while the posterior fibres of the left temporalis hold. At the same time both pterygoids lengthen to balance, the right one having by far the greater excursion. The right digastric contracts to aid this movement and the cranial and hyoid bone holders are also active participants.

4.2.4. Closing Movement.

The closing movement is executed by the elevators of the mandible. If the mouth is opened to its maximal extent, the timing of the activation and relaxation of the different parts of these muscles is important for proper closure.

Each disc and condyle glides anteriorly to the summit of the articular eminence in maximal opening. This physiological dislocation of the temporomandibular joint must be eliminated before closure can proceed. Therefore, contraction of the elevating component is delayed until the condyles and discs have regained their position at or behind the height of the articular eminence. Thus, the first phase of the closing movement from this position involves the combined action of the retracting portions of the masseter and temporalis muscles.

When the first phase of the movement has been executed (in which the mandible glides sharply backward without rotating upward to an appreciable extent), the closing movement is completed by the elevators, which return the jaw to the rest or occlusal position.

4.2.5. Protrusion and Retrusion Movements.

Moyers (1950), Woelfel et al. (1960) and Moller (1966) showed that forward thrust of the mandible is the result of contraction of the inferior head of the lateral pterygoid muscles and holding action of the masseter and medial pterygoid muscle. The temporalis muscle is not active during this movement, and the depressors are only minor active.

The lateral pterygoid pull the mandibular condyles and discs forward and downward along the articular eminences, while the elevators and depressors apparently maintain the position of the mandible relative to the maxilla, thereby preventing the lower jaw from dropping.

In the retracting movement, the middle and posterior fibres of the temporalis muscle combine forces with the depressors, while the remaining elevators exhibit varying amounts of activity. The depressing component of the suprahyoid muscles is apparently neutralized by the activity of the temporalis muscle.

4.2.6. Masticatory Movements

The masticatory movements of the lower jaw frequently occur under considerable force and often lead to contact between the upper and lower teeth (Sicher, 1954; Anderson, 1957; Ahlgren, 1966). When food is initially introduced into the mouth, few contacts occur. As the bolus is broken down, the frequency of tooth contacts increases. In the final stages of mastication, just prior to swallowing, contacts occur during every stroke (Adams and Zander, 1964).

Mastication is defined as the act of chewing foods. It represents the initial stage of digestion, when the food is broken down into small particle sizes for ease of swallowing.

Mastication is made up of rhythmic and well controlled separation and closure of the maxillary and mandibular teeth. Each opening and closing of the mandible represents a chewing stroke. The complete chewing stroke has a movement pattern described as tear sharped. It can be divided into opening phase and closing phase. The closing movement has been further subdivided into the crushing phase and the grinding phase. During mastication similar chewing strokes are repeated over and over as the food is broken down. Although this general movement pattern exists, the actual masticatory movements vary in detail both within and between individuals. These movements are in part dependent on the shape and proportions of the jaws and teeth and the type of food masticated. In general, individuals with malocclusions exhibit more complex and irregular chewing patterns (Ahlgren, 1966).

When the mandible is traced in the frontal plane during a single chewing stroke, the following sequence occurs:

In the "opening" phase it drops downwards from the intercuspal position to a point where the incisal edges of the teeth are about 16 to 18mm apart (Hildebrand, 1931). It then moves laterally 5 to 6mm from the midline as the closing movement begins. The first phase of closure traps the food between the teeth and is called the "crushing" phase (Fig. 35).



Figure 35: Frontal view of the chewing stroke.

As the teeth approach each other, the lateral displacement is lessened so that when the teeth are only 3mm apart the jaw occupies a position only 3 to 4mm lateral to the starting position of the chewing stroke (Hilderbrand, 1937). At this point the teeth are so positioned that the buccal cusps of the mandibular teeth are almost directly under the buccal cusps of the maxillary teeth on the side to which the mandible has been shifted.

As the mandible continues to close, the bolus of food is trapped between the teeth. This begins the grinding phase of the closure stroke.

During the grinding phase the mandible is guided by the occlusal surfaces of the teeth back to the intercuspal position, which causes the cuspal inclines of the teeth to pass across each other, permitting shearing and grinding of the bolus of food.

If movement of the mandibular incisor is followed in the sagittal plane during a typical chewing stroke, it will be seen that during the opening phase the mandible moves slightly anteriorly. During the closing phase it follows a slightly posterior pathway, ending in an anterior movement back to the maximum intercuspal position. More detailed analysis of the movements of Mastication is given by Lundeen and Gibbs (1982).

The muscle activity patterns during mastication are fairly well known(Moller, 1966). The opening stroke of mastication is initiated first by activity of the depressor group, with the mylohyoid muscles contracting somewhat earlier than the digastric muscles. The mandible is depressed as a result of this activity. Then, the inferior heads of the lateral pterygoid muscles contract, with activity on the chewing or ipsilateral side ordinarily preceding activity on the contralateral side. As a result, the mandible is rotated open and translated forward and slightly away from the chewing side. The mandible moves toward the chewing side when levels of activity in the lateral pterygoid muscle on the contralateral side exceed those of the ipsilateral muscle.

The closing stroke is initiated by contraction of the medial pterygoid muscles. At this time, the chewing side of the mandible is still being moved laterally by the inferior head of the contralateral pterygoid muscle. Following initiation of medial pterygoid muscle activity, the ipsilateral temporalis muscle becomes active, followed by activity in the remaining elevators. The combined effect of the elevators is closing of the jaws. The lateral pterygoid muscles are only slightly, if at all, active during the end of the closing stroke.

The closing stroke grades into the power stroke. The size of the food object determines when the power strokes occurs. When the teeth are in forciable contact with food and with one another, the electromyographic activity reaches a maximum (Moller, 1966). This has been interpreted as the period of maximum occlusal force. During the power stroke, the lateral pterygoid muscles become active, with the ipsilateral side exhibiting more activity than the contralateral side. The activity of the lateral pterygoid muscle during the power stroke is confined to its superior head (Lipke et al., 1977; McNamara Jr., 1973).

If the chopping jaw movement is the same as puncture-crushing, electromyographic data suggest that there are larger forces being generated during tooth-tooth contact of the power stroke than during puncture-crushing (chopping) (Ahlgren, 1966).

This data also suggests that the activity in the ipsilateral temporalis muscle precedes activity in the contralateral temporalis and masseter muscles during tooth-tooth contact, while these four muscles contract simultaneously during chopping.

Puncture-crushing or chopping is primarily a series of up and down vertical strokes. The elevators contract simultaneously during chopping. This results in the common observation that mandibular movement during this type of power stroke is primarily directed vertically.

The amount of force placed on the teeth during mastication varies greatly from individual to individual and it is related to physiology and neuroanatomy of the muscles.

All functional movements explained are highly co-ordinated complex neuromuscular events. Sensory input from the structures of the masticatory system is received and integrated with existing reflex actions and learned muscle activity to achieve a desired functional activity.

CHAPTER V

FUNCTIONAL NEUROANATOMY

The function of the masticatory system is complex. Discriminatory contraction of the various head and neck muscles is necessary to move the mandible precisely and allow effective functioning. A highly refined neurologic control system regulates and co-ordinates activities of the entire masticatory system. It consists primarily of nerves and muscles; hence the term neuromuscular system.

5.1 Muscle Structure

The skeletal muscles and the joints are designed to fulfill the body's need for mobility and stability. A human skeleton without muscles will collapse when placed in the erect standing position. The two types of materials found in skeletal muscle are connective tissue and muscle tissue. The properties of these tissues and the way in which they are interrelated give muscles their unique characteristics. Muscle tissue like other biologic tissue is viscoelastic. It also possesses the properties of contractility and iritalibity. Contractility is the muscle's ability to develop tension against resistance. Irritability refers to a muscle's ability to respond to chemical, electrical or mechanical stimuli.

The connective tissue in muscle is dense fibrous tissue in the form of sheaths and tendons. The sheaths provide the supporting framework for the muscle tissue, while the tendons serve to attach the muscles to the bones and to transmit forces generated by the muscle to the bones.

A skeletal muscle is composed of many thousands of muscle fibres. The arrangement, number, size and type of these fibres may vary from muscle to muscle (Johnson and Pogar, 1973), but each fibre is a single muscle cell that is enclosed in a cell membrane called the sarcolemma. The muscle fibre is composed of cytoplasm, which is called sarcoplasm. The cell nuclei, mitochondria, myoglobin, glycogen, and myofibrils are contained within the sarcoplasm.

A single muscle fibre may contain many myofibrils, and each myofibril contains tiny filaments called myofilaments. These filaments are composed of the proteins actin and myosin. When the myofibril is viewed through a microscope, the alternation of thick myosin and thin actin filaments forms a distinctive striped pattern. Therefore skeletal muscle is often called striated muscle.

The sarcomere is considered to be the contractile element of a muscle. When a muscle is stimulated, the chemical changes that occur within the sarcomere cause the actin filaments to slide. As the actin slides past the myosin, a chemical reaction binds actin to myosin, creating the complex actomyosin. This bonding of filaments is called a crossbridge, and is possible only at specific bonding sites of the filaments. The contraction of a muscle is the result of many contractile units undergoing sliding of filaments and crossbridge formations.

Three principal types of fibres are found in varying proportions in skeletal muscles. These fibre types may be distinguished from one another histochemically, metabolically, morphologically, and mechanically (Rosse and Clawson, 1980)The terminology that has been used also differ with different authors. The mostcommonly accepted terminology to designate the fibres is fast twitch glycolytic (FG), fast twitch oxidative glycolytic (FOG), and slow twitch oxidative (SO) (Taylor, 1980).

Skeletal muscles are composed of all three types of fibres, but wide variations exist among individuals in the fibre composition of various muscles. The relative proportions of different fibre types in a muscle determine in part the function of the muscle. Muscles that have a relatively high proportion of SO fibres in relation to FG fibres, are able to carry on sustained activity because the SO fibres do not fatigue rapidly. Muscles that have a high proportion of the FG fibres, can respond more rapidly to a stimulus than SO fibres.

The histochemical data relevant to jaw muscles are limited (Taylor, 1976). All accounts agree that the jaw-closing muscles are heterogeneous. With respect to myosin ATPase (MATPase),Ringqvist (1973) recognized three levels of staining in human biopsies from masseter and temporalis. Weak and strong staining fibres were identified with types I and II of biceps brachii, but moderately staining ones were believed to be a special group which was called intermediate. Later they were modified by Ariano et al. (1973) and Taylor et al. (1973) to type B (I), type A (II) and C (intermediate). The types A and C originally were defined by Stein and Podykula (1962).

77

In their scheme, A is equivalent to fast glycolytic (FG), B to slow oxidative (SO) and C to fast oxidative glycolytic (FOG) of Ariano et al. (1973).

.

Ringqvist (1973a, 1973b, 1974) published a data related to the types of fibres and mean fibre cross sectional areas of three jaw closing muscles in humans. Taylor et al. (1973) compared the results with adult cats. They have found that the most striking difference between human and cat fibre type distribution was in the proportions of type B. (Table.II)

The quantitative significance of the proportions of the various types could be seen in estimates of their contribution to the cross-sectional area of the muscle, since this could indicate their approximate relative force generating capabilities.

TABLE II

Proportions of fibre types in human and cat-closing muscles (Taylor et al. 1976)

	A%	В%	С%	A+C%	A/C%
HUMAN:					
Masseter	58	26.4	15.6	73	3.7
Temporalis	23	42	25	48	0.92
CAT:					
Masseter	82	10	8	90	10.3
Pterygoid	59	29	20	71	2.6
Temporalis	72	2	26	98	2.8

TABLE III

Estimated mean fibre cross-sectional areas and percentage areas for the fibre types in human jaw closing muscles (Ringqvist, 1973; Taylor et al. 1973)

	A	В	С	A+C	A/C
Mean Areas µm ² MASSETER TEMPORALIS	201 377	830 1359	419 499		
Estimated % Areas : Masseter Temporalis	29.0 32.2	54.6 65.4	16.4 2.4	45.4 34.6	1.8 13.4

While these fibres histochemically can be distinguished the morphological differences is also very important. It is well known that the tension developed by a muscle varies with its length. The contractile unit of a skeletal muscle fibre is a sarcomere, and above and below the optimum sarcomere length, the tension developed during a contraction declines.

The sarcolemma of an individual muscle fibre is surrounded by connective tissue called endomysium, and bundles of muscle fibres are covered by connective tissue called endomysium, and groups of muscle fibres are covered by connective tissue called perimysium (Fig. 36).





The groups or bundles of muscle fibres are called fasciculi. The endomysium and perimysium are continuous with the outer connective tissue sheath called the epimysium which envelopes the entire muscle. Continuations of the outer sheath form the tendons that attach each end of the muscle to the bony components. The tendons are attached to the bones by Sharpey's fibres. The connective tissues that surround the muscle fibres are non parallel with the muscle fibres. These tissues, plus the sarcolemma, mitochondria, and other structures (nerves and blood vessels), form the parallel elastic component of a muscle. This means that when a muscle shortens, these tissues will also shorten or act together with the muscle fibres. The tendon of the muscle, on the other hand, is in series with the contractile elements and when the muscle actively shortens, the tendon will be stretched.

The length, arrangement, and number of muscle fibres vary from muscle to muscle throughout the body. These structural variations affect not only the shape and size of the muscles but also the function of the various muscles (Yemm, 1976, 1977).

Muscle fibres are capable of shortening to approximately one-half of their total length.

Arrangement of fasciculi may be parallel, at an angle, or spiral around the long axis. Muscles that have a parallel fibre arrangement are designated as strap or fusiform muscles. Generally muscles with a parallel fibre arrangement will produce a greater range of motion of a bony lever at a joint than muscles of similar size with different fibre arrangements.

Muscles that have an oblique fibre arrangement are called unipennate, bipennate, or multipennate muscles because the fibre arrangement resembles that found in a feather. The fibres that make up the fasciculi in pennate muscles are usually shorter and more numerous than the fibres in many of the strap muscles. Pennate muscles are generally unable to produce a large range of motion however they are capable of developing a large amount of force.

5.2 The Muscle Function:

In considering the contraction of a muscle as a whole it is important to understand how its individual elements operate. The basic component of the neuromuscular system is the motor unit, which consists of a number of muscle fibres that are innervated by one motor neuron.

The size of motor units varies between muscles, smaller units occurring where precise control of muscular action is required.

Physiological investigations have shown that the muscle fibres innervated by one motor neuron are often widely spread within a muscle and do not necessarily correspond to its myonemes or fascicular divisions. Thus, even when only a few motor units are active, the force is generated diffusely. It has also been shown that each axon terminates within a round or oval territory, with considerable overlap between adjacent zones of innervation.

When the neuron is activated, volleys of nerve impulses pass along its membrane, and, reaching the terminal, cause the liberation of a chemical transmitter, acetylcholine, close to the adjacent muscle fibre membrane. The transmitter is then rapidly broken down by anzymic action so that it operates only briefly. Electrical recordings show that the transmitter causes changes in the permeability of, and hence the electrical potential across, the sarcolemma. In resting fibres the so-called resting potential has a steady value of about 80 mV, the interior of the cell being negative with respect to the exterior. When stimulated by low concentration of acetylcholine, a small transient localized depolarization of the membrane, the end plate potential occurs. This does not itself cause contraction, but with increased concentrations of transmitter it builds up until a critical level is reached, at which point the neighbouring membrane abruptly undergoes a massive rapid depolarization, continuing to reversal of the membrane potential so that the interior becomes 20 mV positive, relative to the exterior. This is known as the action potential; the swing rapidly reverts to the resting potential but it initiates a wave of depolarization, potential reversal and return to resting levels, which sweeps at a speed of 5 metres per second over the whole surface of the muscle fibre, and this causes its momentary contraction. The mechanical response is a single twitch lasting 25-75 msec. Repeated action potentials can be elicited from a single muscle fibre if the activity of its motor axon is maintained, but there is a maximum limit to this since, after a single muscle action potential has occurred, there is a refractory period of about 10 msec until another can be elicited.

Since all action potentials are identical, as are all isolated twitches of a given muscle fibre, they are said to show an "all or none" response, if they contract at all, they contract maximally within the limits imposed by their initial length and conditions of loading.

Whole muscles, however, exhibit considerable gradation in their contraction and this is achieved by differential activity of the motor units.

82

Individual units can vary greatly in their twitch frequency, and the number of units that are active also fluctuates. In small contractions only a few units are operative, but with increasing contraction more are recruited until many or all are active. The sum of these activities results in a steady contraction of the whole muscle even though the individual units are twitching repetitively, but in an a synchronous manner.

The number of muscle fibres innerated by one motor neuron varies greatly according to the function of the motor unit. The fewer the muscle fibres per motor neuron, the more precise is the movement. A single motor neuron may innervate only two or three muscle fibres. Conversely one motor neuron may innervate hundreds of muscle fibres as in any large muscle. There is a similar variation in the number of muscle fibres per motor neuron within the muscles of mastication.

The lateral pterygoid muscle has a relatively low muscle fibre/motor neuron ratio and therefore is capable of fine adjustments in length needed to adapt to horizontal changes in the mandibular position. By contrast, the masseter has a greater number of motor fibres per motor neuron, which corresponds to its more gross functions of providing the force necessary during mastication.

The motor unit can carry out only one action : contraction or shortening. The entire muscle, however, has three potential functions.

- When a large number of motor units in the muscle are stimulated, contraction or an overall shortening of the muscle occurs. This type of shortening under a constant load is called isotonic contraction. Isotonic contraction occurs in the masseter when the mandible is elevated, forcing the teeth through a bolus of food.
- ii) When a proper number of motor units contract opposing a given force, the resultant function of the muscle is to hold or stabilize the jaw. This contraction without shortening is called isometric contraction, and it occurs in the masseter when an object is held between the teeth.
- iii) A muscle also can function through controlled relaxation. When stimulation of the motor unit is discontinued, the fibres of the motor unit relax and return to their normal length. By control of this decrease in motor unit stimulation, a precise muscle lengthening can occur that allows smooth and deliberate movement. This type of controlled relaxation is observed in the masseter when the mouth opens to accept a new bolus of food during mastication.

5.3 Neurologic Structures

Each skeletal muscle has both sensory and motor innervation. The sensory or afferent neurons carry information from the muscle to the central nervous system at both the spinal cord and the higher centre levels. The type of information carried by the afferent nerve fibres most often depends on the sensory nerve endings. Some nerve endings relay sensations of discomfort and pain, as when the muscle is fatigued or damaged. Others provide information regarding the state of contraction or relaxation of the muscle. Still others provide information regarding joint and bone positions (proprioception).

Once the sensory information has been received and processed by the central nervous system, regulatory information is returned to the muscles by way of the motor or efferent nerve fibres. The efferent neurons indicate the impulses for the appropriate function of the specific muscles that will bring about the desired motor response.

Sensory receptors are neurologic structures or organs located in the tissues that provide information to the central nervous system regarding the status of these tissues. As in other areas of the body, various types of sensory receptors are located throughout the tissues that make up the masticatory system. There are specialized sensory receptors that provide specific information to the afferent neurons and thus back to the central nervous system. Constant input received from them allows the brain to co-ordinate action of individual muscles or muscle groups so that smooth finely adjusted movements can occur.

Like other systems, the masticatory system utilizes four major types of sensory receptors to monitor the status of its structures:

- the muscle spindles, which are specialized receptors found in the muscle tissue (Granit, 1955);
- ii) the Golgi tendon organs, located in the tendons (Granit, 1955);.
- iii) the pacinian corpuscles, located in tendons, joints, periosteum, fascia, and subcutaneous tissues; and
- iv) the neciceptors, found generally throughout all the tissues of the masticatory system.

5.3.1. Muscle Spindles:

Skeletal muscles consist of two types of muscle fibre, the first is the extrafusal fibres, which are contractible and make up the bulk of the muscle; the other is the intrafusal fibres, which are only minutely contractile.

A bundle of intrafusal muscle fibres bound by a connective tissue sheath is called a muscle spindle. The muscle spindles are interspersed throughout the skeletal muscles and aligned parallel to the extrafusal fibres. Within each muscle spindle the nuclei of the intrafusal fibres are arranged in two distinct fashions: chainlike (nuclear chain type) or clumped (nuclear bag type), (Fig.37).

There are two types of afferent nerves that supply the intrafusal fibres. They are classified according to their diameters. The larger fibres conduct impulses at a higher speed and have lower thresholds. Those that end in the central region of the intrafusal fibres are the larger group (Ia) and are said to be the primary endings (annulospiral endings). Those that end in the poles of the spindle are the smaller group (II) and are the secondary endings (flower spray endings) (Karlsson et. al., 1971, 1974,).

Since the intrafusal fibres of the muscle spindles are aligned parallel to the extrafusal fibres of the muscles, as the muscle is stretched so also are the intrafusal fibres. This stretch is monitored at the nuclear chain and nuclear bag regions. The annulospiral and flower spray endings are activated by the stretch, and the afferent neurons carry this information to the central nervous system. The afferent neurons originating in the muscle spindles of the muscles of mastication have their cell bodies in the trigeminal mesencephalic nucleus (Scalzi and Prince, 1972).

The intrafusal fibres receive efferent innervation by way of fusimotor nerve fibres (Barker et al. 1972). These fibres are given the classification of gamma fibres or gamma efferents to distinguish them from the alpha nerve fibres, which supply the extrafusal fibres.

When the intrafusal fibres contract, the nuclear chain and nuclear bag areas are stretched, which is registered as if the entire muscle were stretched, and afferent activity is initited. Thus there are two manners in which the afferent fibres of the muscle spindles can be stimulated: i) generalized stretching or elongation of entire muscle (extrafusal fibres), and

ii) contraction of the intrafusal fibres by way of gamma efferents.



Figure 37 Diagram of the relationship of a muscle spindle and a classic tendon organ to the extrafusal muscle bundles and neurovascular bundle of a muscle.



Figure 38 Muscle spindle (A), and Golgi tendon organ (B) (Bridgman, 1968).

The extrafusal muscle fibres receive innervation by way of the alpha efferent motor neurons. Most of these have their cell bodies in the trigeminal motor nucleus. Stimulation of these neurons therefore causes the group of extrafusal muscle fibres innervated by this nucleus to contract.

From a functional standpoint the muscle spindle acts as a length monitoring system. It constantly feeds back information to the central nervous system regarding the state of elongation or contraction of the muscle. When a muscle is suddenly stretched, both its extrafusal and its intrafusal fibres elongate. The stretch of the spindle causes firing of the Group I and Group II afferent nerve endings leading back to the central nervous system. When the - efferent motor neurons are stimulated the extrafusal fibres of the muscles contract and the spindle is shortened. This shortening brings about a decrease in the afferent output of the spindle. A total shut-down of the spindle activity would occur during muscle contraction if there were no gamma efferent system. Stimulation of the gamma efferents causes the intrafusal fibres of the muscle spindle to contract. This can elicit afferent activity from the spindle even when the muscle is contracting. Efferent drive can therefore assist in maintaining muscle contraction. It is believed that the gamma-efferent system acts as a mechanism to sensitize the muscle spindles. Thus the fusimotor system can be considered to be acting as a biasing mechanism that alters the firing of the muscle spindle. It should be noted that the gamma efferent mechanism is not as well investigated in the masticatory system as in spinal cord systems. Although it appears to be active in most of the masticatory muscles, some apparently have no gamma efferents.

All jaw elevator muscles in man have been found by Freimann (1954), Gill (1971), and Honee (1966) to contain muscle spindles. For a long time there was doubt regarding the presence of spindles in the human lateral pterygoid muscle but Honee (1966) and Gill (1971) has shown that they exist.

The elevator muscles contain many muscle spindles and should be classed between larger limb muscles containing relatively few spindles, and muscles responsible for fine finger movements. These muscles also occupy an intermediate position in terms of their speed of contraction (Matthews, 1975).

By contrast, the jaw depressor muscles are not found consistently to contain spindles (Voss, 1956; Bossy, 1958).

There is good evidence in the literature that muscle spindles are not as randomly distributed in jaw muscles as they appear to be in many larger limb muscles. The masseter muscle in man and animals appears to have the highes concentration of spindles in its deep portion (Karlsen, 1965; Voss, 1956; Kubota and Masegi 1972).

The medial pterygoid in animals is reported to have most of its spindles concentrated to its medial portion (Karlsen, 1965; Kubota and Masegi 1972).

In the lateral pterygoid in man the spindles appear to be present in the mid-portion (Honee, 1966).

Muscle spindles in different parts of a muscle give different responses to a given stimulus (Henatsch et al. 1975). The apparent concentration of spindles in certain locations of the elevator muscles implies that the central nervous system uses information from those parts preferentially.

5.3.2. Golgi Tendon Organs

The tendon organs named after Golgi surround the collagen bundles which are coupled in series with the extrafusal muscle fibres at the end of the muscle.

Szentagothi (1948) and Touloumis et al. (1975) observed Golgi tendon organs in the cat masseter muscle.

Each of these Golgi tendon organs consists of tendinous fibres surrounded by lymph spaces enclosed within a fibrous capsule. Afferent fibres enter near the middle of the organ and spread out over the extent of the fibres (Merrillees, 1962; Bridgman 1968).

Tension on the tendon stimulates the receptors in the Golgi tendon organ. Therefore contraction of the muscle also stimulates the organ. Likewise, an overall stretching of the muscle creates tension in the tendon and stimulates the organ.

At one time it was thought that the Golgi tendon organs had a much higher threshold than the muscle spindles and therefore functioned solely to protect the muscle from excessive or damaging tension. It now appears that they are more sensitive and are active in reflex regulation during normal function.

The Golgi tendon organs primarily monitor tension whereas the muscle spindles primarily monitor muscle length.

5.3.3. Pacinian Corpuscles:

The pacinian corpuscles are large oval organs made up of concentric lemellae of connective tissue. At the centre of each corpuscle is a core containing the termination of a nerve fibre. These corpuscles are found in the tendons, joints, periosteum, tendinous insertions, fasci, and subcutaneous tissue (Granit, 1955, 1970, Kawamura et al., 1967).

Pressure applied to such tissues deforms the organ and stimulates the nerve fibre. There is a wide distribution of these organs, and because of their frequent location in the joint structures they are considered to serve principally for the perception of movement and firm pressure.

5.3.4. Nociceptors.

Generally nociceptors are sensory receptors that are stimulated by iritation and transmit this information to the central nervous system by way of the afferent nerve fibres.

Nociceptors are located throughout most of the tissues in the masticatory system. There are several general types: some respond exclusively to mechanical and thermal stimuli, others respond to a wide range of stimuli, from tactile sensations to noxious injury, still others are low-threshold receptors specific for light touch, pressure or facial hair movement. The last type is sometimes called mechanoreceptors.

The nociceptors primary function is to monitor the condition, position, and movement of the tissues in the masticatory system. When conditions exist that either are potentially harmful or actually cause injury to the tissue, the nociceptors relay this information to the central nervous system as sensations of discomfort or pain.

5.4 Neuromuscular Function.

In 1975 Storey was told of a student project conducted under Posselt which demonstrated that infiltration of the temporomandibular joint with local anaesthetic resulted in a change in postural position.

Schaerer et al. (1966) published a brief paper on two patients in which the effect of anaesthesis of the gingiva, periodontium and temporomandibular joints was investigated on chewing movements. The anaesthesia reduced the patient's ability to control the food bolus but the performance of chewing movements was not affected.

Lowe (1975) investigating the genioglossus and mylohyoid activity during various opening angles found that the EMG activities of these to muscles started at 2° opening and was quite marked at 42° and 63° of opening, but infiltration with local anaesthetic into both temporomandibular joint capsules abolished the response completely.

Kawamura et al. (1974) during their investigations on the role of sensory information observed three young patients who had fractures of condylar heads which were ankylosed in the fossal and the patients were supplied with pseudo-joints on both sides. According to Kawamura they could chew very well without the sensory information from the joints.

Looking to clinical examples we can conclude that all these sensory receptors provide constant feedback to the central nervous system. This input is continually monitored and evaluated day and night, and during activity and relaxation.

The central nervous system evaluates and organizes the sensory input and initiates appropriate efferent input to create a desired motor function.

5.4.1 Reflex Action

A reflex action is the response resulting from a stimulus that passes as an impulse along an afferent neuron to a posterior nerve root or its cranial equivalent, where it is transmitted to an efferent neuron leading back to the skeletal muscle. A reflex action maybe monosynaptic or polysynaptic. In a monosynaptic reflex the afferent fibre directly stimulates the efferent fibre in the central nervous system while in a polysynaptic reflex the afferent neuron stimulates one or more interneurons in the central nervous system, which in turn stimulate the efferent nerve fibres.

5.4.1.1 The Myostatic Reflex

The myostatic or stretch reflex is the only monosynaptic jaw reflex. When a skeletal muscle is quickly stretched, this protective reflex is elicited and brings about a contraction of the stretched muscle.

Clinically this reflex can be demonstrated by relaxing the jaw muscles, allowing the teeth to separate slightly. A sudden downward tap on the chin will cause the muscle spindles within the masseter suddenly stretch, afferent nerve activity is generated from the spindles. These afferent impulses pass into the brainstem to the trigeminal motor nucleus by way of the trigeminal mesencephalic nucleus, where the primary afferent cell bodies are located. These same afferent fibres synapse with the alpha efferent motor neurons leading directly back to the extrafusal fibres of the masseter. Stimulation of the alpha efferent by the Ia afferent fibres causes the muscle to contract. This will cause the jaw to be reflexly elevated and the constraction of the masseter will result in tooth contact.

The myostatic reflex occurs without specific response from the brain and is very important in determining the resting position of the mandible. The myostatic reflex is a principal determinant of muscle tonus in the elevator muscles. As gravity pulls down on the mandible, the elevator muscles are passively stretched, which also creates stretching the muscle spindles. This information is reflexly passed from the afferent neurons originating in the spindles to the alpha motor neurons that lead back to the extrafusal fibres of the elevator muscles. Thus passive stretching causes a reactive contraction that relieves the stretch on the muscle spindle.

The myostatic reflex and resulting muscle tonus can be influenced by the higher centres via the fusimotor system. The higher centres bring about increased gamma efferent activity to the intrafusal fibres of the spindle. As this activity increases, the intrafusal fibres contract, causing a partial stretching of the nuclear bag and nuclear chain areas of the spindles. This lessens the amount of stretch needed in the overall muscle before the spindle afferent activity is elicited. Therefore the higher centres can use the fusimotor system to alter the sensitivity of the muscle spindles to stretch.

When a muscle contracts, the muscle spindles are shortened, which causes the afferent activity output of those spindles to shut down. If the electrical potential of the afferent nerve activity is monitored, a silent period will be noted during this contraction stage. Gamma efferent activity can influence the length of the silent period. High gamma efferent activity causes contraction of the intrafusal fibres, which lessens the time the spindle is shut down during a muscle contraction. Decreased gamma efferent activity lengthens this silent period.

The silent period of the afferent nerve activity should not be confused with the masticatory muscle silent period. The masseteric silent period has been investigated by McNamara (1976), Williamson (1982), Skiba and Laskin (1981), Bassette and Snatkin (1979), Hellsing and Klineberg (1983) by monitoring the EMG activity of the muscles of the mastication.

It has been suggested by McNamara (1976) that during the clenching a sudden downward tap to the chin activates the muscle spindles, which causes the information to be relayed to the central nervous system by way of the mesencephalic nucleus. An interruption then occurrs at the motor nucleus of cranial nerve V and no motor impulses are sent to the muscles of mastication for a very short time. The motor impulses then return and the muscle continues to contract. The time of no electrical activity is called the silent period.

It has been suggested by Skiba (1981) and Bassette (1971) that the silent periods of patients with functional disturbances of the masticatory muscles are significantly increased.

5.4.1.2. Nociceptive (flexor) Reflex

The nociceptive or flexor reflex is a polysynaptic reflex to noxious stimuli and therefore is considered to be protective. In the masticatory system this reflex becomes active when a hard object is suddenly encountered during mastication.

As the tooth is forced down on the hard object, a noxious stimulus is received by the tooth and surrounding periodontal structures. The associated sensory receptors
trigger afferent nerve fibres, which carry the information to the interneurons in the trigeminal motor nucleus. The action taken during this reflex is more complicated than the myotatic reflex in that the activity of several muscle groups must be co-ordinated to carry out the desired motor response. not only must the elevator muscles be inhibited to prevent further jaw closure on the hard object, but the jaw opening muscles must be activated to bring the teeth away from potential damage.

As the afferent information from the sensory receptors reaches the interneurons, two distinct actions are taken. Excitatory interneurons leading to the efferent fibres of the jaw opening muscles are stimulated. This action causes these muscles to contract.

At the same time the afferent fibres stimulate inhibitory interneurons, which have their effect on the jaw elevating muscles and cause them to relax. The overall result is that, the jaw quickly drops and the teeth are pulled away from the object causing the noxious stimulus. This process is called antagonistic inhibition, and it occurs in many reflex actions throughout the body.

5.4.2 Antagonistic Action

The control of antagonistic muscles is of vital importance in reflex activity. There are certain groups of muscles that primarily elevate the mandible as well as others that primarily depress it. For the mandible to be elevated by the temporalis, medial pterygoid, or masseter, the suprahyoid muscles must relax and lengthen. Likewise, for it to be depressed, the suprahyoids must contract while the elevator muscles relax and lengthen. The neurologic controlling mechanism for these antagonistic groups is known as reciprocal innervation.

This phenomenon enables smooth and exact control of mandibular movement to be achieved. For the skeletal relationship of the skull, mandible, and neck to be maintained, each of the antagonistic muscle groups must remain in a constant state of mild tonus. This will overcome the skeletal imbalances caused by gravity and keep the head in what is termed the postural position.

Muscles that are in full contraction, fatigue rapidly because of the decreased blood flow and eventual build up of metabolic by products in the muscle tissues. By contrast, muscles in tonic contraction allow proper blood flow to bring needed metabolic products to the muscle tissues. Therefore normal muscle tonus does not create fatigue.

CHAPTER VI

BIOMECHANICS OF THE MANDIBULAR MOVEMENT

The mandible is a bone that is joined to the skull by ligaments and suspended in a muscular sling. When the elevator muscles are called upon to function, their contraction raises the mandible, so contact is made and force is applied to the skull in three areas: the two temporomandibular joints and the teeth. Since these muscles have the capability of providing heavy forces, there is a great potential for damage to occur at the three sites. Thus there is a need to examine these areas closely to determine the optimum anatomic relationship that could prevent, minimize, or eliminate any breakdown or trauma. The fact that not only strong muscles but two temporomandibular joints are also connected to the same bone further complicates the biomechanical analysis of the entire masticatory system. Each of the joints can act simultaneously but differently and yet not completely without influence from the other. A sound understanding of the biomechanics of the temporomandibular joint is essential and basic to the study of function and dysfunction in the masticatory system.

The biomechanics of the movement of the mandible is complex because its widely separated temporomandibular joints allow it to translate in any direction to a limited extend and/or rotate about any axis in space.

Due to translational and/or rotational movements the biomechanics of mandible have proved difficult to analyze. Because of the complexity of the system, biomechanical models of the mandible have usually been restricted to analysing forces and/or movements in a single plane (Barbanel, 1972, 1974; Grant 1973a, 1973b; Pruim et al. 1978, 1980; Throckmorton et al. 1985a, 1985b). The predictions made from such models proved to be incomplete because the forces and movements operate in three dimensions and their projections onto a plane suppress what may be important biomechanical aspects of the system. Three dimensional models using finite element (Gupta et al., 1973; Norton et al., 1974; Knoell, 1977) and computerized model based on the principle of linear programming (Osborn and Baragar, 1985; Baragar and Osborn 1984) also has been constructed. Even from the very early pioneering work of Ulrich (1896) there has been considerable argument about the axis of the opening movement, and about the critical problem of whether or not the joints are loaded when the teeth biting on an object (Hylander, 1975). Only recently (Hylander, 1979; Brehnan et al. 1981) have developed techniques to measure joint loads but this could only be used in animals and the results would be questionable.

Perhaps the most frequently used biomechanical model for the mandible has been the Class III lever, in which the condyle acts as a fulcrum, the masticatory muscles as applied force, and the bite pressure as resistance (Fig.39).



Figure 39 The mandible as a Class III lever.

For mechanical equilibrium, the Class III lever requires that the bite force be less than the applied force, so that the masticatory "machine" would have a mechanical advantage equal to, less than one. Some have objected that such an inefficient system is inherently improbable (Tattersall, 1973). Others have argued that the condyle and articular fossa are simply not structured to withstand the large resultant forces required by the model (Robinson, 1946; Roberts and Tattersall, 1974). Nevertheless, as Barbanel (1974) has emphasized, this type of histological interpretation is highly subjective, and many workers (Boucher, 1962; Noble, 1973; Hylander, 1975) have explained that the region is well-adapted to withstand stress. Several other alternative biomechanical models also has been proposed. Hylander (1975) reviewed much of the literature on non-lever models of Wilson, 1920, 1921; Robinson, 1946; Frankel and Burnstein, 1970; Gingerich, 1971 and Tattersall, 1973, and he concluded that on the basis of electromyographic and anatomical data, the non-lever models are largely invalid.

Few workers (Crampton and Hotten, 1967; Maglio, 1972) have recognized the biomechanical significance of the direction and the magnitude of the muscles of mastication and have used the weight and/or cross-sectional area of masticatory muscles as estimates of relative force magnitudes.

Roberts (1974) and Roberts and Tattersall (1974) have also been concerned with whether or not there is force at the condyle, rather than with the mechanism of force generation. Roberts (1974) suggests that since the masseter, temporalis and bite force vectors can form a closed triangle, there is no additional reaction force at the condyle (Fig.40).



Figure 40 A and B demonstrate equilibrium between muscle forces and bite reaction force according to Roberts, (1974).

In this argument, each force is represented by a vector whose length is equal to the force magnitude. Since accurate data on the direction of the three forces, and certainly on the magnitude of the two muscle forces, are completely unknown, a triangle of these forces in equilibrium is entirely hypothetical. Roberts and Tattersall (1974) state that their analysis assumes "no significant force is expended at the temporomandibular joint during elevation of the mandible". While many others do in fact suggest that large condylar reaction forces exist. (Roydhouse, 1955; Ostrom, 1964; Badoux, 1972; Hekneby, 1974; Barbanel, 1972, 1974; Hylander 1975, 1984; Walker, 1978; Pruim et al. 1978, 1980; Throckmorton, 1985).

Parrington (1934) has suggested that external forces on the mandible during mastication could be analyzed by considering the mandible a stationary beam, and several workers (Badoux, 1966; Boch, 1966; Bock and Kummer, 1968; Hylander, 1977) have examined the internal stresses and strains of mastication on the mandible with this approach. Only Badoux (1972), Walker, (1978) and Smith (1978) have clearly stated that mechanically the mandible can be considered to "change states" once contact is made.

Smith (1978) suggested that during mandibular elevation, the mandible acts as a Class III lever. However, when maximum masticatory forces are generated, probably during the working functional movement, it may be useful to model the mandible as a stationary beam (Smith, 1978) or structural girder (Boch and Kummer, 1968), (Fig.41).



Figure 41 The mandible as a stationary beam (saggital projection, incisal biting), (Smith, 1978).



Figure 42 The mandible as a stationary beam frontal projection, unilateral molar biting (Smith, 1978).

6.1 Axis of the Opening Movements

Prosthodontic interest in the location of the axis of the mandibular movement appears to stem from practical considerations. The biomechanical need for an axis could be felt when attempting to simulate the natural movements of the mandible with mechanical devices.

Opinions regarding the axis of the opening movement of the mandible are quite abundant in the anatomical literature. The most extreme opinion is: "Opening of the mouth is a simple movement. The mandible, slung in muscle, rotates about an axis that passes through the mandibular foramina "(Last, 1954; Hamilton, 1956; Lockhard et al., 1959). While others speak of "a condylar hinge axis (Johnston and Whillis, 1954), an undefined hinge axis (Terry and Trother, 1953), a moving axis (Scott and Symons, 1958), or an instantaneous centre of rotation (Ulrich, 1896; Grant 1973, 1973b).

According to the glossary of Prosthodontic terms prepared by the Academy of Denture Prosthetics (1977), Axis is: "A straight line around which a body may rotate." Which is defined as three separate axes:

longitudinal axis : An imaginary anteroposterior line through a mandibular condyle around which the mandible may rotate in a rolling motion.

mandibular axis : (condylar axis, condyle axis, hinge axis, transverse axis) Imaginary line through two mandibular condyles around which the mandible may rotate without translatory movement.

sagittal axis : An imaginary vertical line through a mandibular condyle around which a mandible may rotate in a yawing or pitching motion.

Prosthodontic history is somewhat incomplete as to the origins of the thesis of a transverse horizontal axis (Brekke, 1959). In its purest form the transverse axis is usually thought of as exhibiting a two dimensional effect and as being independent of the vertical and sagittal axes. Some investigators have explored the degree of precision could be expected with an axis location procedure (Kurt and Feinstein, 1951; Borgh and Posselt, 1958; Lauritzen et al., 1961; Preston, 1979).

A major challenge to the traditional concept of a single "intercondylar" axis was postulated by Page (1960). He postulated the existence of two mutually independent, noncolinear axes or, simply, that each condyle had its own axis of rotation.

Trapozzano and Lazzari (1967) reported the location of multiple hinge axis points along the path of the translatory movement of the condyle.

The anatomic relation of the transverse horizontal axis has been explored by a number of investigators, and most have made statements regarding the relation of the axis to the condyle (Good, 1953; Weinberg, 1959).

No unaniminity of opinion exists, and the conclusions range from "the transverse axis passes through or near the condyles" (Weinberg 1959), "within the limites of accuracy imposed by individual operators, equipment, and patient variations, a single transverse horizontal axis can usually appear to be located" (Preston, 1979), to "we never found the axis located in the condyle" (Le Pera, 1964).

Most dentists with experience in hinge axis location admit that there are times when no hinge axis can be located (Gregory et al. 1969). Obviously from a clinical point of view the location of a transverse horizontal axis has many complexities but the kinematic location of a transverse horizontal axis has a definite biomechanical merit.

Various arguments also have been presented for the existence of mandibular foramina axis (Last, 1954; Moss, 1960). But Koski (1962) suggested that the opening axis could not pass through the foramina, as this position could lead the condyles against the eminences in the very beginning of the opening act.

Navarkari (1956) postulated that the opening axis was always outside the condyle, and in most instances, it was located in the region of the mastoid process when the mandible moved from rest to the occluding position.

Koski (1962) agreeing with these findings suggested that during the first phases of opening the axis might be most frequently located at the mastoid region. Hjortsjo (1954), and Moss (1959) reported on the biaxial nature of the mandibular opening movement. According to Hjortsjo, one axis of the movement passes through the centres of the condyles and another through the centres of the articular eminences. Two simultaneous movements around these axes results in the opening of the mandible.

Anatomists have known for many years that most of the bones of the body do not rotate around fixed axes of rotation but rather around a moving instantaneous centre of rotation. The path of the instantaneous centre of rotation was first observed by Ulrich (1896), then Chissin (1906), Hall (1929) and Grant (1973a, 1973b). In 1974 Stern debated the relevance of the instantaneous centre of rotation and rejected its biomechanical significance.

The complexity of the axis of the movement of the mandible and diversity in opinions has also created different biomechanical arguments about the critical and apparently simple problem of whether or not the joints are loaded when biting on an object.

6.2 Non-Lever Action Hypotheses:

Various workers have suggested, either directly or indirectly, that there is little or no reactive force at either mandibular condyle. Wilson (1920, 1921), argued that because the resultant force of the temporalis, masseter, and medial pterygoid muscles lies perpendicular to the occlusal plane, there can be no reaction force at the mandibular condyle; and thus it was incorrect to view the human mandible as a lever. Wilson's argument was not correct; to eliminate reaction force at the temporandibular joint, the resultant force must pass through the bite point, not simply be oriented perpendicular to the occlusal plane.

Robinson (1946), based his non-lever notion of mandibular function on essentially two assumptions. According to Robinson the resultant adductor muscle force passes through the first molar tooth. Assuming that the resultant force has been correctly determined, biting on the first molar in this projection would result in a non-lever action of the mandible. However, biting anterior or posterior to this tooth in this projection would result in lever action. Gingerich (1971) pointed out that the resultant force determined by Robinson was incorrect because the direction of the combined force of the temporalis and masseter was incorrectly determined.

Robinson also noted that immediately above the mandibular condyle, located along the articular disc, is a synovial layer. Since synovial tissue is never found in a stress bearing region (only adjacent to it), he argued that this region cannot be under compression and therefore, could not act as a fulcrum. In addition, Robinson cites the occurrence of the fibrocartilaginous articular disc as further evidence for this being a non-stress bearing joint. The presence of blood vessels, nerves and lymphatics in the articular disc, and the paper-thin bony roof of the mandibular fossa further substantiates his claim that this region is under negligible amounts of stress.

Moss (1960) noted that, the mandibular fossa is a "receptacle" for the head of the mandibular condyle when the jaws are closed. The actual stress bearing articular portion of the temporomandibular joint is located between the articular tubercle of the temporal bone and that part of the mandibular condyle immediately facing it. Therefore, whereas the paper-thin bony roof of the mandibular fossa is indeed indicative of a non-stress bearing region, the articular tubercle is composed of thick cancellous bone with a dense cortical plate (Sicher, 1960), and thus probably is capable of bearing considerable amounts of reactive force (Hylander, 1975). According to Rees (1954), Griffin and Sharpe (1960), Sicher and Bhaskar (1972), the region of the articular disc situated between the mandibular condyle and the articular eminence, contains an avascular portion that lacks both nerves and a synovial layer.

Frank (1950) has also suggested non-lever action of the mandible. His arguments are based on a radiographic analysis of the human mandibular condyle. Frank noted that the condyle was never in direct contact with the articular eminence; he concluded that the condyle was not functioning as a fulcrum and therefore the mandible could not function as a lever.

Frankel and Burstein (1970) have also concluded that it is not necessary to have reaction forces acting on the mandibular condyle during biting. Although this conclusion could be true, it does not necessarily follow from their analysis because they have also incorrectly determined the resultant muscle force(fig.43).





Another worker to suggest non-lever action in the human mandible is Gingerich (1971). He has stated that "During biting, the jaw is functionally a link between the adductor muscle force and the bite force rather than a lever". He also states that "...other adductor muscles are not aligned with any bite point; their force of contraction is divided between useful bite force and wasted reaction force at the jaw joint".

Thus, a more accurate statement of Gingerich's view on mandibular function would be that the jaw is both a link and a lever, despite his statements to the contrary in the same paper.

Tattersall (1973) has also suggested that the mandible does not function as a lever during chewing or biting. He pointed out that the morphology of the jaw is incapable of dissipating considerable stress". The condylar neck is sufficiently weak for it to be said categorically that it could not have withstood the forces that would have been imposed upon it in a lever system". Tattersalls work on mandibular function are based on an analysis of the masticatory apparatus of the Archaeolemurinal, now an extinct group of Malagasy lemurs. If the mandible functions as a lever, the condyle and its neck must be stressed maximally during powerful incisal biting, when reaction forces will probably be greatest. In this situation, the condylar region will be sheared or bent.

The ability of this region to resist shearing stress is largely a function of its cross sectional area. During bending its strength is a function of the second moment of area of the cross section (Alexander, 1968). In order to test the hypothesis that the condylar neck is too weak to withstand reaction forces during biting Hylander (1975) analyzed the strength of the condyle region of the human mandible(Fig.44). He found that the condylar neck can be capable of withstanding an average shearing stress of up to 1745 N (178 kg). He also concluded that reaction forces of this magnitude could not be present during powerful biting.



Figure 44 Forces acting on the mandible during incisal biting (Hylander, 1975).

6.3 Lever Action Hypothesis:

Another approach to the analysis of the mammalian mandible, and in particular the human mandible, has been the assumption that it acts as a lever. Most workers have agreed with this assumption and have usually analyzed the mammalian jaw in the lateral projection under static conditions and have calculated moment arms for both the bite and muscle forces about the mandibular condyle. However, Moss (1960) and Grant (1973) considered this approach to be fundamentally incorrect. These workers have positioned the centre of rotation in the human mandible along the region of the mandibular foramen (Moss 1960), or is variable depending on the position of the mandible (Grant 1973, Lupkiewicz et al., 1982). Actually it has been shown that the instantaneous centre of rotation in the lateral projection is also dependent on whether the balancing or working condyle is involved; on the texture of the food; and on individual variation (Gibbs et al. 1969).

Stern (1974) suggest that Grant's claims about the biomechanical significance of the instantaneous centre of rotation would not have been made, had Grant taken into account the moments for the bite and reaction forces, as well as those of the masticatory muscle forces.

Most workers who adhere to lever action of the mandible have taken moments about the mandibular condyle in the lateral projection. As noted by Stern (1974) this approach is appropriate and is performed in two dimensional analysis in order to eliminate the necessity of taking reaction force moments into account.

Although analyzing the mammalian jaws solely in the lateral projection is probably appropriate for incisor or bilateral molar biting, such an analysis is incomplete for unilateral biting. This is because the projected bite point is never actually located in the mid-sagittal plane. Therefore if three dimensional analysis not possible it would be also useful to analyze the human mandible in the frontal projection (Hylander, 1975), (Fig. 45).

Such an analysis were carried out by various investigators but these workers only considered the muscle force on the working side of the jaw during unilateral molar biting. This is a very serious mistake since it has been conclusively demonstrated by Moller (1966) that the mandibular adductors on both sides are electrically active during unilateral molar biting.



Figure 45 Forces acting on the mandible in the frontal projection during unilateral molar biting (Hylander 1975) (A), and biomechanics of the mandible in the lateral proection (Hylander, 1979) (B).

The electromyographic data suggest that the muscles on the biting side are slightly more active than on the non-biting side (Moller 1966, 1970). Hylander (1979) and Gysi (1921) postulated that during powerful unilateral biting forces acting on the balancing condyle are probably greater than those on the working condyle. This probably explains why individuals with a painful temporomandibular joint bite on the side of the diseased joint (Ramjford and Ash, 1971). Biting on this side possibly results in less pain because the working condyle has less reactive force acting on it. Similarly incisor biting could be more painful to the diseased joint than molar biting because the reaction forces acting on the condyles are maximal. Hylander (1979) has implanted strain gauges in the condylar necks of macaques and found 50-60% less strain on the working side condyle compared to the balancing side when an animal was chewing apples. According to Hylander (1979), the contralateral mandibular condyle could have a large compressive reaction force acting across it during both unilateral mastication and molar biting, while lower levels of compressive stress act across the ipsilateral condyle during mastication. In some instances during unilateral molar biting, the ipsilateral condyle might even be free of stress, or there may be tensile stress acting across it. He further suggests that if the articular surfaces of the temporomandibular joint tend to be separated due to tensile stress, then possibly one of the functions of the temporomandibular ligament is to prevent the ipsilateral mandibular condyle being moved too far off the articular eminence.

Widening or narrowing of the dental arches may not, as Hylander (1975, 1984) has suggested, change the total magnitude of force at the condyles, but only the proportion borne by each condyle. The nature of muscle positions in the sagittal plane dictates that condylar forces will occur. If large condylar forces are present, the most efficient mechanism might be an equal distribution between right and left sides, minimizing the maximum load applied to each. This can be achieved by either widening the bicondylar dimension or narrowing dental arch width. Using a lever model Hylander (1975, 1979) reached the same conclusion regarding the pattern of morphological change to be expected but for different reasons.

In most of the early biomechanical models, the forces exerted by ligaments, soft tissues and other muscles were not considered, and the direction of the bite force and the direction and magnitude of muscle forces were largely unknown. It was assumed, that the mandible is made of homogeneous and isotropic rigid material with uniform cross-section and with all loads and reactions in the same plane.

Nevertheless, the many functional analysis of muscle positions using the lever model have demonstrated that important insights can be gained from this type of simplified approach.

CHAPTER VII

BIOMECHANICAL ANALYSIS OF THE MANDIBLE

Analytical calculation of internal forces in the joints and muscles of the musculoskeletal system has been one of the challenging topics in the field of biomechanics.

During function there are forces present at the skeletal joints. A joint is the interface where relative motion is permitted between two rigid bodies. It is the geometry of the contacting surfaces which defines the relative motion. In an anatomical joint, the articular surfaces are usually geometrically complex and somewhat compliant so that all anatomical joints are in reality six-degree-of freedom joints. This means that six independent parameters must be measured and described if the position of one body segment is to be defined accurately relative to the other. Unfortunately, both the measurement and the description of six-degree-of freedom motion are difficult to accomplish. In fact, it has only been in the last three decades that transducers and the electronic support equipment have become accurate enough to measure six-degree-of freedom anatomical motion reliably.

In general, equilibrium equations for force analysis of the musculoskeletal system are formulated by free-body force analysis in which the musculoskeletal system is considered as a linkage system of intercalated bony segments balanced by two groups of forces. The first group consists of the resultant passive constraint forces and moments exerted by the joint articulating surfaces and ligaments. The other group consists of the active tensions of tendons and muscles.

In the force equilibrium equations, the "coefficients" of the muscles represent the components of the unit force vector of the muscles in the respective co-ordinate axes. In moment equilibrium equations, the coefficients of the muscles represent the three components of the moment arm of the muscle force vector about the joint centre with respect to the three axes.

In the analytic determination of these muscle and joint forces, a frequently encountered difficulty is that the problem formulated is an indeterminate one, in which the number of unknown variables exceeds that of the equations. Therefore, no unique solution can be obtained. Many approaches have been developed to resolve this indeterminate problem. The most commonly used method is reduction of the excess number of unknown variables, either by grouping functionally similar muscles (Paul, 1965, 1967; Morrison, 1967; Nicol et al. 1977; Berme et al. 1977), or by eliminating them based on electromyographic observations (Barbanel, 1974; Pruim et al. 1978, 1980).

For example in the elbow, forces shared between co-operating muscles had been based on arbitrary assumed ratios (Simpson, 1975; Nicol, 1977), or further equations were introduced based on the hypothesis that force distribution among muscles depends on their cross sectional area during maximal forceful activities (Pauwels, 1980; Amis et al. 1980; Hui et al. 1978).

Another method of solution is to restrict the number of non-zero joint and muscle forces to the number of available equations and permute the choice of these non-zero variables from the set of all the muscle and joint forces. The technique has been used by Chao et al. (1976) for the finger, and Nissan (1981) for the knee, but has the disadvantage that it produces a range of possible values, not a unique solution.

Alternatively, the optimization methods has also been used for a unique solution. By using the optimization method, not only a unique solution can be obtained, but possible physiologically or pathologically based rationales for the solution can be associated. Based on the hypothesis of energy conservation, summation of muscle forces was initially selected as the optimization criterion (Yao, 1976; Crowninshield, 1978; Arvikar et al. 1978). However, the solution so obtained did not agree well with the evidence from electromyographic experiments. Weighted, linear combinations of muscle and joint forces have thus been used as new criteria. Unfortunately, due to the inherent characteristics of the linear optimization approach, only a few active muscles were predicted simultaneously for each solution. In light of this limitation, a nonlinear optimization method using nonlinear combinations of unknown variables as the objective function was used for solution. By comparing the analytic results with the number of electromyographically active muscles, the sum of squares of muscle stress was found to be the most feasible criterion (Crowninshield et al. 1981). Unfortunately, mathematically the nonlinear optimization procedure is complicated, and global convergence of solution is not always guaranteed. In 1972 linear programming algorithm was used to obtain the solution more efficiently; (Barbanel, 1972; Campbell, 1977; An et al. 1984; Osborn and Baragar 1985). The solution of muscle force distribution based on the proposed predicted the same number of active muscles for the same given loading condition as that using the sum of square of muscle forces or muscle stress as the objective function.

108

However, the concept of this optimization approach was quite different from those previously used in summations of muscle force or stress, or their nonlinear combinations. All optimization procedures previously used to minimize the sum of unknown force , variables have been more or less based on consideration of overall efforts of the system. However, from an energy storage and transport viewpoint, each muscle bundle has its own storage and blood supply. An et al. (1984) in constructing the optimization criteria assumed that for each muscle, the endurance was inversely proportional to the muscle stress. They have reported that the method was well suited for two and three dimensional analyses.

The biomechanics of the mandible have proved difficult to analyze due to the complexity of movements. Even though estimation of the temporomandibular forces from mathematical models has a long history it has lead to quite conflicting results. The greatest controversy - as mentioned in previous chapter in detail - has been over whether the temporomandibular joint is even a load bearing joint or not. It is however now generally accepted that the temporomandibular joint is load bearing under most normal conditions, and that the balancing side condyle is more heavily loaded during a unilateral bite.

A complete model of all the forces contributing to the temporomandibular joint reaction force would be complex, including at least ten muscle force vectors, the bite force vector, and force vectors contributed by connective tissues, with all vectors determined in three dimensions.

With an exception of few previous investigations and the present study, most of the temporomandibular joint force models are two-dimensional, two/four muscle models. The predictions made from such models are incomplete because the forces and moments operate in three dimensions and their projections onto a plane suppress what may be important biomechanical aspects of the system.

In general terms, calculations of the temporomandibular joint reaction force requires three sets of information:

i) the magnitude and direction of the bite force,

ii) the magnitude and directions of each muscle force, and

iii) the lengths of the moment arms of the bite and muscle forces.

109

The magnitude and direction of the bite force can be directly measured with force transducers (Hylander, 1978; Pruim et al., 1978) and the lengths of the moment arms can be estimated from lateral cephalograms of human subjects.

However, as in the case for measuring joint forces directly, direct measurement of the magnitude and direction of muscle forces requires invasive techniques not suitable for human subjects and probably the results would be questionable (Osborn and Baragar, 1985).

7.1 Direction of Muscle Forces.

Little has been done to accurately determine directions of force for the jaw muscles; indeed, there have been no experimental studies to accurately measure the directions of the jaw muscle forces. A number of studies arbitrarily selected directions for the jaw elevator forces which were consistent with preconceived biomechanical theories but without any supporting biological data (Wilson, 1920; Robinson, 1946; Page, 1954; Gingerich, 1971; Roberts, 1974; Smith, 1978).

Several biomechanical studies have used a single resultant muscle force, but no methods were given for determining this resultant (Hekneby, 1974; Gosen, 1974; Greaves, 1978).

A relatively simple method for estimating the directions of the jaw muscle forces is to use the line between the centres of the origins and insertions of the muscles (Mainland and Hiltz, 1934; Jansen and Davy, 1975; Pruim et al. 1980; Weijs and Dantuma, 1981; Osborn and Baragar, 1985); or to use prominant landmarks in lateral cephalograms (Throckmorton et al., 1980; Finn et al. 1980a, 1980b).

More complicated attempts to determine the direction of the jaw muscle forces have taken into account relative strengths of different portions of the muscles. Gysi (1921) divided the jaw muscles into arbitrary portions, determined the direction of the vector bisecting each portion, and calculated the magnitude of each vector based upon the thickness of each portion. Carlsoo (1952) undertook a complex method of estimating force directions by estimating the cross-sectional area of portions of the muscle and taking into account the lengths of the muscle fibres and the pinnation angle in each portion. The most complex analysis of jaw muscle force directions have used anatomical dissections to divide the muscles into as many as twelve different fascicles, and thus twelve different force vectors on each side (Gaspard et al., 1973a, 1973b, 1973c, 1974; Baron, 1975; Baron and Debussy, 1979).

Several investigators (Shumacher, 1961; Weijs, 1980) have argued that the direction of the jaw muscle forces is probably continuously changing during normal function and that assigning a single, constant direction for each of the jaw muscle forces is probably impossible. However, one should keep in mind that, the relationships between electromyographic activity and muscle force direction in different portions of the muscle, the cross sectional area of portions of the muscle, and changes in the relative positions of the origins and insertions of the muscles during function, has not been established experimentally.

7.2 Magnitude of Muscle Forces.

Two methods have been used to estimate the magnitude of the muscle forces. Gysi (1921), Mainland and Hiltz (1934), Carlsoo (1952), Schumacher (1961), Pruim et al. (1980) attempted to estimate the force generated by each muscle from the total cross sectional area of the muscle. Although techniques for measurement of the physiological cross-sectional area of complex muscles are improving, they still contain uncertainities (Weijs and Hillen, 1984). In addition it is highly possible that some parts of the muscles are selectively co-activated during normal functional movements.

In the second method (Barbanel, 1974; Pruim et al. 1978, 1980) the integrated electromyogram (IEMG) from each muscle was used as an estimate of muscle force. The IEMG value has been shown to be proportional to isometric tension (Inman et al., 1952; Lippold, 1952) but transformation of IEMG values into units of force requires an empirically determined proportionality constant which may not be the same for all muscles. Because of these uncertainties in determining the magnitude of the muscle forces, calculations of the joint reaction forces from mechanical models has been thought to be too imprecise for quantitative analysis of joint load.

7.3 Bite Force Analysis.

Bite force measurements have been used as a noninvasive method for assessing properties of the craniofacial complex including craniofacial biomechanics (Fields et al. 1982; Proffit et al. 1983; Ringqvist, 1973; Throckmorton et al., 1980, 1985) and the strength (Black, 1895; Brekhaus et al. 1941; DeBoever et al., 1978; Dechow and Carlson, 1982; Pruim et al. 1978, 1980), electrical activity (Garrett et al., 1964; Palla and Ash, 1981) and length-tension relationship (Dechow and Carlson, 1982, 1983; Manns et al. 1979; Nordstrom and Yemm, 1974; Thexton and Hiiemae, 1975) of the muscles of mastication.

Many studies have been carried out with the object of calculating the bite force. General reviews of investigations in this area are given by Brawley and Sedwich (1940), Strenger (1949), and Jenkins (1966).

There is a wide range of maximum values for bite force reported by different authors. Disparities in the materials investigated and differences in the techniques and instruments used may account for this.

Large inter individual variations in bite force were found in most studies, but few attempts have been made to explain these variations. In one study (Brekhaus et al., 1941) it was reported that females maximum biting loads range from 351N to 440N whereas males biting loads vary from 525N to 630N. The greatest maximum biting force reported is in the male Eskimo 1557N (Waugh, 1937).

Linderholm and Wennstrom (1970) reported that no correlation between bite force and muscle force or body build could be observed. Body build and muscle force by the extremities and of the trunk were positively correlated by Lindegard (1953), Asmussen and Heeboll-Nielsen (1961).

Ringqvist (1973) found that the muscle activity during maximal bite is positively correlated to mandibular prognatism, anterior inclination of the mandible and a small gonion angel. There were no significant relationship between bite force and maximal mandibular movements. They have concluded that in healthy individuals bite force and mobility of the mandible seems to function independent of each other.

The amount of force placed on the teeth during mastication varies greatly from individual to individual. A study by Gibbs et al. (1981) reports that the grinding phase of the closure stroke averaged 260N on the posterior teeth.

This represented 36.2% of the subject's maximum bite force. The maximum biting force during clenching ranged from 245N to 1245N. They also reported that there was no correlation of biting force either to sex or age.

It has also been reported that the maximum amount of force applied to a molar is usually several times that which can be applied to an incisor (Waugh, 1937).

In another study (Howell and Manly, 1948), the range of maximum force applied to the first molar was 405N to 880N whereas the maximum force applied to the central incisors was 129N to 227N.

Garner and Kotwal, (1973) has reported that the maximum biting force appears to increase with age up to adolescence.

It has also been demonstrated that individuals can increase their maximum biting force over time with practice and exercise (Brekhaus et al. 1941; Worner and Anderson, 1944).

Manns and Spreng (1977) in a study comparing submaximal masticatory force and EMG during prolonged isometric contractions of the human masseter and temporal muscles at different elongations, have found that around 12 to 20 mm jaw opening the masseter muscle reaches almost maximum elongation. It is generally accepted that muscular elongation, or more precisely the sarcomere length of each fibre of a skeletal muscle, determines its ability to produce active tension (Fulton, 1955). The tension created by contraction heightens as muscular elongation increases until it reaches a peak, and then tension decreases. Their results differ from those of Boos (1940) and Tueller (1969) which found that the strongest bite force was reached when jaw opening was near occlusion.

Boucher et al., (1959) found that there was progressive increase of masticatory force as jaw opening increased up to a level of 9 mm.

Manns et al. (1979) found that for each experimental subject there was an optimum physiologic muscular elongation, where the masseter muscle develops the strongest force with minimum EMG activity (Fig. 46).





The linear relationship between biting forces during isometric contractions and integrated EMG has been demonstrated by Garret et al. (1964), Ahlgren (1966) and Ahlgren and Owall (1970),

Pruim et al. (1980) combined several approaches in a study using human subjects clenching symmetrically on a bar placed transversely across the jaws at the levels of the first premolar, the first or second molar. They measured the EMG activity in selected muscles for different bite forces. After making several assumptions they calculated from the equations for static equilibrium , the magnitude of the bite force and the force each muscle was producing. They reported that maximum bite forces are most often exerted in the first molar region, where maximum contraction of all muscles leads to a force resultant in the direction required for static equilibrium. They have also reported that the range of maximum bite force applied to the first molar was 609N to 1308N (both sides summed), second molar 403N to 1206N, whereas the maximum force applied to the central incisors was 386N to 908N which was higher than the previously reported values.

7.4 Barbanel Analysis:

Barbanel's work (1972) was the first analysis of the mandible which contained the basics of the modern biomechanical theories. Even that analysis was restricted to two dimensions and the predictions made were incomplete, important insights were gained for future mathematical/biomechanical models.

Barbanel (1972) used a minimization principle to predict which muscles are utilized to produce a specified bite force. In two different models (1972 and 1981) he required that either the total joint reaction or the sum of the tensions in the muscles should be a minimum (Fig. 47 and 48).

The mandibular muscles considered in the analysis were temporal, masseter, medial and lateral pterygoid muscles. The lines of action of these muscles were determined by dissection. In order to include the influence of deep fibres of the muscle in the analysis a dissection was undertaken to determine the position of centroids of area of origin and insertion. The assumption was made that the line joining these points was the line of action of the muscle.

The results obtained from the alignment of the elevator muscles were compared with those of Mainland and Hiltz (1934), (TABLE IV).



Figure 47 Co-ordinate axis used in joint force analysis of Barbanel (1972,1981), the x axis is directed inwards along intercondylar axis. The y axis is parallel to the Frankfort plane (F-F).

	x	У	Z	moment arm (a) cm
MASSETER TEMPORALIS	-0.12 -0.18	0.55 7 0.04 -0.46 7 0.03	0.81 7 0.02 0.84 7 0.01	2.7 7 0.2 2.6 7 0.17
MEDIAL PIERYGOID	0.38 0.39	0.5+0.05 0.91	0.78+0.04 -0.17	0.0

Muscle force parameters according to Barbanel (1972).



Figure 48 Muscles considered in the analysis (a), occlusal load and joint force parameter (b), (redrawn from Barbanel 1972, 1983).

The forces acting on the mandible at the stage of biting when the jaw is stationary were given as:

The occlusal load: Barbanel (1983) assumed that this load has a magnitude of L, and directed at an angle Θ to the z axis. The L load has a moment about the x intercondylar axis of:

 $L(y. \cos \theta + z. \sin \theta)$

y and z are the co-ordinates of the point ,where the line of action of the occlusal load L intersected the occlusal plane.

The temporomandibular joint force resultant was assumed to have a magnitude R and to act at an angle Φ to the z axis. All the forces were assumed to be symmetrical with respect to the mid-line and to have an equal magnitude on the right and left side of the mandible.

When the mandible is at rest under the action of these forces, the three equations of equilibrium can be written:

Fz components:

$$0.84 F_{\rm M} + 0.84 F_{\rm T} + 0.78 F_{\rm I} - 0.17 F_{\rm E} - R \cos \Phi - L \cos \Theta = 0$$
 7.1

Fy components:

$$0.55 F_{M} - 0.46 F_{T} + 0.50 F_{I} + 0.91 F_{E} - R \sin \Phi - L \sin \Theta = 0 \qquad 7.2$$

The sum of total moment:

2.7
$$F_M + 2.6 F_T + 2.3 F_I - L (y \cos \Theta + z \sin \Theta) = 0$$
 7.3

There are six unknown quantities in these three equations, and the values of these unknown quantities cannot be obtained by the direct solution of the equations.

Linear programming method (Gass 1975) was used to solve this problem. Using this technique, a function which is known as the objective function, may be minimized subject to additional linear constraints.

The objective function chosen was the unweighted sum of the muscle forces. The equations of equilibrium served as the additional linear constraints which required to be satisfied by the solution obtained for the objective function.

The solutions to the equations were explored using an iterative method, in which values were assigned to the parameters associated with the occlusal load, and to (cos Φ), and the minimum value of the objective function located.

The values of the parameters were then systematically altered to cover the range which was considered anatomically and physically possible and the procedure repeated to locate the minimum value of the set of solutions to the objective function. All the solutions obtained showed that when the sum of the muscle forces was a minimum, the only active muscles were the masseters.

After utilizing minimum muscle force hypothesis, he rejected the solutions because they couldn't satisfy the necessary conditions - that there be an agreement between the muscles predicted as being active and those shown to be active. He further concluded that there was no evidence that either of the minimum principles employed is applicable to physiological function.

7.5 Pruim, Ten Bosch and DeJough Analysis:

In 1978 Pruim et al. described a method to relate the muscles of mastication EMG activity to static bite forces. Bite forces were measured bilaterally in several positions on the human dentition by means of small wedge shaped transducers. Electromyographic methods were used to derive a relative measure of the activity in the depressor and elevator muscles. They reported that there was no doubt a linear relationship between IEMG activity and the force exerted by individual muscles in isometric conditions did exist. Their main conclusion was that alinearity of individual muscle EMG activity with respect to the external force is or may be due to increased action of antagonists at high bite forces and the role of the opener muscles as antagonists should not be neglected in a muscle force analysis.

In 1980 Pruim et al. chose a mechanical approach to calculate all muscle forces and the forces in the temporomandibular joints during bilateral biting at three different locations on the human dentition. Bite forces were measured bilaterally by means of two calibrated steel transducers. EMG activity was measured by using surface electrodes (activity in the lateral pterygoid muscles were not recorded).

For geometrical data standardized lateral and frontal x-ray cephalograms were used. During the bite force measurement, condyle was located opposite the tubercle and not in the articular fossa (Fig. 49).



Figure 49 Mathematical model based on Pruim et al.(1981)' s work. The origin was chosen to coincide with the condylar centre, and x-axis is parallel to the occlusal bite plane.

119

Several geometrical and anatomical assumptions were made for the mathematical model. Forces exerted by contracting muscles were represented by vectors. The direction of these vectors were defined by the connecting lines between the centroids of the origins and the insertions of the muscles. Descriptions of these areas of attachment were derived from the anatomical literature (Fick, 1904; Schumacher, 1961; Sicher and DuBrul, 1975). Forces of the masseter and medial pterygoid muscles were represented by a single vector. Most importantly to minimize the vertical component, lateral pterygoid was assumed to act in x direction.

With respect to electrical activity and to muscle force they have assumed that masseter EMG activity was also representative for the medial pterygoid muscle. The activity in the floor of the mouth was representative for the mouth openers.

The maximum force exerted by a muscle during an entire experimental session was assumed to be equal to the physiological maximum force of that muscle (F_m (max.)).

For each experimental subject a muscle independent value Γ in Pascals was postulated. This value was related to the maximum force exerted by a muscle to its physiological cross section Φ_m in m².

$$F_m(max) = \Phi_m \cdot \Gamma$$
 7.4

The values of the physiological cross sections were as determined by Schumacher (1961) for males according to Buchner's (1877) method, corresponded to the values for the test subjects (Appendix III). The muscle force exerted during isometric contraction F_m was directly proportional to the integrated EMG (Lippold, 1952; Bigland and Lippold, 1954; Bergstrom, 1959; Goubel, 1971; Cnockaert et. al., 1975; Yemm, 1977; Pruim et al. 1978).

The relationship between the EMGI and muscle force was expressed as:

$$F_{m} = \frac{\text{EMGI}_{m}(\text{actual})}{\text{EMGI}_{m}(\text{max})}$$

$$F_{m} = \frac{\text{EMGI}_{m}(\text{actual})}{\text{EMGI}_{m}(\text{max})}, \Gamma \times \Phi_{m} \qquad 7.5$$

 $EMGI_{m}$ (max) was the maximum value of $EMGI_{m}$ of a single muscle ever recorded from an electrode pair during a complete experimental session. The maximum EMG - activity in the floor of the mouth was recorded, prior to their test procedure.

For muscle physiological cross sectional areas Schumacher's (1961) values were used. For the temporal muscle the value was divided into posterior and anterior portions according to a ratio derived from Carlsoo (1952),(Appendix III).

Since there was no quantitative data available for the antagonistic muscles, four pairs of human anterior digastric muscles, were measured according to Schumacher's (1961) and Honee's (1970) methods. The results were variable and they have reported a mean cross section value per side of 0.8 cm^2 , standard deviation of 0.2 cm^2 . A physiological cross section of the antagonistic muscles of 1 cm^2 was assumed to be a close estimate for the total openers and was used in their calculations.

They have combined the corresponding forces acting on left and right halves of the mandible and projected the force vectors on a sagittal plane.

The laws of static equilibrium were used in calculating the force components and moment equilibrium equations.

$$\Sigma F_{m} \cdot a_{m} + F_{b} \cdot a_{b} = 0$$
 7.6

where F_m is the muscle force exerted during isometric contraction, F_b bite force, a_m moment arm of the muscle force, and a_b moment arm of the bite force, according to the condyle centre.

When the moments are referred to the origin and equation (7.5) is used, this leads to:

$$\Sigma \xrightarrow{\text{EMGI}_{m}(\text{actual})} \Gamma \cdot \Phi_{m} \cdot a_{m} + F_{b} \cdot a_{b} = 0 \qquad 7.7$$

$$EMGI_{m}(\text{max})$$

EMGI_m values and the sum of both bite forces were measured in each bite. Using the geometric and physiological data, muscle independent value was calculated using the equation (7.7). After substitution of Γ in equation (7.5) all forces in the levator and antagonistic muscles during that bite were calculated.

Joint forces (F_j) and lateral pterygoid muscle forces (F_p) were calculated using the equations (7.8) and (7.9).

 $\Sigma F_{m} \cdot \sin \alpha_{m} + F_{j} \cdot \sin \alpha_{j} - F_{b} = 0 \qquad 7.8$ $\Sigma F_{m} \cdot \cos \alpha_{m} + F_{j} \cdot \cos \alpha_{j} + F_{p} = 0 \qquad 7.9$

Averaged maximum muscle forces calculated with this method, when reduced to one side are higher than the data on theoretically calculated forces as given by Schumacher (1961) for all levator muscles and those for lateral pterygoid muscles as given by Honee (1970). All muscle forces as given by Carlsoo (1952, 1956) were higher than Pruim's (1980) values (Appendix III).

The values of maximum muscle tension Γ , found in Pruim's investigation, were much higher than the often used value of 1×10^6 N/m², originating from Johnson (1903) as cited by Fick (1910), (Appendix III).

Comparative data on maximum bite forces showed that the highest bite forces and muscle forces were most often exerted in the first molar region, where according to investigators, maximum contraction of all muscles leads to a force resultant in the direction required for static equilibrium.

Even that the method of analysis was only two-dimensional, application of this mechanical model to a group of subjects reconfirmed the validity of the method to study force patterns.

CHAPTER VIII

FINITE ELEMENT ANALYSIS IN BIOMECHANICS

When a structure is loaded, stresses are generated in its materials. The distribution of these stresses, their magnitudes and orientations throughout the structure, depend not only on the loading configuration, but also on the geometry of the structure and the properties of its materials. In addition, the stresses are influenced by the interaction of the structure with its environment and by physical conditions at boundaries between different materials. In a theoretical stress analysis the stress distribution is evaluated by using a mathematical model. In such a model, that represents the real structure to a certain degree of refinement, the structural aspects such as loading, geometry, material properties, boundary and interface conditions are described mathematically. The mathematical descriptions can be more or less accurate, depending on the level of refinement required, and are usually based on experimentally determined data. In the solution procedure, the structural descriptions are combined in mathematical equations based on theories of solid mechanics and these are solved to give the stresses.

Various solution methods are available in classic mechanics for certain classes of structures. The Finite Element Method, as a theoretical method of structural stress analysis, however, is suitable in principle for any structure. Geometries, material properties and loading of arbitrary complexity can be accounted for.

In using the method, the model as a geometric entity is defined first. This model is then mathematically divided into a number of blocks (elements), connected at specific locations, called nodal points or nodes. The boundary conditions and loading configurations are numerically defined, in boundary nodes. Every element is assigned one or more parameters that define its material behaviour.

The material properties of the actual structure can be isotropic or anisotropic and can vary from element to element. A uniformly distributed load over the surface of an element needs to be reallocated to the corresponding nodes of that element as the technique provides a load-displacement relationship at the nodes only, Zienkiewicz (1971). The key to the finite element solution is in evaluating the stiffness matrices of all elements individually by choosing a proper interpolation function. It defines displacement of a point within an element in terms of the nodal displacements. The proper interpolation function, also known as shape function, ensures compatibility on the boundary surface between elements and convergence of the solution. The displacement of a point within the element is given as

$$u(x,y) = [N] [u]^e$$
 (8.1)

where N is a matrix of shape functions, while $[u]^e$ is the displacement of the nodes of an element.

Further the following relations are applicable to small strains

 $[\epsilon] = [B] [u]$ (8.2) $[\sigma] = [D] [\epsilon]$ $[\sigma] = [D] [B] [u]$ (8.3)

Where matrix [B] is the partial derivative of the matrix [N] and matrix [D] is the elasticity matrix for the material of the element.

The principal of virtual work, the minimisation of energy or the weighted residual technique may be used to obtain the load displacement relationship for an element.

This is given by:

$$[P]^{e} = \int_{V} [B]^{T} [D] [B] \cdot dv \cdot [u]^{e}$$

= $[k]^{e} \cdot [u]^{e}$ (8.4)

where;

$$[k]^{\mathbf{e}} = \int_{V} [B]^{T} [D] [B] . dv$$

where $[B]^{T}$ is the transpose of matrix [B], and $[k]^{e}$ is the stiffness matrix for an element.

The stiffness matrices $[k]^e$ of the elements are assembled to form an overall stiffness matrix, [K]. This is related to the overall load vector, [P] and displacement, [U] by:

[P] = [K] [U](8.5)

This set of simultaneous linear equations is solved to determine the unknown displacement field and thereafter stresses are evaluated using equation (8.3).

The procedures described in equations 8.1 to 8.4 are carried out automatically in finite element programs. The program calculates the stiffness characteristics of each element and assembles the element mesh through mutual forces and displacements in each node. The computer time needed depends progressively on the number of elements applied, and on the element type ($F_{ig.50}$).

In interpreting the FEM results we must differentiate between the validity of the model, (the precision by which the entity of methematical descriptions of structural aspects such as loading, geometry, material properties, boundary and interface conditions represents the real structure), and the accuracy of the model, (the precision by which the FEM mesh can approximate the exact solution for the model). The accuracy of the model can be tested by increasing the number of elements or benchmark tests on similar structures for which the exact solution is known. The validity of the model must be assessed by experimental verification or other means.

A variety of element types are usually available for 3-D and 2-D structures in an FEM computer package, different in their number of nodal points and their shapes. The computer time required for 3-D elements is many times higher as compared to 2-D elements.





FEM programs are usually applied in combination with pre processors and post processors, computer programs that handle the element division and the graphical representation of the results, respectively.

The finite element method, after about ten years from its initiation (Turner, 1956) in stress analysis of structures in engineering mechanics was first used by Wiederhielm et al. (1968) for the structural response of arterioles and later by Kobayashi et al. (1971) for the stress analysis of the corneo-scleral shell, Brekelmans et al. (1972) for the mechanical behaviour of skeletal parts and Tesk and Widera (1973) for the stress distributions in oral implantology.

Finite element analysis is presently being used to investigate the stress related architecture of bone and bone remodelling processes, to test and to optimize artificial joint designs and fracture fixation devices, and to study the mechanical behaviour of tissues such as articular cartilage and intervertebral discs.

In its initial years of introduction to the biomechanics field, the FEM has sometimes regarded as a magic tool to solve all problems. Few scientists in the field were specialised in its use or aware of its capabilities and limitations. Suspicion became evident when a number of optimistic users appeared to rely on it as a tool to generate solutions without carefully formulating the problem. The complexity of biological structures was often underestimated. In particular, little was known about joint and muscle loading, and the rheologic properties of bone and connective tissues, let alone their stress failure mechanisms and biologic reactions to stress.

The practical potential of the FEM for modelling complex structures adequately was often overestimated. Suited in principle for structures of arbitrary complexity, its application to three dimensional and/or nonlinear structures is still tedious and expensive. Although these limitations are gradually diminishing through biomechanics research, computer software and advances, the time and efforts this would require were not fully appreciated during the early stages.

In all fairness, however, it must be said that the greater part of the efforts in this second decade of the FEM in biomechanics were method oriented rather than problem-oriented. Progress was made towards closer and more precise definitions of problems, and a more balanced multidisciplinary approach to their solutions. Although many analyses have not led to solutions of realistic problems directly, they have served indirectly in demonstrating advances in methodology to the biomechanics field and in guiding experimental biomechanics research , for instance, in the areas of materials testing and functional force evaluation (Huiskes, 1983). FEM analysis are based on theories of continuum mechanics. The continuum materials involved in the analysis of bones are cortical (or compact) bone, and trabecular (or spongeous) bone. No material is continuous at any level, but trabecular bone is even noncontinuous on a macroscopic level, hence it is a structure rather than only a material.

In quasi-static loading both cortical and trabecular bone, although anisotropic and nonhomogeneous, behave elastilyc by approximation. Their elastic properties depend on such factors as age, species and mineral content; hence, variability between subjects can be high. It must be appreciated that bone is a biological tissue. Its structure at any moment represents an equilibrium between continuous processes of resorption and formation, which may be affected by outside stimuli of a chemical, mechanical and electrical nature. There are many indications that bone architecture is influenced by stresses or strains, a relation expressed in "Wolff's Law" (Wolff, 1870; Koch, 1917), which is actually a hypothesis (Hayes et al., 1982). Excellent reviews on the biomechanics of bone were edited by Cowin (1981). Bone loading due to muscle and gravitational forces is dynamic and little is known regarding its real characteristics and magnitudes (Chao and An 1982).

The femur is the bone most frequently analyzed due to historical developments and its common involvement in orthopaedic treatments, such as prosthetic replacement of the hip joint. The early FEM was adopted for stress analyses of the femur by Brekelmans et al. (1972), and Rybicki et al. (1972). As most of the early efforts, their analysis were not so much directed at a specific problem, but aimed at demonstrating the possibilities of the FEM. Both applied 2-D plane stress elements of uniform thickness, although Rybicki et al., analyzing the proximal part of the bone only, accounted for non-uniform thickness by varying the Young's moduli of the elements. Results were compared with those of a 2-D beam model analysis, yielding good agreement in the diaphyseal part only. A comparable model was used by Wood et al. (1973), who applied 2-D elements by variable thickness.

The earlier investigations of the mandibular system by Tesk et al.(1973) utilized two-dimensional plane stress, plane strain linear elastic finite-element analysis. In these studies, all bone was treated as being isotropic and homogeneous, with the boundaries of the model of the implant tissue system extending essentially to infinity in the lateral direction.

127

8.1 Finite Element Analysis in Orthopaedic Systems:

Early 3-D FEM models of the femur were those of Scholten (1975) and Olofsson (1976), followed by Valliappan et al. (1977), Harris et al. (1978) and Rohlmann et al. (1982). The problems associated with data manipulation, interpretation and representation, frequently more demanding in 3-D FEM analysis, were clearly demonstrated in these publications. Some models contained a high degree of sophistication (Fig. 51). These earlier investigations were, in fact, all method oriented, focusing on the application of the FEM itself, with little emphasis on problem-oriented solutions within a specific investigation. All in some way compared results of different approaches such as beam, 2-D, 3-D, or experimental analysis techniques. The data generated for the shaft of the femur compared favourably among different mathematical models. Deviations were more extensive, however, in the proximal region.

The early 3-D model by Scholten (1975) is a refined one, even according to present standards, with probably the highest mesh density to date. The models presented by Valliappan et al. (1977) are rather rough in comparison, but consist of higher order elements. Only these authors report an extensive convergency test by increasing the number of elements to check the adequacy of the mesh.



Figure 51 Element meshes of the human femur; 2-D mesh of 936 triangular 3-node elements (537 nodes)(Brekelmans et al. 1972); 3-D mesh of 1950 8-node isoparametric hexahedron elements (2532 nodes)(Rohlmann et al., 1980).
Few authors have correlated theoretical and experimental results in detail. Valliappan et al. (1977) compared FEM results with those of stress-coat experiments, revealing good agreement in a relative sense but poor in an absolute sense. The same conclusions was reached by Rohlmann et al. (1982), based on a comparison between 3-D FEM and strain-gauge experimental results from paired femoral bones.

The mechanics of the femoral head in the presence of avascular necrosis - a local degeneration of the trabecular bone - were studied by Brown et al. (1980). This was a good example of a more problem-oriented approach in which the FEM can play a significant role. Other examples of problem-oriented studies, employing relatively simple FEM models, are those pertaining to bone growth and remodelling. Hayes et al. (1978, 1982), have attempted to correlate the trabecular bone architecture of the human patella and its stress distribution for the quantification of Wolff's hypothesis. Using a 2-D FEM model, they found that high Von Mises effective stress correlates with regions of high trabecular density, and they re-established that the trabecular structure aligns itself with principal stress orientations. They also demonstrated that anisotropy of trabecular bone hardly affects the stress distribution if its nonhomogeneity is correctly accounted for.

A number of FEM stress analysis of bones have been designed for problems of fracture, fracture fixation, and bone remodelling.

Two dimensional FEM models considering the femoral hip prosthetic component were analyzed by Hampton et al. (1976, 1981), Andriacchi et al. (1976), Svensson et al. (1977), Kwak et al. (1979), Yettram and Wright (1979, 1980), Cook et al. (1980), Sih et al. (1981), and Skinner et al. (1982). Varying degrees of mesh refinement were used, different phosthetic designs simulated, and several questions addressed. Influences of varus-valgus placement, acrylic cement layer thickness, stem shape and material were investigated principally. In the majority of these FEM analyses, linear elasticity, isotropy and homogeneity of cortical and trabecular bone were assumed, whereas interfaces were modelled as rigidly bonded. Realistic nonhomogeneity of trabecular bone, based on experimental data, was taken into account by Roehrle et al. (1977) and Scholten et al. (1978). The effects of anisotropy in cortical bone were investigated by Valliappan et al. (1980) and Vichnin and Batterman (1982,1986).

The nonlinear effects of cement-metal interface loosening were studied by Svensson et al. (1977), Huiskes and Schouten (1980a) and Hampton et al. (1981). It became evident from these 2-D analysis that slip and tensile loosening at the element connection has a highly significant effect on cement and interface stresses, whereas those in the stem and the bone are less seriously affected.

129

An informative study was performed by Rohlmann et al. (1980) to evaluate the accuracy of a 3-D FEM model, as compared to experimental strain-gauge measurements on a laboratory model, related to a femoral THR structure. A prosthesis was fixed with acrylic cement in a metal tube. This experimental model was investigated with the 3-D FEM, using a mesh of moderate refinement (8 node- 232 hexahedron elements), (Fig.52) when compared to other analysis published in this area.





Although the trends established were more or less equal in both cases where the most significant stresses on the "medial" side of the tube were concerned, they found considerable differences between the experimental and theoretical stress results at certain locations, specifically the "lateral" side of the tube which simulates the bone. They attribute these deviations mainly to interface loosening, occurring in the experimental mode and not simulated in the FEM model.

An improved model was carried out by Svensson et al. (1980). Their experimental configuration was in principle the same as described above, but strain measurements were taken on the prosthesis in this case. Their mesh density was somewhat less (167 elements), but their elements were more sophisticated (20 node isoparametric hexahedrons). They compared experimental stresses in the stem with those of theoretical results, assuming bonded surfaces and later allowing slip to occur at the cement-stem interface. In the first case agreement was poor (up to 40% lower in the FEM results), in the second case it was remarkably good.

In an investigation to determine the effects of the presence of two lengths of proximal Muller prosthesis on predicted failure loads as compared to those for an intact femur was carried out by Vichnin and Batterman (1986). Three-dimensional stresses in a bone-cement-prosthesis system were determined, with both isotropic and transversely isotropic material properties used for the diaphyseal cortex. Significant increases in prosthesis stem stresses were found when the transversely isotropic material properties were employed in the diaphyseal cortex. They have further concluded that accurate anisotropic material properties for bone are essential for precise stress determination and optimum design in prosthetic implants.

Anand et al. (1976) and Ducheyne et al. (1978) studied the influences of bone ingrowth in porous watings of intramedullary fixated stems, using axisymmetric FEM models in which the elastic moduli of the coatings were adapted to account for the ingrown material.

Seidelmann et al. (1982) investigated the head-stem connection in prostheses with ceramic heads, using 2-D and axisymmetric models.

Stress analysis of the acetabular cup component in total hip replacement have become popular only recently, probably due to the relatively late occurrence of cup loosening and the complicated geometry of the pelvis. A 2-D FEM model of this structure was developed by Vasu et al. (1982) to demonstrate changes in the acetabular stress patterns after joint replacement. ¹ Carter et al. (1982), using the similar models and Bartel et al. (1985), studied effects of adding a metal encasement over the plastic prosthetic component and also evaluated the influences of acrylic cement thickness. Three dimensional FEM models as reported by Oonishi (1981), Goel et al. (1981), and Oonishi et al. (1983) have better potential in modelling the complicated acetabular geometry in principle.

A relatively new hip joint replacement, known as the "resurfacing" prosthesis, contains a metal cup placed over the femoral head to replace its articular surface. The FEM was used to evaluate this procedure in a 2-D model by Shybut et al. (1980) and in an axisymmetric model 3-D loading and stress fields by Huiskes and Heck (1981).

The axisymmetric model (Fig.53) better represents the 3-D structural integrity of the metal cup, however, realistic inhomogeneity of trabecular bone can only be included in the 3-D model.



Figure 53 FEM analysis of the femoral component of a hip surface replacement.Note the local mesh refinement in regions where high stress gradients are expected (Huiskes and Heck, 1981).

FEM analysis in artificial knee joint design and fixation become more frequent in the late seventies. With some exceptions, all studies have dealt with the tibial component fixation exclusively, which indeed is the part giving the most problems in patients. The tibial and femoral stem fixation of hinged prostheses were analyzed in 3-D models by Roehrle et al. (1980, 1982), and the tibial fixation alone in axisymmetric models, taking 3-D loading into account by Campen et al. (1979), Croon et al. (1982). The tibial plateau fixation of non-hinged surface replacement prostheses was investigated using 2-D models by Lewis (1977), Hayes et al. (1978), Vichnin et al. (1979), and Askew and Lewis (1981).

Most of these studies were directed at the function of the central post, used to fixate the plateau in the tibia (Fig.54).





The Lewis et al. (1982) model specifically is quite anatomical, including nonhomogeneous trabecular bone properties.

An axisymmetric FEM model of the tibial plateau fixation without central post was reported by Shrivastava et al. (1980), whereas axisymmetric geometry taking 3-D loading into account was studied by Murase et al. (1983). Hori et al. (1982) have investigated the effects of a soft tissue layer between the tibial implant and the bone on the local stress distribution and fixation strength, using a nonlinear FEM approach. Such a soft tissue line can often be seen to appear in postoperative roentogenograms after sometime. It was shown to have a significant influence on interface shear stresses in their study.

In revising failed total joint replacements with extensive bone loss and for bone and joint reconstruction after tumour resection, the use of "custom fit" prostheses is increasingly in demand. In the design and selection of these devices, the FEM has been used by Chao (1980) in an axisymmetric model to evaluate a specific type of ceramic prosthesis based on extra cortical fixation, which has been applied in shoulder prostheses.

Analysis of prosthetic components other than in the hip and knee joints have been rare. Joints that are also replaced relatively frequently are those in the hand. An axisymmetric FEM analysis (3-D loading) of a intramedullary fixation system for finger-joint prostheses was carried out by Huiskes et al. (1980). Stress results were compared in detail with histological findings in animal experiments in a related study, and some corresponding effects were found.

8.2 Finite Element Analysis in Oral Systems:

The application of the finite element stress analysis technique, to the biomechanical investigations of the oral systems such as human tooth, periodontal membrane, implant design and mandibular bone modelling, surprisingly has not been initiated until the early 1970's.

Starting with the early experimental work by Burstone (1962), Davidian (1971) developed and used a first-order computer model to examine the distribution of stresses along the root of a maxillary central incisor after an external force was applied to the crown. Using several simplifying assumptions regarding the periodontal membrane, Davidian calculated the stress and displacement at several levels in the periodontal membrane and the centre of rotation of the tooth. The theoretical centres of tooth rotation compared well with those measured by Burstone.

This work was extended by Daly et al. (1972), who developed a finite element mathematical model of the human central incisor-periodontal ligament (PDL) structure and analyzed this model using numerical computer analysis procedures. The results of their work, supported by clinical experiments, have led to a better structural characterization of the PDL and an improved understanding of tooth mobility.

In 1973 Thresher and Saito using two dimensional plane strain finite element method, modelled the maxillary central incisor (Fig. 55). They used the simple triangular elements and applied a concentrated force to the tip of the tooth in the transverse direction subjecting the tooth to a bending stress. They have reported that, the major portion of the load was carried by the enamel portion of the tooth. They concluded that a three dimensional analysis was necessary for teeth of more complicated geometry. Farah et al. (1973) used both the photoelastic and the finite elements methods to study the stress distribution in the first molar with a full crown preparation. They adopted an axisymmetric idealization and used the triangular elements for discretization. In their model the tooth was loaded axisymmetrically with a 50 kg load. They have concluded that the finite element axisymmetric model yields an approximate yet reliable information concerning the stress distribution in the first molar compared to the photo elastic method. In order to illustrate the necessity of using a three dimensional analysis for a more realistic stress distribution in the first molar, a two-dimensional axisymmetric and three dimensional analysis were carried out by Goel and Valliappan (1976). For the axisymmetric analysis, isoparametric cubic quadrilateral elements whereas both linear and quadratic brick elements were used for the three-dimensional analysis.

While the loading pattern in the first case was axisymmetric, the same loading over a similar area was applied in the three dimensional analysis for the purpose of comparison. An arbitrary load of 25 kg was assumed to be acting vertically.

They have reported that at all sections of the models the maximum stresses given by the axisymmetric model are much higher - approximately 30 percent - than those predicted by three dimensional analysis. They have further concluded that the difference in the stress distribution predicted by the "quadratic" and "linear" element models in the three-dimensional analysis is negligible indicating that the results obtained by either model are acceptable as long as approximately the same total number of nodes are used in the discretization.





While contributions to this expanding base of biomechanics methodology are being made few studies directly relating to oral implantology have also emerged. Tesk and Widera (1973) have analyzed the effects of the states of stress arising from matched and mismatched elastic moduli between bone and dental implants. A two-dimensional finite element analysis was used to investigate the distribution of stress in the alveolar bone surrounding a vitallium blade implant. (Fig.56). Their results showed areas of concentration of high tensile stress in addition to compressive stresses. In their conclusions they stressed the need for studying the biomechanical effects of implant geometry in order to determine if bone resorption may possibly be induced by the design shapes of dental implants.



Figure 56 Basic model of implant in bone (Tesk and Widera, 1973).

Using similar models and methods Privitzer et al. (1974), and Widera et al. (1976) utilized both two-dimensional plane stress, plane strain, and three-dimensional axisymmetric linear elastic finite element analysis, (Fig.57). In these studies, all bone was treated as being isotropic and homogeneous, with the boundaries of the model of the implant-tissue system extending essentially to infinity in the lateral direction. On the basis of the results obtained, they have reported that an encapsulating periodontal membrane provides very beneficial and necessary effects. The optimum thickness of membrane was shown to be 0.4 mm to provide an approximately tenfold reduction in stress around a tooth or implant relative to one which did not have a membrane. Beyond this thickness, essentially no reduction in stress was reported.

136





Based on the anatomical form and dimension, human tooth, periodontal membrane, and mandibular bone was simulated by using two dimensional finite element analysis by Kitoh et al. (1977). They have investigated the effect of the Poisson's ratio on periodontal membrane under the occlusal forces.

In their model, they have assumed that the elastic modulus represented the elastic properties in the periodontal membrane and the Poisson's ratio represented the non-elastic or visco elastic properties. The form and dimension of the model was decided by tracing the sliced human dry mandible at the centre of the lower first premolar. The traced model was divided into 299 triangles with 144 nodal points (Fig.58). Each nodal point was plotted in x-y co-ordinates according to the anatomical dimension of a human enamel, dentin, periodontal membrane, spongy bone, and cortical bone. The mechanical properties of enamel, dentin, spongy bone, and cortical bone were based on the published data. Mechanical properties of human periodontal membrane was investigated under a constant Poisson's ratio of 0.499 and varied elastic moduli. The tooth was loaded 0.04 kg in buccolingual direction.



Figure 58 Finite element model of first premolar (Kitoh et al., 1977).

They have reported that the displacement of periodontal membrane is much larger than that of the tooth and mandibular bone under occlusal load. Their analysis did not include the true visco-elastic behaviour of the periodontal membrane, and their results on the displacement in only two dimensional analysis of a single section was not sufficient enough to satisfy the total boundary conditions that exist in the mandibular system.

Despite the fact that these earlier investigations could demonstrate the suitability of finite element method to simulate models equivalent to human joints and for examining the internal stresses and it's displacement, until late 1970's, very little attention has been given to the tooth/implant-periodontal membrane - bone inteface. Implant-bone interface assumptions are critical in the prediction of implant displacement and hence the state of stress surrounding tissue. If the implant-bone biomechanical interaction is not properly characterized design decisions based upon erroneous stress levels in surrounding tissue could be made.

Atmaram et al. (1978) have determined the effect of a pseudo-peridontal membrane at the implant bone interface with finite element analysis. Cylindrical dental implants fabricated from materials with a broad range of elastic modulus were used in the study. It was found that when a pseudo-periodontal membrane is incorporated in the model, it alone dictates the resulting stress distribution in implant and surrounding tissue, irrespective of the implant material employed, provided that the membrane is less stiff than either the implant or surrounding bone. The results indicated that the incorporation of the pseudo-periodontal membrane had an advantgeous effect on maximum alveolar stress for implants fabricated from vitallium or titanium and a deleterious effect on alveolar stress for vitreous carbon implants.

To determine the implant-bone interface characteristics for bioglass dental implants, three-dimensional finite element analysis was used by Weinstein et al. (1980). The finite element grid system was developed from a geometric analysis of a representative canine mandible; the implant site was modelled to represent that used in the animals. Fourteen buccal-lingual sections which defined the mandibular structure over a length of 25.8 mm or about 10 mm mesial and 10 mm distal from the implant were chosen for construction of the finite element model. A finite element grid system was developed for each of these two dimensional buccal-lingual sections and each of these connected to form the three dimensional network of hexahedral and tetrahedral elements. The model consisted of a total of 461 nodes and 851 constant strain elements. The gridwork was reported to be finest near the implant (Fig.59).



Figure 59 a) Buccal-lingual finite element grid centre selection; b) Three-dimensional finite element model (Weinstein et al., 1980).

The results of their study indicated that the assumption of a discontinous change of elastic properties at the bone-implant interface was poor assumption for the bioglass implants. They further concluded that calculated load-displacement values from the finite element model with soft tissue interface were in excellent agreement with measured results for an implant which exhibited a soft tissue interface region experimentally.

To determine the effects of "trabecular bone representation" on the stress distribution around a dental implant, a two-dimensional finite element model was constructed by Lavernia et al. (1981). The model was constructed to represent the anatomical geometry of a buccal-lingual section through a baboon mandible hosting a blade type dental implant. The microradiographic section which was used to construct the finite element grid and the model is shown in Fig.61. The finite element grid contained 738 nodal points and 814 constant strain quadrilateral and triangular elements. Each element in the finite element grid was assigned a material elastic property based upon examination of the microradiographic section. All materials were assumed to be linearly elastic and isotropic. Bone was assumed to be in direct contact with the implant surface as determined from analysis of histological sections.

Previous investigators using finite element analysis to model implant systems, have assumed a modulus of elasticity for cancellous bone based upon its apparent density thus not accounting for its true inhomogeneous structure. Lavernia et al. (1981), in their modelling technique, represented a cancellous bone, which was called "a trabecular representation". According to this model, the dark spaces in Fig.60 was represented as intertrabecular space while the white areas was used to represent trabecular bone. In this manner the grid was used to model the inhomogeneous structure of cancellous bone.



Figure 60 Finite element grid representing a buccal-lingual section through a baboon mandible with dental implant in place (Lavernia et al., 1981).

They have reported that, the type of modelling used to represent cancellous bone-trabecular versus bulk - had a substantial effect on the magnitude of the stresses in the cortical plates; however, the stress profiles for both cases were very similar (Fig.61).



Figure 61 : A crestal to inferior stress profile in the buccal cortical plate contrasting the bulk property and trabecular representation with an LTI carbon implant (Lavernia et al., 1981).

Compressive stresses in the cortical plates reported using the "bulk representation" were generally greater than those obtained with the trabecular representation for both implant materials studied.

To investigate the variations in stress distribution due to the differing infrastructural geometry of a blade type implant, three dimensional finite element analysis were carried out by Cook et al. (1982). A model was constructed to represent a baboon mandible containing a blade-type implant. The model consisted of a total of 476 nodal points and 600 tetrahedral and hexahedral elements. Three implant infrastructure design were studied. In addition to the implant, a molar with a periodontal membrane surrounding and a three unit fixed bridge connecting the tooth and the implant was included in the finite element model (Fig.62).



Figure 62 Representation of the three-dimensional finite element model; (M) Molar, (I) implant (Cook et al., 1982).

All implant and mandibular tissue material properties were assumed to be linearly elastic and isotropic with material elastic properties obtained from the literature. Cancellous bone representation was similar to that reported by Knoell (1977). A vertical load of 450N was applied on the model.

The effect of blade length on stress distribution around bridged aluminium oxide implants was found to be more pronounced than that around LTI carbon implants. They also observed a 50 percent increase in stresses in the cortical plates when the blade length was reduced to half size.

To investigate the effect of a resilient layer in a denture base to the mandibular bone, Aydinlik and Akay (1980) tried to construct a two-dimensional finite element model of a mandible with missing posterior teeth. The mesh consisted of 238 elements of triangles and quadrilaterals with a total of 265 nodal points. The triangles were the constant stress elements, whereas the quadrilaterals were the bilinear displacement elements with incompatible bending modes. Plane stress elastic condition was assumed, and the mandibular base and the ramus were constrained. A vertical masticatory force of 25 kg was applied to the dentures (Fig.63).



Figure 63 Finite element mesh of the mandible with a removable partial denture. (Aydinlik and Akay, 1980).

They have reported that the resilient layer acts as a "shock absorber" and redistributes the effect of a concentrated load uniformly along the base of the denture. They also have reported that the distal abutment tooth region and the retromolar region were subjected to high tensile and compressive stresses. Since the periphery of the mandibular base and ramus was not fixed against movements, these high stresses were attributed to the differences between the 2-D model and the actual gnathostomatic system. In their study of mandibular mechanics employing current methods for assessing resistance of materials, Ferre et al. (1981, 1982) demonstrated the use of finite element method to mandibular fracture mechanics. Since the work was on review of the current methods utilized in mandibular structural mechanics, details of this simplified model was not given (Fig.64).



Figure 64 Finite element model of the mandible, and the fracture path given under 80 kg applied force. (Ferre et al., 1981, 1982).

The first three dimensional, solid mandible model, symmetric about the median line, was developed by Gupta et al. (1972). The model geometry was derived from physical measurements taken of a mandible. Nodal stresses and deformation of the model under the applied load were generated using the computer program "Elas" developed by Utku and Akyuz (1968).

Three different materials were assumed to be associated with the mandible model. Two of these, dentin and alveolar bone, represent the actual dental tissues; the third represents a material with finite element meshes covering both dentin and alveolar bone areas. These materials were assumed to be isotropic and linearly elastic with modulus properties as shown in Table 11 in Appendix IV. The elastic moduli of alveolar bone were assumed to be similar to those of skull bone (McElhaney et al., 1970), with 50 percent porosity. The periodontal ligament was not included in this model.

The idealized structure consisted 271 nodes and 240 solid elements (Fig.65). A total load of 445 N was uniformly distributed on the occlusal surface of the first bicuspid in the mathematical model, which was then analyzed to measure the nodal stresses and the deformation.



Figure 65 Three dimensional view of the first FEA mathematical model of the mandible (Gupta et al. 1972).

Constraint points of the model, unfortunately was not reported, but it is assumed that the mandibular base was chosen to be the constrained area.

The results of their numerical analysis were compared with experimental results obtained on a dried human mandible using holographic interferometry. They have reported a good agreement with holographic test results, which according to the investigators, it has established the validity of the mathematical model.

The mandible model of this preliminary work was modified by Norton et al. (1974) by replacing the first bicuspid with a blade-vent implant. The model geometry, aside from the implant, was the same as that of the prior model, which had been obtained from measurements taken from a horizontally sectioned mandible (Fig.66).





The loading used was a 445N vertical force on the implant. The stresses and deformations were again computed using the general purpose structural analysis program,"Elas". The finite element mesh consisted of 292 nodes and 166 elements. The boundary conditions used were complete fixity of the bottom surface. The material properties with the exception of the vitallium implant were the same as the previous work.

The results obtained were compared with the previous analysis of the normal mandible under similar loading to demonstrate procedure for evolving first order biomechanics design criteria for dental implants.

The second generation three-dimensional model of the mandible was attempted by Knoell (1977). This improved model consists of a three dimensional, finite element representation of one-half of a dried in vitro mandible symmetric about the symphysis (Fig.67). In comparison to the previous work, this model contained full mandibular dentition, including third molars and the ramus region. Even though the elements were coarse and resulting model was not refined, it is interesting to note that it was the real, first attempt to model the complete mandible.

The materials simulated in the model include dentin and cortical and cancellous bone. The properties of the cancellous bone were developed by scaling the properties of cortical bone on the basis of porosity as determined from void area measurements taken of the mandible sections. This approach was consistent with the mathematical model of trabecular bone developed by Pugh et al. (1973) which was used to characterize its mechanical behaviour. Specifically, for a cancellous bone element of the mandible model, a ratio of the section surface void area to the total element area was determined, and this ratio was used as a scaling factor on the cortical bone properties to determine those of cancellous bone. By means of this approximate scaling technique, he has defined five types of cancellous bone properties, ranging from 1 to 65 percent of cortical bone properties (Table 13, Appendix IV). In his model the specific value used for the element under consideration was that which most nearly matched the void ratio as determined above. In general, the largest values for cancellous bone properties were used in the region of the alveolus, whereas the smallest values were used in the area of the mandibular canal.

The materials were idealized as homogeneous, isotropic, linearly elastic solids. The basic material properties for dentin and cortical bone were taken from the literature (McElhaney et al., 1970; Grenoble et al., 1972; Yamada, 1970). The periodontal ligament was not included in the model development. The finite element model of the mandibular structure consists of 674 nodes and 941 elements.



Figure 67 Finite element model of mandible (Knoell, 1977).

The elements were hexagonal, tetrahedronal, and wedge type constant strain element discretizations. The model was analyzed for several cases of vertical and horizontal static loads individually applied at the occlusal surface of both the first bicuspid and molar, respectively. The loadings were reported to consist, a vertical force of 445 N and a horizontal force of 44.5 N. The model was assumed to be fixed against displacement along the base of the mandibular canal. No other force or load was reported to be used in this model.

This 3-D model was analyzed using the Nastran program (McCormic, 1973) on the Univac 1108 computer.

In his results, the stress analysis data indicated that rapid changes in biomechanics response tend to occur in highly localized regions of major supporting hard tissues of the mandible. He further concluded that this observation highlighted the need to employ mathematical modelling techniques capable of accurately simulating the anatomy of the mandible.

The mathematical models used in these studies have been almost exclusively first-order primitive, partially completed, over constrained structural models exhibiting limited anatomical description and properties. Since structures in oral cavity are complex by nature the only useful mathematical models of the mandibular environment are the ones which represent these complexities. This improvement must include, forces acting on the mandible, realistic geometry and boundary conditions analagous to musculature support and ultimately better bone and tissue property characterization both structurally and biologically.

CHAPTER IX

MATHEMATICAL ANALYSIS

As mentioned in the introductory chapter of this thesis, most of the previous work on the mandibular distortion were carried out by dentists, whose only interest was the measurement of the degree of adduction during the various movements of the mandible. To date, no mathematical model of the mandible has been attempted to solve this or other related problem.

There were various reports on two dimensional and three dimensional modelling of the mandible. These models appear to be very remote from the actual anatomical and biomechanical conditions. However, it must be remembered that it is extremely difficult to perform complete three-dimensional mechanical analysis of the mandible with its complex configuration and structure. The use of computer is essential if the analysis would be applied to physiological problems. The theoretical analysis presented here was devised with this purpose in mind. Use has been made of the capability of the pre processors to perform repetitive calculations quickly.

The general purpose of this study was to improve the method of three dimensional modelling and to reduce the gap of biomechanics and medical science by utilizing the model in an important maxillofacial problem; namely "functional distortion of the mandible".

It is this author's belief that very complicated biomechanical problems should start with the most simplified form of geometry to reduce the effect of the certain parameters to minimize the problem.

Although most investigators do agree that, in view of all the simplifying assumptions, only the trend of the results produced by their model could be important, absolute numbers have often in the past presented, discussed and passed on. As a consequence, misinterpretation of the data has frequently occurred.

The results of simplified, general models should be stated in qualitative terms, and in this case the question of validity too, is of a qualitative nature. The validity of a model can be addressed in several ways. Very little attention has been devoted to experimental verification in finite element modelling areas, and where it was, the experiments were not always satisfactory. In present work, after the investigations of the mandibular distortion by utilizing the developed mandible model, published experimental data was compared to prove the validity of the model.

This work was initiated to model an edentulous human mandible by using high order linear, three dimensional solid elements. Finally this model was utilized to analyze the functional distortion of the mandible during normal opening, protrusion and under the clenching conditions.

The analysis was carried out in the following stages:

- i) Modelling of the mandible using digitizer and computer aided design software.
- ii) The development of CAD/Finite Element Analysis modelling sequence.
- iii) Rationalisation of input data: Mechanical properties and the muscle forces acting on the mandible during opening, protrusion and clenching.
- iv) The muscle forces required to balance the external system were found and from these, the joint forces were calculated.
- v) FEA using MSC/Nastran programmes.

9.1 Method of Analysis

In this work, important data on anatomical, structural, functional and materials aspects of the mandible were obtained from various sources. These data were later applied to the three dimensional finite element modelling of the mandible.

The model geometry was derived from physical measurements taken of a mandible. One half of a representative human mandible was embedded in epoxy and cut vertically with a diamond saw into 30 sections. The other half was cut horizontally into 17 sections. Horizontal sections were utilized on METSAP preprocessor preliminary analysis. While vertical cross sections were digitized according to finite element modelling order, then sent to MSC/NASTRAN preprocessor to carry out analysis of the stresses and displacements under the applied functional forces. The summary of this procedure is given in the following flowchart (pp.151).



9.2 Methods and Equipment Used

9.2.1. MSC/Nastran

MSC/Nastran is a proprietary version of Nastran, the NASA sponsored computer program for structural analysis by the finite element method. Today there are three versions of Nastran. The official version is distributed by NASA through Cosmic. One version is distributed by Sperry Univac. The version used in this work is the MSC/Nastran. This is the version maintained and continuously developed by McNeal-Schwendler Corporation.

MSC/Nastran is a self-contained system and cannot be described as a suite of small programs. It is a large-scale general-purpose computer program that can solve linear static and dynamic as well as material and geometric nonlinear problems. Nastran has a number of so-called rigid formats which are prepackaged programs for static, dynamic and buckling analyses. For problems that cannot be solved by these rigid formats the user may write his own program performing the appropriate computational steps.

9.2.2. Metsap

Metsap is a UNSW modified SAP IV program which is a general three dimensional, linear, static and dynamic finite element program. A pre-and-post processor graphics subroutine was added to the SAP IV version. Plotting of the undeformed and deformed structure and the vibration mode shapes of a structure are also possible.

9.2.3. Digitizer

Digitization is a process where the graphic material in the form of designs, tracings, layouts, patterns etc. could be converted into sets of x-y co-ordinates.

Summagraphics ID, with a builtin microprocessor providing the computing capability was used for digitizing the cross sections of the mandible.

152

9.2.4 Palette CAD-Database Software:

Palette is a software package supplied by Palette Systems Ltd. Australia, consisting of a number of separate but highly integrated software modules for use in the fields of computer-aided design and spatial databases. In the CAD field, Palette provides complete ready-to-use software modules for both 2-D design and 3-D modelling, while in the spatial database field, it provides sophisticated tools for the development of integrated systems. It can run on all VAX/VMS configurations and supports a wide range of terminals, plotters, digitizers and scanners. The 3-D modelling module allows the construction of a model in three-dimensional space, with simultaneous viewing and interaction occurring in multiple projections. The 3-D module is integrated with the 2-D Drafting module, so that two dimensional sections defined in the 2-D module can be used in the construction of 3-D models, while projections generated in the 3-D module can be deposited into the 2-D module for detailing and dimensioning.

Two basic mechanisms are provided for integrating Palette with other programs, namely, file interfacing and the Independent Program Interface. File interfacing permits the two-way transfer of information between Palette and other programs by means of formatted ASCII files, while the Independent Program Interface uses sophisticated multi-tasking to provide truly interactive interfacing. Palette provides a library of subroutines which could be linked into their application programs and handle all the necessary intertask synchronization and cummunication. The main benefit of the Independent Program Interface is its open-ended nature. By allowing control of Palette to go completely outside into an independent program, without imposing any limitations on the independent program.

9.4 Method of Modelling

Three different 3-D mandible models have been developed to analyse the mandibular distortion. The preliminary model was a primitive model prepeared using simplified "U" shape geometry. With an exception of the mandibular general dimensions, none of the available anatomic data was utilised. The model consisted 52 nodal points and 12 elements (Fig.68). This preliminary model was analysed using Metsap FEA. After this preliminary distortion analysis, the real anatomical model was attempted using the data obtained from a cross sectioned mandible. This first realistic model was homogeneous isotropic and similar to the ones previously reported. The second one was a more advanced model consisting both cortical and cancellous bone regions.



Figure 68 The preliminary "U" model.

9.4.1 First Stage Modelling

In this model, the structure of the mandible was considered to be symmetric, and the development of the model was attempted on one half of the mandible. Full mandible was embedded in epoxy and was cut vertically along the symphysis. One half of this model was cross sectioned horizontally and was utilized in the analytical representation of the first stage modelling (Fig.69, 70).







Figure 70 General nodal modelling sections for FEA .

The finite element model was then constructed using measured nodal values from these cross sections. The finite element model of the first complete mandibular structure shown in Fig.71 consists of 272 nodes and 126 solid hexagonal (8 nodes), and pentahedral (wedge type) elements.



MAX OPEN 30 DEG-54MM 378N LAT (MAG-MED-2) OPEN (99100.9192)

Figure 71 First stage finite element model of the mandible.

To fix the mandible in space we need to fix out the six rigid body motions by defining points of zero displacement. If no load is applied at that point, the reaction to the fixity is zero and it will not effect the stresses in the mandible. If the total force at the nodes not constrained is not zero, then the reaction will be the force to cause equilibrium. Hence we can apply a force at the constrained nodes by making the forces at other nodes out of equilibrium to the required value. For this analysis three nodes on the symmetry plane were restrained (Fig.72). The model was completely free to deform removing the approximation caused by over restraining in previous models (such as Norton et al.,1974; Knoell, 1977).



Figure 72 Finite element model of the constrained section (a), and Possible rigid body motions (b).

In the figure 72, fixing node 30 in all directions prevents translational rigid body motion in all the coordinate directions. Fixing the x displacement at node 31 prevents rotation about the z axis; fixing the z displacement at node 31 prevents rotation about the x axis; and fixing x displacement at node 51 prevents rotation about the y axis.

In this first stage model mandible was assumed to be homogeneous, isotropic and Young's moduli was used as 1.03×10^4 N.mm⁻² while Poissons ratio was 0.3.

Clenching, maximum opening and protrusion were analyzed in the distortion analysis.

9.4.2 Second Stage Modelling

Advanced, second stage modelling was attempted with an mandible embedded into the epoxy with a wire, which was later utilized as a centreline marker (Fig.73).



Figure 73 Cross sectioning of the mandible and the element divisions. A) Cancellous bone, B) Cortical bone.

Mandible was cross sectioned vertically using isomet diamond blade cutter to minimize the loss of the bone. Cross sectioned areas (Fig.74) then were digitized by using Summagraphics ID digitizer and specifically developed data producing sequence.

Each cross section of the bone was divided into five sections, outer four representing the cortical bone and the inner one the cancellous bone (Fig.73).



Figure 74 The photograph of the cross sections of the one half of the mandible.

To model this composite, a number sequencing method was developed to match the finite element input data sequence (Fig.75).



Figure 75 Nodal point generation using digitizer.

- a) digitizing sequence and wire frame diagram,
- b) element perimeter and midside nodes on cross section,
- c) element perimeter superimposed on real cross section.

During this 2-D modelling, the direction of the number sequencing is very important. Wrong sequence can change the input data for the preceding finite element work. Once the 2-D model is completed, the cross sections can be joined using the known thickness (y) values, obtained during the cross sectioning of the mandible. A small programme was utilized during this joining process.

The three dimensional model (Fig.76) then was completed using the Palette system and once the obvious geometric faults identified and corrected, general co-ordinate data was generated. This generated data could then be compared with the bulk mandibular measurement's and if the co-ordinate data is satisfactory, it can be sent to MSC/Nastran preprocessor for analysis. To run the Nastran finite element program, force and material properties data should also be included in the bulk data cards.



1711 54 HIGHAS HED PT OF LAT PTO IL CONVLL COM

In this model the materials were idealized as homogeneous, isotropic and linearly elastic. The basic material properties for cortical bone and cancellous bone were taken from the previously published values.

The model was fixed at the symphysis similar to the previously developed model (Fig.77).



Figure 77 Cross sectional area at the symphysis showing the constraint points.

To simplify the procedure an edentulous human mandible was modelled. This second stage model consisted 258 hexagonal (20 node) and pentahedral solid elements and 1106 nodes.

9.5 Mechanical Properties of the Mandibular Bone

There seems to be no published data specifically dealing with the mechanical properties of the mandibular bone. But the behaviour of bone as structural element in human body has motivated a large number of investigators into the mechanical properties of bone, extensive and comprehensive reviews by McElhaney et al. (1970), Evans (1973), Katz and Mow (1973), Reilly and Burstein (1975), and Burstein et al. (1976) are noteworthy. More recently reviews on the overall implications of selected published data with respect to current understanding of elastic and viscoelastic deformation were given by Bonfield (1984), Lakes and Katz (1984) for cortical bone, and by Van Audekercke and Martens (1984) for cancellous bone.

Generally speaking bone is a heterogeneous, anisotropic, multiphase composite. There are several proposed classifications of bone and one allows for five kinds of bone. These are: woven, bundle, fine cancellous, cortical and cancellous bone. In mammals, the first three are mainly temporary tissues, associated with the growing skeleton to be replaced by the other two types of bone, cortical and cancellous bone in the adult.

Compact or cortical bone found in mature birds and mammals is made up almost entirely of dense, fine fibred bone. In this bone the vascular channels are very narrow so that to the naked eye the tissue appears to be made up of hard bone and nothing else.

Cancellous (trabecular, spongy) bone is structurally open cell foam which is present at the epiphyseal and metaphyseal region of long bones and within the cortical confinements of flat and short bones. This bone in the adult mammalian skeleton is similar, in its fine structure, to compact bone but is sponge like in appearance, and is made up of trabeculae of bone tissue. Cancellous bone is continuous with the inner surface of the cortical shell and presents a three-dimensional lattice composed of plates and columns of bone. The mechanical properties of cancellous bone have been studied less thoroughly than those of cortical bone.

In present study the mandible is assumed to consist cortical and cancellous bones. Alveolar ridge, teeth, dentin, enamel and periodontal membrane properties were not utilized in the edentulous model.

The various published values for the mechanical properties of these materials are given in Appendix IV.
In present study various mechanical properties values of cortical and cancellous bones from Black and Korostoff (1973), Gupta et al. (1973), Widera et al. (1976), Knoell (1977), Svensson et al. (1977, 1980), Weinstein et al. (1980), Lavernia et al. (1981), and Cook et al. (1982) were utilized at different boundary conditions.

9.6 Forces Acting on the Mandible

As mentioned in previous chapters, in the early biomechanical models of the mandible, the forces exerted by some important muscles were not considered. The direction of the bite force and the direction and magnitude of muscle forces were largely unknown. In most cases the mandible was assumed to be made of homogeneous and isotropic rigid material with uniform cross section and with all loads and reactions applied in the same plane.

In general terms, any mathematical model in biomechanics, especially the mandible requires sets of information.

- The magnitude and directions of each muscle force applied according to mandibular movement;
- ii) The magnitude and direction of the bite force (if applied);
- iii) The magnitude and direction of the reaction force; and
- iv) The lengths of the moment arms of the bite and/or muscle forces.

The muscle forces considered in this analysis were selected from Mainland and Hiltz (1934), Barbanel (1972), Schumacher (1961) and Pruim et al. (1980). All the forces were assumed to be symmetrical with respect to the mid-line and to have an equal magnitude on the right and left side of the mandible. The forces exerted by contracting muscles were represented by vectors. Similar assumptions were made by previous workers (Paul, 1967; Morrison, 1967; Paulson, 1973). This assumption is reasonably true when the muscle is homogeneous and acts as a whole.

The direction of these vectors can be defined by the connecting lines between the centroids of the origins and the insertions of the muscles. Descriptions of these areas of attachments were derived from the anatomical literature (Schumacher, 1961; Mainland and Hiltz, 1934; Sicher and DuBrul, 1975; Hawthorne, 1969; Hylander, 1978) and three dimensional observations and measurements on different skulls.

Physiological cross sectional area data available (Schumacher, 1961 and Pruim et al., 1980) were used to assume the forces of the temporalis, lateral pterygoid, digastrics and medial pterygoid muscles.

The bite force was assumed to be around 700 to 800 N according to Pruim et al. (1978, 1980)'s measured and calculated values (Appendix II).

In this study three mandibular movements were investigated: opening of mandible, protrusion and clenching.

For the finite element model to be valid the applied forces must be in equilibrium so that the reactions at the restrained nodes in figure 77 will be zero. It was therefore necessary to define physical conditions during various mandibular movements to reduce the complex force systems to a form which allowed the definition of valid load cases for the finite element model.

9.6.1 Clenching

When analysing bite forces or clench (when the jaws are pressed firmly together without bolus), the mandible may be considered to be in static equilibrium so that the sum of the forces on it and the sum of the torques generated by the forces about an arbitrary but fixed point in space are zero. This leads to six linear equations. The coordinate system to be used is shown in Fig.78.

If F_n is the force of the n th muscle applied at a_n , B_k the k th bite force applied at b_k and J_q the q th joint force applied at c_q , the conditions for equilibrium are:

$$\Sigma F_{n} + \Sigma B_{k} + \Sigma J_{q} = 0 \quad \text{and} \qquad 9.1$$

$$\Sigma a_{n} F_{n} + \Sigma b_{k} B_{k} + \Sigma c_{q} J_{q} = 0 \qquad 9.2$$

N, K and Q are the number of muscles, the number of bite forces, and the number of joint forces respectively. Moments are computed about the mid point of the line segment joining the centres of condyles when the mandible is in intercuspal position.

The sum of the z components of the applied forces:

$$\Sigma F_n \cos \gamma_n - \Sigma B_k \cos \gamma_k - \Sigma J_q \cos \gamma_q = 0$$
 9.3

The sum of the y components:

$$-\Sigma F_n \cos \alpha_n + \Sigma B_k \cos \alpha_k + \Sigma J_q \cos \alpha_k = 0 \qquad 9.4$$

The sum of the x components:

$$\Sigma F_n \cos \beta_n + \Sigma B_k \cos \beta_k + \Sigma J_q \cos \beta_k = 0$$
 9.5

There are, however, at least eleven variables, composed of nine jaw muscles plus the two joint reactions (Fig.78). The equations of equilibrium for a given bite force will not yield a unique solution. There are infinitely many combinations of tensions and joint reactions that will produce a given bite force on a specified tooth. If however, we require that some function of the tensions be minimized, it may be possible to reject all but one of the solutions. By considering particular loading condition, further "conditional" equations can be introduced allowing a full solution of the system.

According to Wood (1986), the medial pterygoid muscle activity during an intercuspal clench appears to contribute to the force generated between the teeth. The lateral components of masseter on temporal muscles that are also active during clenching must also be taken into account. Any resulting distortions of the mandible and interocclusal forces thus represent the combined action of several major muscle groups acting in concert.

For this present work, the bite force (clench force) was directed at an angle of about 85 degrees to the averaged occlusal plane. Each bite force was equally divided between two teeth symmetrically placed with respect to the midsagittal plane, thus simulating Pruim et al.'s (1980) experiment.

During clenching all muscles were assumed to be active. Calculated muscle forces are given in Table V and Appendix V. The reaction forces were assumed to be acting at the centre of the condyles with an angle of 82 degrees to occlusal plane. The method of muscle force and reactive force calculations on YZ plane were based on published data (Appendix II and III), which included some 2-D muscle angles, directions and magnitudes. In the absence of published data on ZX and YX planes measurements were carried out on cadavers and skulls. The data were analysed by utilizing the 3-D mechanics. The equilibrium force system equations, the methodology and the results are given in Appendix V (Table 18).



Figure 78 Applied forces and coordinate system during clenching.

TABLE V

Calculated muscle forces, and joint reaction force and bite force magnitudes (N) during CLENCH

	Px	Ру	Pz	P
MASSETER A	141.9	-53.6	+304.3	340.0
MASSETER B	-141.9	-53.6	304.3	340.0
TEMPORALIS A1	50.6	+102.9	238.1	264.3
TEMPORALIS A ²	50.6	+102.9	238.1	264.3
TEMPORALIS B1	-50.6	102.9	238.1	264.3
TEMPORALIS B ²	-50.6	102.9	238.1	264.3
MEDIAL PTERY.A	-82.9	-29.7	170.0	191.4
MEDIAL PTERY.B	82.9	-29.7	170.0	191.4
LATERAL PTERY.A	-215.4	-307.6	-43.2	378.0
LATERAL PTERY.B	215.4	-307.6	-43.2	378.0
OPENERS	0.0	+133.2	-79.3	155.0
JOINT REACTION A	0.0	63.8	-467.6	471.9
JOINT REACTION B	0.0	63.8	-467.6	471.9
BITE FORCE A	0.0	54.7	-400.0	403.7
BITE FORCE B	0.0	54.7	-400.0	403.7

9.6.2 Opening

At its simplest, the jaw is opened by a moment couple consisting of the anterior bellies of digastric and the lower heads of the lateral pterygoids. If some of the adductor muscles "pay out" their length while maintaining some "tension", the condyle will remain in contact with the articulator eminence until, and if, it passes over the eminence.

During wide opening, masseters, and medial pterygoid muscles were assumed to "pay out" their length and guide the opening movements. Lateral pterygoid and openers muscles were utilized as main depressors (Moyers, 1950; Jarabak, 1957; Carlsoo, 1958; Munro and Basmajian, 1971; Lehr et al., 1971). Opener muscle forces were postulated according to the published physiological cross sectional area values, which included digastrics, mylohyoid and geniohyoid muscles.

The ratio of Masseter to Medial Pterygoid muscle forces was assumed to be (2:1), (Carlsoo, 1952; Schumacher, 1961). The physiological cross sectional area ratios of various workers, if considered with the muscle tension factors, could be accepted to be quite reasonable. (Appendix III).

Considering the opening movement and the angle of the masseter and medial pterygoid muscles during wide opening (Fig.79). Due to the right angle created by these two muscles, the horizontal force components P_{My} and P_{MPy} , can be assumed to be zero or very close to zero. By reducing these components we can obtain the equilibrium by calculating the rest of the components of these two unknown muscles. These assumptions are based on the cephalometric measurements and some electromyographic studies. Addition to the above mentioned conditions. All opener muscles are assumed to be active at all time, i.e. no antagonistic muscle action.

Antagonistic muscle action is assumed to occur only for short periods of the opening cycle where activity in one muscle group declines as activity in another group increases. Such antagonistic action can not be gauged from the equilibrium equations and as yet there is no reliable method of measuring muscle force directly under conditions of contraction where muscle tension, length and velocity of shortening are changing.

Calculated and measured values of the forces during opening are given in Table



Figure 79 Applied muscle forces during wide opening.

TABLE VI

Calculated muscle forces and joint reaction force magnitudes (N) during WIDE OPENING

	Px	Ру	Pz	P
MASSETER A	44.7	0.0	121.2	129.1
MASSETER B	-44.7	0.0	121.2	129.1
MEDIAL PTERY.A	-24.5	0.0	60.6	65.3
MEDIAL PTERY.B	-24.5	0.0	60.6	65.3
LATERAL PTERY.A	-197.2	-281.6	156.1	377.6
LATERAL PTERY.B	197.2	-281.6	156.1	377.6
OPENERS	0.0	+135.6	-75.1	155.0
JOINT REACTION A	0.0	213.0	-300.3	368.6
JOINT REACTION B	0.0	213.0	-300.3	368.6

173

9.6.3 Protrusion

During the protraction of the mandible without occlusal contact, masseter was assumed to be silent while medial pterygoid was the only active elevator guiding the movement (Moyers, 1950; Carlsoo, 1952)(Fig.80). Again the horizontal component of the medial pterygoid was zero, and the other components were calculated accordingly (Table VII).

Some workers (Baragar and Osborn, 1984) assume temporamandibular ligament is active during wide open and protrusion movements. During these movements, temporomandibular ligament might be helping,on the guidence and the degree of opening of the elevator muscles. Some of the force could be distributed to this ligament during these movements. According to geometrical data the angle of the temporomandibular ligament to condyle center is similar or very close to the angle of the masseter or medial pterygoid to the condyle center during the wide open and protrusion.

These assumptions might not drastically change the final results during the flexion but might be more realistic.



Figure 80 Lateral projection of applied forces during, a) Clench, b) Open, and c) Protrusion.

TABLE VII

Calculated muscle forces and joint reaction force magnitudes (N) during PROTRUSION.

	Рх	Ру	Pz	P
MEDIAL PTERY. A	-74.4	0.0	181.8	196.4
MEDIAL PTERY. B	74.4	0.0	181.8	196.4
LATERAL PTERY. A	-197.2	-281.6	156.1	377.5
LATERAL PTERY. B	197.2	-281.6	156.1	377.5
OPENERS	0.0	135.6	-75.1	155.0
JOINT REACTION A	0.0	213.8	-300.3	368.6
JOINT REACTION B	0.0	213.8	-300.3	368.6

CHAPTER X

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

The early primitive model prepared using Barbanel (1981) muscle values showed deformations at condyle and the angle of the ramus regions higher than other areas (Fig.81).



Figure 81 Preliminary primitive model, before and after deformation.

The model was restrained by three points at the base of the angle region and hence the distortion recorded could not have been realistically represented. As a general trend this primitive model has demonstrated that distortion was possible in structures similar to mandibular geometry.

After horizontal cross sectioning and measuring the mandible, first realistic model was created (Fig.82). The model was closer to anatomical model and applied forces were more realistic both in direction and magnitudinal values. Both "Metsap" and "MSS/Nastran" were utilized to analyze this structure.



MAK (TPEN 30 DEG-54M 37EN LAT (MAS-MED-2) (TPEN (99100, 9132)

MAK-DEF. = 1.23571610

G/FE

Figure 82 Three dimensional (deformed) model of the solid mandible (first generation).

The results showed that the deformation was of the order of 0.1 to 0.6 mm from first bicuspid to third molar region. The maximum distortion was observed in condylar region larger than 1.00 mm distortion for a material with Young's modulus of 10.3 GPa and Poissons ratio of 0.3.

Figure 83 shows the plot of distortion to the distance from the condyle centre. Differing values of Young's modulus were applied to analyze the extent of the deformation on the structure. As expected when cortical bone was considered to be the only phase in the structure, the model showed very low levels of distortion around the molar regions, for both in clench and open conditions. The opening produced slightly larger deformation than the clench condition.



Figure 83 Distortion v.s the distance from condyle centre at various Young's modulus values under the clenching and opening conditions.

The third model was anatomically more accurate, because of the method used to digitize the cross sectioned mandible. Twenty node isoparametric elements also increased the accuracy of the finite element analysis. The undeformed and deformed structures are shown in Figure 84.



Figure 84 Undeformed (a) and deformed (b), 3-D model of the mandible.

The forces applied were similar to the previous model. When this composite model was analyzed using Young's modulus values of:

 $E_1 = 1.72 \times 10^4 \text{ MPa}$ Cortical bone $E_2 = 1.29 \times 10^3 \text{ MPa}$ Cancellous bone

wide opening of the mandible produced 0.35 mm distortion around the second molar region. Clenching demonstrated 0.15 mm distortion from second premolars down to the third molar region (Fig.85).



Figure 85 The distortional change of the mandible during wide opening and clenching $(E_1 = 17.2 \text{ GPa}, E_2 = 1.29 \text{ GPa}).$

To analyze the deformation, differing Young's Modulus values (Appendix IV) were utilized. Comparitive distortion values are given in Figure 86.



Figure 86 Differing Young's Modulus values applied to the distortion analysis of the mandible during wide opening.

As it can be seen from figure 86, the displacement values in second molar region (50 mm from the condyle center) varies from 0.25 mm to 0.5 mm depending on applied E values. The distortion data on clench with differing Young Modulus values are given in figure 87.



Figure 87 Comparative distortion values under differing Young's Modulus of elasticity during clenching, and during wide open.

As it can be seen from figure 87, during clenching the distortion becomes constant at 60 millimetres from the condyle centre which corresponds to the second premolar region. The total distortion of the mandible during clenching it is found to vary between 0.10 to 0.25 mm. It is very interesting to note the mean pressure change at the second premolar region (Fig.88). Comparison of the mean pressure during wide open and clench are given in figure 89.



Figure 88 Comparison of mean pressure and octahedral shear during clenching along the most protruding point on bony ridge.



Figure 89 Comparison of mean pressure during wide open and clenching along the most protruding point on bony ridge.

Normal stresses and the shear stress along the alveolar ridge are given in figures 90 and 91.



Figure 90 Normal stresses along the most protruding point on the bony ridge.



Figure 91 Shear stresses along the most protruding point on the bony ridge.

When the wide open mandible distortion values of the hollow cortical structured mandible ($E^2 = 1.29$ MPa), and solid cortical bone filled ($E^2 = 10.3$ GPa) mandible are compared distortion values of 0.35 to 0.56 mm can be observed at the second molar region. (Fig.92).



DISTORTION DURING WIDE OPENING

Figure 92 Comparison of hollow and solid mandibular bone, distortion values.

Comparison of the preliminary solid model with the improved model distortional values shows that, the use of overall Young's modulus of 8.5×10^3 MPa in the first model could give similar distortional values (Fig.93). This value as an approximation could be used in the further modelling of simple structures. Comparative distortional values of both models using this Young's Modulus value is given in Figure 94.



Figure 93 Comparative distortional values of previous solid model and the composite model at differing Young's moduli.



Figure 94 Comparative distortional values using the same Young's Modulus value for both models E(cortical) = E(cancellous) = 8.5 GPa.

186

When only the medial pterygoid muscle is assumed to be guiding the protrusive movement, larger mandibular distortions could be observed, compared to the open and clench conditions in the molar and bicuspid regions (Fig. 95).



Figure 95 Comparison of distortion values of mandible during opening and protrusion.

When these protrusion distortion values are compared with the various published measured values (TABLE I), the present mathematical model well fits with the most of the measured values (Fig. 96, 97).



Figure 96 Comparison of the measured and the calculated distortional values during protrusion. E(cortical)= 17.2 GPa; E(cancellous)= 1.29 GPa.





Figure 97 Comparison of the measured and the calculated distortional values during protrusion. E(cortical)= 10.3 GPa; E(cancellous)= 1.29 GPa.

Previously published measured values (TABLE I) for wide opening shows distortions of 0.078 to 1.0 mm around the second molar region. If the dental mandibular arch distortion measuring methods are compared, some of the very small amount of deformation can be attributed to very stiff splints or the inaccurate measuring methods used.

Siebert (1981) has measured the tooth movements during mandibular movements using electronic and pantographic techniques. He reported that elastic deformation of the mandible can give rise to three dimensional tooth movements of up to $60 \,\mu$ m in each direction.

It is possible that some of the workers were measuring only the tooth movement which were first noted by Muhlemann (1951, 1954), Zwirner (1949), Picton (1957) and Parfitt (1960).



Figure 98 Tooth movement and distortion (one side).

It is even possible that some of the workers might be substracting the opposite tooth movement and measuring only the net distortion (Fig.98). Bowman's (1970) work is noteworthy on overcoming this problem.

If we do not take into account these low measurement values and extremely large values, average of 0.227 mm distortion for the first molar and 0.482 mm for the second molar can be calculated for the wide opening movements.

If Fishman's (1976) value is also omitted from the average calculations- because the mandibular distortional measurements were carried out between the mandibular second right and left first molars- then the average distortion in the second molar could be shown to be 0.356 mm (TABLE VIII).

TABLE VIII

	FIRST MOLAR			SECOND MOLAR	
REF×	REPORTED	CORRECTED	REF×	REPORTED	CORRECTED
(6)	0.438	0.438	(1)	0.35	0.35
(8)	1.00	-	(3)	0.421	0.421
(9)	0.224	0.224	(4)	0.07	_
(10)	0.076	-	(5)	0.09	-
(11)	0.78	-	(7)	0.297	0.297
(13)	0.105	0.105	(12)	0.861	-
(14)	0.093	-			
(15)	0.142	0.142			
AVERAGE	0.397	0.227		0.3094	0.356
THIS **	0.265			0.32	
WORK ***	0.425			0.51	

Comparative values of the distortions (mm) at first and second molar regions, both as reported and corrected during WIDE OPENING.

TABLE IX

Comparative values of the distortions (mm) at first and second molar regions, both as reported and corrected during PROTRUSION.

	FIRST MOLAR			SECOND MOLAR	
REF×	REPORTED	CORRECTED	REF×	REPORTED	CORRECTED
(6)	0.61	0.61	(1)	0.70	0.7
(9)	0.432	0.432	(2)	0.50	0.5
(15)	0.29	-	(3)	0.535	0.535
	-	-	(4)	0.09	-
	-	-	(7)	0.637	0.637
AVERAGE	0.444	0.521		0.492	0.593
THIS **	0.36			0.432	
WORK ×××	0.575			0.71	
$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{A}}$:

Full references are given in TABLE I (page: 8).
E(cortical)= 17.2 GPa; E(cancellous)= 1.29 GPa.
E(cortical)= 10.3 GPa; E(cancellous)= 1.29 GPa.

During protrusion average value of 0.521 mm in the first molar region and 0.593 mm distortion in the second molar region can be postulated.

When previously published values of distortion during opening are compared (TABLE VIII) (Fig.99, 100) the total displacement can be shown to be between 0.15 to 0.6 mm around the second molar region.



Figure 99 Various measurement values of distortion during wide opening movements. E(cortical)= 17.2 GPa; E(cancellous)= 1.29 GPa.



Figure 100 Various measurement values of distortion during wide opening movement. E(cortical)= 10.3 GPa; E(cancellous)= 1.29 GPa.

CHAPTER 11

CONCLUSIONS

The biomechanical aspects of the functional distortion of the mandible have been studied in the present thesis. Three dimensional modelling of the mandible has been attempted using computer aided design and digitizing methods.

The three dimensional modelling method by using CAD, digitizers and finite element pre processors could be utilised in further analysis of the mandible and other biomechanical systems.

Based on the electromyographic and anatomical observation data, forces acting on the mandible and its various movements (clench, wide open and protrusion) were analyzed through a mathematical model. To date this is the most realistic and advanced mandible model. Distortions in the mandibular bone during various movements were studied using a finite element model in which three dimensional solid elements were employed for both cortical and cancellous bone.

The distortion of the mandible by using two differing models has been found to occur and the amount of the distortion is dependant on the thickness of the cortical bone, geometry and the size of the mandible. If various Young's modulus values are applied to the structure, or the design of the condyle is modified, different values of distortion could be observed. These results indicate that differing values of mandibular distortion could be observed from a child to an adult or between male or female species.

Stress analysis of the deformation of the three dimensional model shows, displacement values of (0.265-0.425mm) in first molars and (0.32-0.51mm) second molars during wide opening movement and (0.36-0.575mm) in first molars and (0.432-0.71mm) in the second molars region for protrusion.

When published values of distortion are compared with this work, the calculated displacement values are in very good agreement with the previously measured values.

This good correlation with the published values might indicate that the assumed muscle force magnitude and directions and Young's modulus values are satisfactory and could be reutilized in future mandible models until the appropriate detailed data are published.

The range of mandibular movement and distortion during opening and protrusion could present some important clinical problems:

- 1. The amount of mandibular distortion during opening and protrusion is sufficient to effect the fit of a removable prosthesis and can put cyclic internal stresses on abutment teeth of a bilateraly fixed prosthesis.
- 2. A dental impression taken at a wide open position will not be correct base for a dental prosthesis in most intercuspal position.
- 3. Bilaterally fixed bridgework, fabricated on a cast made from an open mouth impression, could present as occlusal interferences when the patient applied muscle force during mastication.
- 4. Fixed prosthesis involving several teeth and implants would not completely inhibit mandibular deflection. Inhibition of mandibular flexure could increase as more teeth are splinted and more rigid attachments are used, however there would be a detrimental effect to the abutment.

Some Temperomandibular joint problems and disorders have been proposed to be generated from muscular or occlusal disorders, these or other related medical problems could be related to excessive mandibular distortions and should be further investigated by using the developed mandibular model.

In the last twenty years many different types of implants have been used in prosthodontics for the replacement of missing teeth (tooth replica implants, subperiosteal, endosseous, endodontic-endosseous implants).

In endosseous implants it has been shown that the forces applied to the functioning implants can result in relative motion which causes fibrous encapsulation. In an extensive study of vitrous carbon tooth-root endosseous implants Schnitman and Shulman (1980) have found a high incidence of implant fracture, gingival recession and exfoliation.

There is some controversy over the question of the success of diodontic (endodontic-endosseous) implants. Histologic studies in humans have shown that (Simon and Frank, 1980) endodontic implants can become encapsulated by fibrous connective tissue. It is thought that implant loading due to exceeding physiologic loading results in the progressive thickening of this fibrous tissue capsule leading eventually to implant instability and failure (Maniatopoulos et al.,1986).

However according to another group of investigators, in a properly inserted diodontic implant, the implant could place the fulcrum of movement deeper, thus stabilizing the tooth. It is hermetically enclosed within the bone and the root of the tooth in a sterile environment and there is no contact with oral fluids or bacteria (Vajda, 1987).

The success ratio of implants in dental and maxillofacial surgery is somehow lower than other implant applications. The reason for this might be the difficulty of achieving the desirable response from the adjacent tissues. Tissue reaction in this situation is influenced by factors such as the transgingival location, infection, functional loading, inadequate bone support and insertion techniques and implant design. Oral implants probably encounter the more adverse conditions any surgical implant has to face and most of the problems encountered singularly in other situations could present themselves together, providing a relatively poor prognosis.

A more precise understanding of the interplay between bone mechanics and the structural properties of bone in function is necessary. Actual biomechanical stresses transmitted to the tissues, the acceptable range of stresses in the tissues, the magnitude of the relative motion between the implant and the tissues and the determining factors of the gingival interface response must be investigated and related to implant success.

In order to develop biomechanical criteria for implant design, a comparison between stress distribution experiments on the mandible invivo should be carried out using the present 3-D model. This model could be used to assess the efficacy of an implant, reasons for its possible loosening and provide input for improved dental prosthetic designs and implant techniques.

At present the design criteria for implants is based on "rigid fixation" and the materials chosen are usually stronger and stiffer than the bone.

Present investigation has shown that mandibular bone flexes. During various mandibular movements, oral implants if not properly designed and inserted could be subjected to an alternating load oscillating through zero. The results are micromovements between the implant and the bone, which cause an increasing loosening of the implant. This condition and subsequent fibrosis, might facilitate infection and its failure.

A new design criterion should be developed on the basis that, under certain circumstances it is the deflection (EI) and flexure of the bone and the adaptability of the implant to these movements is important rather than only stiffness and strength.

Implants should be designed and used under two different considerations, according to their need and suitability. Some prosthesis should induce "total immobilization" for bone regeneration and rapid recovery, and some should conform to the physiological requirements by matching the deformation. In addition to design modifications in prosthetic devices, new biomaterials should be developed to accomodate this need.

CHAPTER 12

SUGGESTED FUTURE CLINICAL CONSIDERATIONS

12.1 Clinical

The clinical implications of mandibular distortion and arch width changes associated with muscle activity are significant when occlusal surfaces are to be restored. Clinical and laboratory procedures should take this into consideration.

A closed-mouth impression technique and non muscle-RAP recording technique could be suggested. Alternatively, individual castings should be indexed in the mouth with minimal opening of the mouth (20 mm), and new casts remounted within the articulator. Cuspal interferences could then be eliminated.

Dental clinicians have experienced problems with retention and stability of full arch mandibular prosthesis. The fact that the mandible bends during various movements, presents one possible explanation as to why a prosthesis may come loose. A fixed mandibular prosthesis may include a stress breaker to allow independent lateral expansion and contraction of the mandible.

Similar attitude to the intra mandibular implant devices should be applied during the design stages. Accomodation of the mandibular flexure should be one of the most important design criteria, during the development of this type new clinical devices.

Some later stage temporomandibular joint dysfunction might arise from the stresses acting, with the use of corrective devices especially in young children. Detailed objective research and careful statistical analysis needed to determine the long term effects of these orthodontic corrective devices in young children.

Some of the previously mentioned functional disturbances or dysfunction syndromes of the masticatory system can be due to the excessive functional distortion of the mandible. This flexion and displacement might play an important role on some of the mandibular or temporomandibular joint dysfunctions. An appreciation of this fact might further improve the understanding of these types of disorders and might help to select an effective treatment.

12.2 Further Research

Several improvements on the developed three dimensional model could be suggested to provide better insight in the fields of, biomechanics, oral implantology, periodontology, prosthetic dentistry, maxillofacial reconstructive surgery, temporomandibular joint dysfunction problems and periodontic corrective device methodology.

- The model could be improved by using nonhomogeneous, nonlinear material properties for both cortical and cancellous bones. Existing data on femur can be utilized or further analysis on the mandibular bone density and architecture could supply the approximate relevant data.
- A mathematical model of the tooth, periodontal membrane and surrounding structures can be further constructed on the existing model. All relevant mechanical properties should be systematically added into the calculations.

From these mathematical models, theoretical stress levels and distortions can be calculated. All such calculations, whenever possible, should be compared with published data or should be verified by clinical or animal experimentation.

- iii) At the present time it is not possible to place strain gauges in the periodontal membrane to measure stress-strain distribution. If the stress level could be accurately determined in different areas of the periodontal membrane, it may offer the best opportunity for correlating force application on a tooth with tooth response. At clinical level, phenomena such as rates of tooth movement, pain response, tooth mobility, alveolar bone loss and root resorption may be studied.
- iv) Mandibular model dimensions could be modified to represent, child, female and male. Distortions and stresses can then be calculated and compared.
- v) Some teeth could be omitted from the completed model, to calculate the effect of the tooth removal on the distortion and possibly on bone remodelling.

- vi) Muscle insertions in the model can be critically reviewed and the muscle origins and insertions could be distributed to an area representing more natural force application.
- vii) The large number of variables acting during the production of a bite force might be analysed by simulating differing parts of the muscles simultaneously, which could be imposible to observe during experimental measurements.
- viii) Muscle forces during protrusion should be modified to include temporomandibular ligament and opener force should be increased to produce more realistic protrusive movement.
- Addition of prosthetic devices into or onto the mandible model and analyzing the related mandibular deformation could help to design new types of dental devices.
- x) Extreme atrophy of the mandible of edentulous patients still presents a hard challenge to oral surgeons. For subperiosteal implants, as for the treatment of mandibular fractures by internal fixation, the three basic principles remains the same (Spiessl, 1974).
 - a) Absolute stability
 - b) Ideal adaptation
 - c) Optimal vascularization.

During recent years, progress has been made in the development of certain ancillary techniques and operative procedures.

Compound mandibular fractures may be combined with defects involving the alveolar process and/or the body of the mandible. Presently to create a state of stability from the interplay of forces, a mechanism which counteract and neutralize all the forces involved is usually constructed. This mechanism is a combination of tension band and stabilization plate. These are called DCP (dynamic compression plate) and EDCP (excentric dynamic compression plate). In addition to plates some oral surgeons also use wire ligatures and wires (Schmoker and Spiessl, 1973).

The design and modifications of these methods and materials takes extensive amounts of experimentation and time. The use of mandibular model can include these fixation plates or wires and the stresses can be calculated without expensive and painful experimentation and the selection of the design and materials could be simplified.

xi) The finite element model can be utilized for further modelling and analysis of the mandible or other biomechanical systems.

At present there are three promising methods which could be incorporated into the biomechanical analysis.

- a) Leitz three co-ordinate CNC measuring machines, which continuously scan for precision measurements could be utilized without cross sectioning the bones.
 Data collected could be screened and fed into, the input data files which could generate the FEA nodal points.
- b) High performance digital imaging cameras which convert stationary pictures and objects into digital form via a linear sensor array has been marketed by Kodak company which could be utilized for nodal point generation. With the further advances in the robotics industry the number of equipments with similar or better abilities could increase quite effectively in the near future.
- c) Surface imaging from computerized tomographic scans (CAT) has been around from 1976. Computer tomography is quite an accurate technique to determine the geometry of bones. For finite element modelling, this data could be screened and then fed to FE pre-processors.
- d) Also the existing model could be simplified and fed into FEA capable Personal Computers that could be utilized by the dentists, dental labs, hospitals and dental surgeons.

Some further work strongly recommended.

This thesis has explored the possibility of applying theoretical mechanics and finite element analysis, to the study of mandibular distortions. In the past, the physical and histological sciences which have made the most rapid and rewarding advances have been those that have been able to quantify their observations.

Although this investigation in the biomechanics of the mandibular distortion has great promise for further work, there are certain dangers in employing mathematical methods to describe biologic phenomena. Particularly, mathematical over simplification of highly dynamic and variable vital structures and reactions can mislead as well as inform.

It is therefore necessary to compare biomechanical assumptions with observations on both clinical and histologic levels. A multidisciplinary approach of this type offers the best hope for solving oral and dental problems related force systems and mandibular distortion.
REFERENCES

 Functional tooth contacts in lateral and in centric occlusion.' J. Am. Dent. Ass. 69, 465-473. AGERBERG G. and CARLSSON G. E. (1972) Functional disorders of the masticatory system.' Acta. Odont. Scand., 30, 597-613. AHLGREN J. (1966) 'Mechanism of mastication. A quantitative cinematographic and electromyographic study of masticatory movements in children with special reference to occlusion of the teeth'Acta Odont. Scand. 24, suppl. 44, 1-109. AHLGREN J. (1969) 'The silent period in the EMG of the jaw muscles during mastication and its relationship to tooth contact'. Acta. Odont. Scand. 27, 219-277. AHLGREN J. and OWALL B. (1970) 'Muscular activity and chewing force. A polygraphic study of human mandibular movements' Arch. Oral. Biol., 15, 271-280. ALEXANDER R. (1968) 'Animal Mechanics'. Seattle University of Washington Press. ALLING C. C. and MAHAN P. E. (1977) 'Facial Pain', Philadelphia, Lea and Febiger. AN K. N.; KWAK B. M.; CHAO E. Y.; and MORREY B. F. (1984) 'Determination of Muscle and joint forces: A new technique to solve the indeterminate problem'. Trans. ASME, 106, 364-367. AMIS A. A., DOWSON D., and WRIGHT V. (1980) 'Elbow joint force predictions for some strenuous isometric actions. J. of Biomechanics, 13, 765-775. ANAND S. C., ST. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976) 'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDIACCHT T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the feoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cincefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mand	ADAMS S. H. and ZANDER H. A. (1964)
J. Am. Dent. Ass. 69, 465-473. AGERBERG G. and CARLSSON G. E. (1972) 'Functional disorders of the masticatory system.' Acta. Odont. Scand., 30, 597-613. AHLGREN J. (1966) 'Mechanism of mastication. A quantitative cinematographic and electromyographic study of masticatory movements in children with special reference to occlusion of the teeth'Acta Odont. Scand. 24, suppl. 44, 1-109. AHLGREN J. (1969) 'The silent period in the EMG of the jaw muscles during mastication and its relationship to toot contact'. Acta. Odont. Scand. 27, 219-277. AHLGREN J. and OWALL B. (1970) 'Muscular activity and chewing force. A polygraphic study of human mandibular movements' Arch. Oral. Biol., 15, 271-280. ALEXANDER R. (1968) 'Animal Mechanics'. Seattle University of Washington Press. ALLING C. C. and MAHAN P. E. (1977) 'Facial Pain,' Philadelphia, Lea and Febiger. AN K. N.; KWAK B. M.; CHAO E. Y.; and MORREY B. F. (1984) 'Determination of Muscle and joint forces: A new technique to solve the indeterminate problem.' Trans. ASME, 106 364-367. AMIS A. A., DOWSON D., and WRIGHT V. (1980) 'Elbow joint force predictions for some strenuous isometric actions. J. of Biomechanics, 13, 765-775. ANADS C. C.; J. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976) 'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) ' A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone It. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978	'Functional tooth contacts in lateral and in centric occlusion.'
 AGERBERG G. and CARLSSON G. E. (1972) Functional disorders of the masticatory system.' Acta. Odont. Scand., 30, 597-613. AHLGREN J. (1966) 'Mechanism of mastication. A quantitative cinematographic and electromyographic study of masticatory movements in children with special reference to occlusion of the teeth'Acta Odont. Scand. 24, suppl. 44, 1-109. AHLGREN J. (1969) 'The silent period in the EMG of the jaw muscles during mastication and its relationship to tooth contact'. Acta. Odont. Scand. 27, 219-277. AHLGREN J. and OWALL B. (1970) 'Muscular activity and chewing force. A polygraphic study of human mandibular movements' Arch. Oral. Biol., 15, 271-280. ALEXANDER R. (1968) 'Animal Mechanics'. Seattle University of Washington Press. ALLING C. C. and MAHAN P. E. (1977) 'Facial Pain' Philadelphia, Lea and Febiger. AN K. N; KWAK B. M.; CHAO E. Y.; and MORREY B. F. (1984) 'Determination of Muscle and joint forces: A new technique to solve the indeterminate problem.' Trans. ASME, 106 364-367. AMIS A. A., DOWSON D., and WRIGHT V. (1980) 'Elbow joint force predictions for some strenuous isometric actions. J. of Biomechanics, 13, 765-775. ANAND S. C., ST. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976) 'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res, 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and madibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGER	J. Am. Dent. Ass. 69, 465-473.
 Functional disorders of the masticatory system.' Acta. Odont. Scand., 30, 597-613. AHLGREN J. (1966) 'Mechanism of mastication. A quantitative cinematographic and electromyographic study of masticatory movements in children with special reference to occlusion of the teeth'Acta Odont. Scand. 24, suppl. 44, 1-109. AHLGREN J. (1969) 'The silent period in the EMG of the jaw muscles during mastication and its relationship to tooth contact'. Acta. Odont. Scand. 27, 219-277. AHLGREN J. and OWALL B. (1970) 'Muscular activity and chewing force. A polygraphic study of human mandibular movements.' Arch. Oral. Biol., 15, 271-280. ALEXANDER R. (1968) 'Animal Mechanics'. Seattle University of Washington Press. ALLING C. C. and MAHAN P. E. (1977) 'Facial Pain,' Philadelphia, Lea and Febiger. AN K. N; KWAK B. M.; CHAO E. Y.; and MORREY B. F. (1984) 'Determination of Muscle and joint forces: A new technique to solve the indeterminate problem.' Trans. ASME, 106 364-367. AMIS A. A., DOWSON D., and WRIGHT V. (1980) 'Elbow joint force predictions for some strenuous isometric actions. J. of Biomechanics, 13, 765-775. ANADD S. C., ST. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976) 'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb mu	AGERBERG G. and CARLSSON G. E. (1972)
 Acta. Odont. Scand., 30, 597-613. AHLGREN J. (1966) 'Mechanism of mastication. A quantitative cinematographic and electromyographic study of masticatory movements in children with special reference to occlusion of the teeth'Acta Odont. Scand. 24, suppl. 44, 1-109. AHLGREN J. (1969) 'The silent period in the EMG of the jaw muscles during mastication and its relationship to tooth contact'. Acta. Odont. Scand. 27, 219-277. AHLGREN J. and OWALL B. (1970) 'Muscular activity and chewing force. A polygraphic study of human mandibular movements.' Arch. Oral. Biol., 15, 271-280. ALEXANDER R. (1968) 'Animal Mechanics'. Seattle University of Washington Press. ALLING C. C. and MAHAN P. E. (1977) 'Yacial Pain', Philadelphia, Lea and Febiger. AN K. N.; KWAK B. M.; CHAO E. Y.; and MORREY B. F. (1984) 'Determination of Muscle and joint forces: A new technique to solve the indeterminate problem'. Trans. ASME, 106 364-367. AMIS A. A., DOWSON D., and WRIGHT V. (1980) 'Elbow joint force predictions for some strenuous isometric actions. J. of Biomechanics, 13, 765-775. ANAND S. C., ST. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976) 'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with diffe	'Functional disorders of the masticatory system.'
 AHLOREN J. (1966) 'Mechanism of mastication. A quantitative cinematographic and electromyographic study of masticatory movements in children with special reference to occlusion of the teeth'Acta Odont. Scand. 24, suppl. 44, 1-109. AHLGREN J. (1969) 'The silent period in the EMG of the jaw muscles during mastication and its relationship to tooth contact'. Acta. Odont. Scand. 27, 219-277. AHLGREN J. and OWALL B. (1970) 'Muscular activity and chewing force. A polygraphic study of human mandibular movements.' Arch. Oral. Biol., 15, 271-280. ALEXANDER R. (1968) 'Animal Mechanics'. Seattle University of Washington Press. ALLING C. C. and MAHAN P. E. (1977) 'Facial Pain,' Philadelphia, Lea and Febiger. AN K. N.; KWAK B. M.; CHAO E. Y.; and MORREY B. F. (1984) 'Determination of Muscle and joint forces: A new technique to solve the indeterminate problem.' Trans. ASME, 106 364-367. AMIS A. A., DOWSON D., and WRIGHT V. (1980) 'Elbow joint force predictions for some strenuous isometric actions. J. of Biomechanics, 13, 765-775. ANAND S. C., ST. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976) 'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Hinstochem., 2(1000-m., 21, 5	Acta. Odont. Scand., 30, 597-613.
 study of mastication. A quantitative cinematographic and electrolityographic study of masticatory movements in children with special reference to occlusion of the teeth'Acta Odont. Scand. 24, suppl. 44, 1-109. AHLGREN J. (1969) "The silent period in the EMG of the jaw muscles during mastication and its relationship to tooth contact." Acta. Odont. Scand. 27, 219-277. AHLGREN J. and OWALL B. (1970) 'Muscular activity and chewing force. A polygraphic study of human mandibular movements.' Arch. Oral. Biol., 15, 271-280. ALEXANDER R. (1968) 'Animal Mechanics'. Seattle University of Washington Press. ALLING C. C. and MAHAN P. E. (1977) 'Facial Pain,' Philadelphia, Lea and Febiger. AN K. N.; KWAK B. M.; CHAO E. Y.; and MORREY B. F. (1984) 'Determination of Muscle and joint forces: A new technique to solve the indeterminate problem.' Trans. ASME, 106 364-367. AMIS A. A., DOWSON D., and WRIGHT V. (1980) 'Elbow joint force predictions for some strenuous isometric actions. J. of Biomechanics, 13, 765-775. ANAND S. C., ST. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976) 'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone J. Surg. S8A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb musc	AHLGREN J. (1900) Nechanism of montionation A quantitative sinemateorenhia and electromycorrenhia
 HLGREN J. (1969) 'The silent period in the EMG of the jaw muscles during mastication and its relationship to tooth contact'. Acta. Odont. Scand. 27, 219-277. AHLGREN J. and OWALL B. (1970) 'Muscular activity and chewing force. A polygraphic study of human mandibular movements'. Arch. Oral. Biol., 15, 271-280. ALEXANDER R. (1968) 'Animal Mechanics'. Seattle University of Washington Press. ALLING C. C. and MAHAN P. E. (1977) 'Facial Pain,' Philadelphia, Lea and Febiger. AN K. N.; KWAK B. M.; CHAO E. Y.; and MORREY B. F. (1984) 'Determination of Muscle and joint forces: A new technique to solve the indeterminate problem.' Trans. ASME, 106 364-367. AMIS A. A., DOWSON D., and WRIGHT V. (1980) 'Elbow joint force predictions for some strenuous isometric actions. J. of Biomechanics, 13, 765-775. ANAND S. C., ST. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976) 'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone J. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Advin Bioeng, ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables	study of masticatory movements in children with special reference to occlusion of the teets' Acta Odont Scand 24 suppl 44, 1, 100
 AILONEATA, 1999) 'The silent period in the EMG of the jaw muscles during mastication and its relationship to tooth contact'. Acta. Odont. Scand. 27, 219-277. AHLGREN J. and OWALL B. (1970) 'Muscular activity and chewing force. A polygraphic study of human mandibular movements.' Arch. Oral. Biol., 15, 271-280. ALEXANDER R. (1968) 'Animal Mechanics'. Seattle University of Washington Press. ALLING C. C. and MAHAN P. E. (1977) 'Facial Pain,' Philadelphia, Lea and Febiger. AN K. N.; KWAK B. M.; CHAO E. Y.; and MORREY B. F. (1984) 'Determination of Muscle and joint forces: A new technique to solve the indeterminate problem.' Trans. ASME, 106 364-367. AMIS A. A., DOWSON D., and WRIGHT V. (1980) 'Elbow joint force predictions for some strenuous isometric actions. J. of Biomechanics, 13, 765-775. ANAND S. C., ST. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976) 'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) ' A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Advin Bioeng, ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model	AHI CREN I (1960)
 Into Statistic Deriverse and Participation and Participat	'The silent period in the FMG of the jaw muscles during mastication and its
 AHLGREN J. and OWALL B. (1970) 'Muscular activity and chewing force. A polygraphic study of human mandibular movements.' Arch. Oral. Biol., 15, 271-280. ALEXANDER R. (1968) 'Animal Mechanics'. Seattle University of Washington Press. ALLING C. C. and MAHAN P. E. (1977) 'Facial Pain,' Philadelphia, Lea and Febiger. AN K. N.; KWAK B. M.; CHAO E. Y.; and MORREY B. F. (1984) 'Determination of Muscle and joint forces: A new technique to solve the indeterminate problem.' Trans. ASME, 106 364-367. AMIS A. A., DOWSON D., and WRIGHT V. (1980) 'Elbow joint force predictions for some strenuous isometric actions. J. of Biomechanics, 13, 765-775. ANAND S. C., ST. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976) 'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) ' A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engn., 103, 239-245. 	relationship to tooth contact'. Acta. Odont. Scand. 27, 219-277.
 'Muscular activity and chewing force. A polygraphic study of human mandibular movements.' Arch. Oral. Biol., 15, 271-280. ALEXANDER R. (1968) 'Animal Mechanics'. Seattle University of Washington Press. ALLING C. C. and MAHAN P. E. (1977) 'Facial Pain,' Philadelphia, Lea and Febiger. AN K. N.; KWAK B. M.; CHAO E. Y.; and MORREY B. F. (1984) 'Determination of Muscle and joint forces: A new technique to solve the indeterminate problem.' Trans. ASME, 106 364-367. AMIS A. A., DOWSON D., and WRIGHT V. (1980) 'Elbow joint force predictions for some strenuous isometric actions. J. of Biomechanics, 13, 765-775. ANAND S. C., ST. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976) 'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. QL, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal	AHLGREN J. and OWALL B. (1970)
 ALEXANDER R. (1968) 'Animal Mechanics'. Seattle University of Washington Press. ALLING C. C. and MAHAN P. E. (1977) 'Facial Pain,' Philadelphia, Lea and Febiger. AN K. N.; KWAK B. M.; CHAO E. Y.; and MORREY B. F. (1984) 'Determination of Muscle and joint forces: A new technique to solve the indeterminate problem.' Trans. ASME, 106 364-367. AMIS A. A., DOWSON D., and WRIGHT V. (1980) 'Elbow joint force predictions for some strenuous isometric actions. J. of Biomechanics, 13, 765-775. ANAND S. C., ST. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976) 'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHH T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) ' A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHEM (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng, ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. 	'Muscular activity and chewing force. A polygraphic study of human mandibular movements.' Arch. Oral. Biol., 15, 271-280.
 'Animal Mechanics'. Seattle University of Washington Press. ALLING C. C. and MAHAN P. E. (1977) 'Facial Pain,' Philadelphia, Lea and Febiger. AN K. N.; KWAK B. M.; CHAO E. Y.; and MORREY B. F. (1984) 'Determination of Muscle and joint forces: A new technique to solve the indeterminate problem.' Trans. ASME, 106 364-367. AMIS A. A., DOWSON D., and WRIGHT V. (1980) 'Elbow joint force predictions for some strenuous isometric actions. J. of Biomechanics, 13, 765-775. ANAND S. C., ST. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976) 'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) ' A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone J. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng, ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engn., 103, 239-245. 	ALEXANDER R. (1968)
 ALLING C. C. and MAHAN P. E. (1977) 'Facial Pain,' Philadelphia, Lea and Febiger. AN K. N.; KWAK B. M.; CHAO E. Y.; and MORREY B. F. (1984) 'Determination of Muscle and joint forces: A new technique to solve the indeterminate problem.' Trans. ASME, 106 364-367. AMIS A. A., DOWSON D., and WRIGHT V. (1980) 'Elbow joint force predictions for some strenuous isometric actions. J. of Biomechanics, 13, 765-775. ANAND S. C., ST. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976) 'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv. in Bioeng, ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. 	'Animal Mechanics'. Seattle University of Washington Press.
 'Facial Pain,' Philadelphia, Lea and Febiger. AN K. N.; KWAK B. M.; CHAO E. Y.; and MORREY B. F. (1984) 'Determination of Muscle and joint forces: A new technique to solve the indeterminate problem.' Trans. ASME, 106 364-367. AMIS A. A., DOWSON D., and WRIGHT V. (1980) 'Elbow joint force predictions for some strenuous isometric actions. J. of Biomechanics, 13, 765-775. ANAND S. C., ST. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976) 'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv. in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. 	ALLING C. C. and MAHAN P. E. (1977)
 AN K. N.; KWAK B. M.; CHAO E. Y.; and MORREY B. F. (1984) 'Determination of Muscle and joint forces: A new technique to solve the indeterminate problem.' Trans. ASME, 106 364-367. AMIS A. A., DOWSON D., and WRIGHT V. (1980) 'Elbow joint force predictions for some strenuous isometric actions. J. of Biomechanics, 13, 765-775. ANAND S. C., ST. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976) 'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. 	'Facial Pain,' Philadelphia, Lea and Febiger.
 Determination of Muscle and joint forces: A new technique to solve the indeterminate problem.' Trans. ASME, 106 364-367. AMIS A. A., DOWSON D., and WRIGHT V. (1980) 'Elbow joint force predictions for some strenuous isometric actions. J. of Biomechanics, 13, 765-775. ANAND S. C., ST. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976) 'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. 	AN K. N.; KWAK B. M.; CHAO E. Y.; and MORREY B. F. (1984)
 problem. Trans. ASME, 106 364-367. AMIS A. A., DOWSON D., and WRIGHT V. (1980) 'Elbow joint force predictions for some strenuous isometric actions. J. of Biomechanics, 13, 765-775. ANAND S. C., ST. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976) 'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME, 71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. 	Determination of Muscle and joint forces: A new technique to solve the indeterminate
 AMIS A. A., DOWSON D., and WRIGHT Y. (1980) 'Elbow joint force predictions for some strenuous isometric actions. J. of Biomechanics, 13, 765-775. ANAND S. C., ST. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976) 'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. 	problem. Trans. ASME, 106 304-307.
 J. of Biomechanics, 13, 765-775. ANAND S. C., ST. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976) 'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. 	'Elbow joint force predictions for some strenuous isometric actions
 ANAND S. C., ST. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976) 'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. 	Libbw joint force predictions for some strendous isometric actions.
 ¹Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.² Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. ASMUSSEN E. and HEEBOLL-NIELSEN K. (1961) 	ANAND S. C., ST. JOHN K. R., MOYLE D.D. and WILLIAMS D. F. (1976)
 Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245. ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. 	'Finite element analysis of a medullary shaft implant.'
 ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957) 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. ASMUSSEN E. and HEEBOLL-NIELSEN K. (1961) 	Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 245.
 'Tooth contact during chewing'. J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. ASMUSSEN E. and HEEBOLL-NIELSEN K. (1961) 	ANDERSON D. J. and PICTON D. C. A. (1957)
 J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26. ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. 	'Tooth contact during chewing'.
 ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976) 'A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. ASMUSSEN E. and HEEBOLL-NIELSEN K. (1961) 	J. Dent. Res., 36, 21-26.
 A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostheses. J. Bone Jt. Surg. 58A, 616-624. ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. 	ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O., BELYTSCHKO T. B. and HAMPTON, S. (1976)
 ARICHE M. (1966) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. 	A stress analysis of the femoral stem in total hip prostneses.
 ARREITE M. (1900) 'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. ASMUSSEN E. and HEEBOLL-NIELSEN K. (1961) 	J. DOILE JL. SUIG. SOA, 010-024. A DICHE M (1066)
 of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions' M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. ASMUSSEN E. and HEEBOLL-NIELSEN K. (1961) 	'Cinefluorographic and mandibulographic studies of the opening and closing movements
M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y. ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. ASMUSSEN E. and HEEBOLL-NIELSEN K. (1961)	of the mandible in subjects with different types of occlusions'
 ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973) 'Hindlimb muscle fibre populations of five mammals.' J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. ASMUSSEN E. and HEEBOLL-NIELSEN K. (1961) 	M.Sc. thesis, Rochester, N.Y.
J. Histochem. Cytochem., 21, 51-55. ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. ASMUSSEN E. and HEEBOLL-NIELSEN K. (1961)	ARIANO M. A., ARMSTRONG R. B. and EDGERTON V. R. (1973)
 ARVIKAR R. and SEIREG A. (1978) 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. ASMUSSEN E. and HEEBOLL-NIELSEN K. (1961) 	Hindhind muscle hore populations of five mammals.
 'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during exercise.' Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. ASMUSSEN E. and HEEBOLL-NIELSEN K. (1961) 	$\Delta RVIK \Delta R R$ and SEIREG Δ (1078)
Adv.in Bioeng. ASME,71-73. ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. ASMUSSEN E. and HEEBOLL-NIELSEN K. (1961)	'Evaluation of upper extremity joint forces during evercise'
ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981) 'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. ASMUSSEN E. and HEEBOLL-NIELSEN K. (1961)	Advin Bioeng, ASME 71-73.
'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. ASMUSSEN E. and HEEBOLL-NIELSEN K. (1961)	ASKEW M. J. and LEWIS J. L. (1981)
prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245. ASMUSSEN E. and HEEBOLL-NIELSEN K. (1961)	'Analysis of model variables and fixation post length effects on stresses around a
is an official the second seco	prothesis in the proximal tibia.' J. Biomech. Engng., 103, 239-245.
'Isometric muscle strength of adult men and women' Communications from the testing	'Isometric muscle strength of adult men and women' Communications from the testing
and observation institute of Danish National Association for Infantile	and observation institute of Danish National Association for Infantile
Paralysis, No.11.	Paralysis, No.11.
ATMARAM G. H. and MOHAMMED H. (1978)	ATMARAM G. H. and MOHAMMED H. (1978)
'Material design, structure interactions in single-tooth implants'. Trans.	'Material design, structure interactions in single-tooth implants'. Trans.
4th Annual meeting Society for Biomaterials and the 10th Annual Int. Biomaterials Symposium, Vol. II.	4th Annual meeting Society for Biomaterials and the 10th Annual Int. Biomaterials Symposium, Vol. II.

AYDINLIK E. and AKAY U. H. (1980) 'Effect of a resilient layer in a removable partial denture base on stress distribution to the mandible. J. Prosthet. Dent., 44, 17-20. BADOUX D. M. (1966) 'Statistics of the mandible.' Acta Morph. Neerl. Scand., 6, 251-256. BADOUX D. M. (1972) 'Some notes on the stress in the caudal part of the lower jaw in domesticated dog. Proc. Kon. Ned. Akad. Wetensch., 75C, 34-43. BARAGAR F. A. and OSBORN J. W. (1984) 'Model relating patterns of human jaw movement to biomechanical constraints.' J. Biomechanics, 17, 757-767. **BARBANEL J. C. (1972)** 'The Biomechanics of the temporomandibular joint: A theoretical study.' J. Biomechanics, 5, 251-256. **BARBANEL J. C. (1974)** The mechanics of the temporomandibular joint : A theoretical and electromyographic study.' J. Oral Rehab, 1, 19-27. BARBANEL J. C. (1981) 'Do minimum principles apply in joint loadings? In "Mechanical functions and skeleton."' Edited by Stokes I., 38-43, John Libey, London. **BARBANEL J. C. (1983)** The application of optimization methods for the calculation of joint and muscle forces.'Eng. in Medicine, 12, 29-33. **BARKER D. (1948)** 'The innervation of the muscle spindles.' Q. J. Micr. Sci. 89, 143-186. BARKER D., HARKER D., STACYE M. J. and SMITH C. R.(1972) 'Fusimotor innervation. In: "Research in muscle development and the muscle spindle". Ed. Banker B. Q. et. al., Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam, 227-250. BARON P. (1975) 'Contribution aletude des muscles masticateurs humains: etude des faisceaux musculaires et de leur projections sur les trois plans orthog onaux de reference.' J. inf. Dent., 18, 21-24. BARON P. and DEBUSSY T. (1979) 'A Biomechanical functional analysis of the masticatory muscles in man.' Archs. Oral.Biol., 24, 547-553. BARTEL D. L., BURSTEIN A. H., TODA M. D., EDWARDS D. L.(1985) The effect of conformity and plastic thickness on contact stresses in metal-backed plastic implants.' J. Biomechanics, 107, 193-199. BASMAJIAN J. V. and STECKO G. A. (1962) 'A new bipolar indwelling electrode for EMG' J. Appl. Physiol., 17,849. BASSET C. A. L., CREIGHTON D. K. and STINCHFIELD F. E. (1961) 'Contributions of endosteum, cortex and soft tissues to osteogenesis. 'Surg. Gynec. Obstet. 112, 214. BASSET C. A. L. (1962) 'Current concepts of bone formation.' J. Bone Jt. Surg., 44A, 1217. BASSETTE R., BISHOP B. and MOHL N. (1971) 'Duration of masseteric silent period in patients with TMJ syndrome.' J. Appl. Physiol. 30, 864. BASSETTE R. and SHATKIN S. S. (1979) Predicting by EMG the results of non- surgical treatment of temporomandibular joint syndrome'.J. Plast. Reconstr. Surg., 64, 232.

BELL W. E. (1979) 'Orofacial pains : differential diagnosis.' Ed. 2, Chicago, Year Book Medical Publishers, Inc. BELL W. E. (1982) 'Clinical management of temporomandibular disorders.' Chicago, Year Book Medical Publishers, Inc. BELL W. E. (1983) 'Understanding temporomandibular biomechanics.' J. Craniofac. 1 (2), 27-33. **BENNETT N. G. (1908)** 'A contribution to the study of the movements of the mandible.' Proc. Roy. Soc. Med. (Odont. Sect. I (3),79-98. BERGSTROM R. M. (1959) 'The relation between the number of impulses and the integrated electric activity in electromyogram.' Acta Physiol. Scand. 45, 97-101. BERME N., PAUL J. P. and PURVES W. K. (1977) 'A biomechanical analysis of the metacarpo-phalangeal joint.' J. Biomech. 10, 409-412. **BEYRON H. L.(1942)** 'Orientering problem vid protetiska rekonstruktioner och bettstudier.' Sven. Tandlak. Tidsk., 35, 1. **BEYRON H. (1964)** 'Occlusal relations and mastication in Australian aborigines.' Acta Odontal, Scand., 22, 597-678. **BEYRON H. (1969)** 'Optimal occlusion.' Dent. Clin. M. Amer., 13, 537-554. BIGLAND B. and LIPPOLD O. C. J. (1954) 'The relation between force, velocity and integrated electrical activity in human muscles.' J. Physiol. (Lond.), 123, 214-224. BJORK A. (1947) 'The face in profile.' Svensk Tandlak. T.40: suppl. 5B, 1-180. BLACK G. B. (1895) 'The force exerted in the closure of the jaws.' Dent. Cosmos, 37, 469-484. BLACK J. and KOROSTOFF E. (1973) 'Dynamic mechanical properties of viable human cortical bone.' J. Biomechanics, 6, 435-438. BOCK W. J. (1966) 'An approach to the functional analysis of bill shape.' Auk, 83, 10-51. BOCK W. J. and B. KUMMER (1968) 'The avian mandible as a structural girder' J. Biomechanics, 1, 89-96. BOCK W. J. (1968) 'Mechanics of one and two-joint muscles.' Am. Mus. Novit., 2319, 1-45. **BOERING G. (1978)** 'Anatomical and physiological considerations regarding the temporomandibular joint. Int. Dent. J., 29, 245-250. BONFIELD W. and DATTA P. K. (1974) 'Young's modulus of compact bone.' J. Biomechanics, 7, 147-149. **BONFIELD W. (1984)** 'Elasticity and viscoelasticity of cortical bone.'In: Natural and Living Biomaterials. Ed. Hastings G. W. and Ducheyne P., 43-60, CRC Press, Inc. Boca Raton, Florida.

BOOS R. H. (1940) 'Intermaxillary relation established by biting power.' J. Am. Dent. Assoc. 27, 1192-1199. BOOSY J. (1958) 'A propos de l'innervation proprioceptive du muscle stylohyoidien et du ventre posterieur du muscle gastric.' Arch. Anat. Hist. Embryol (Strasb.)41, 37-50. BORGH O. and POSSELT U. (1958) 'Hinge Axis Registration : Experiments on the Articulator.' J. Pros. Dent. 8, 35-40. BOUCHER L. J., ZWEMER T. J. and PFLUGHOEFT F. (1959) 'Can biting force be used as a criterion for registering vertical dimension?' J. Pros. Dent., 9, 594-599. BOUCHER L. J. (1962) 'Anatomy of the temporomandibular joint as it pertains to centric relation.' J. Pros. Dent. 12, 464-472. **BOUCHER C. (1974)** 'Current clinical dental terminology.' C. V. Mosby Co., St.Louis. **BOWMAN A. (1970)** 'Flexion of the Mandible.' M.Sc. thesis. Indiana University School of Dentistry. BOWMAN B. R. and ERICKSON R.C. II (1985) 'Acute and chronic implantation of coiled wire intraneural electrodes during cyclical electrical stimulation'. Annals of Biomed. Eng., 13,1, 59-75. BRAWLEY R. E., and SEDWICH H. J. (1940) 'Studies concerning the oral cavity and saliva. Biting pressure movements of biting pressure in children.' Amer. J. Orthodont and Oral Surg., 26, 41-46. BREHNAN K., BOYD R. L., LASKIN J., GIBBS C. H. and MAHAN P. (1981) 'Direct measurements of loads at the tempero-mandibular joint in Macaca arctoides.' J. Dent. Res., 60, 1820-1824. BREKELMANS W. A. M., POORT H. W. and SLOOFF T. J. J. H. (1972) 'A new method to analyse the mechanical behaviour of skeletal parts.' Acta orthop. Scand., 43, 301-317. BREKKE C. A. (1959) 'Jaw function, Part I. Hinge rotation.' J. Pros. Dent. 9, 600. BREKHAUS P. H., ARMSTRONG W. D. and SIMON W. J. (1941) 'Stimulation of the muscles of mastication.' J. Dent Res., 20, 87. **BRIDGMAN C. F. (1968)** 'The structure of tendon organs in the cat : A proposed mechanism for responding to muscle tension.' Anat. Rec. 162, 209-220. BROADBENT B. H. (1931) 'A new X-ray technique and its application to orthodontia.' Angle Orthod., 1, 45-66.

BROWN T. (1965)

'Physiology of the mandibular articulation.' Austr. Dent. J., 10, 126-131.

BROWN T. D., WAY M. E. and FERGUSON A. B. (1980)

'Stress transmission anomalities in femoral heads altered by aseptic necrosis'. J. Biomech., 13, 687-699.

BUCHNER (1877) cited by SCHUMACHER (1961)

BURCH J. H. and BORCHERS G. (1970)

'Method for study of mandibular arch width change.'

J. Dent. Res., 49, 463.

BURCH J. G. (1972) 'Patterns of change in human mandibular arch width during jaw excursions.' Archs Oral Biol., 17, 623-631. BURSTEIN A. H., REILLY D. T. and MARTENS M. (1976) 'Ageing of bone tissue: Mechanical Properties.' J. Bone Joint Surg., 58A, 82. BURSTONE C. J. (1962) 'The biomehanics of tooth movement in Vistas in Orthodontics.' B. Kraus (Ed.), Lea and Febiger, Philadelphia, 197-213. CALAGNA L. J., SILVERMAN S. I. and GARFINKEL L. (1973) Influence of neuromuscular conditioning of centric relation registration. J. Prosthet. Dent., 30, 598. CAMPBELL H. G. (1977) 'An introduction to matrices, vectors, and Linear Programming,' 2nd edition, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs N.J. CAMPION G. G. (1905) Some graphic records of movements of the mandible in the living subject and their bearing on the mechanism of the joint and construction of articulators.' Dent. Cosmos., 47, 39-42. CAMPEN D. H., VAN CROON H. W. and LINDWER J. (1979) 'Mechanical loosening of knee endoprostheses with intermedullary stems : influence of dynamic loading.' 25th Annual Meeting Orthopaedic Res. Soc., 98. CARSLOO S. (1952) 'Nervous co-ordination and mechanical function of the mandibular elevators. An EMG study of the activity, and an anatomic analysis of the mechanics of the muscles.' Acta. Odont. Scand., 10 : Suppl, 1-132. CARSLOO S. (1958) 'Motor units and action potentials in masticatory muscles.' Acta morph. neerl. Scand., 2, 13-19. CARTER D. R., VASU R. and HARRIS W. H. (1982) 'Stress distributions in the acetabular region; II. Effects of cement thickness and metal backing of the total hip acetabular component.' J. Biomechanics, 15, 165-170. CHAO E. Y., OPGRANGE J. D. and AXMEAR F. E. (1976) 'Three dimensional force analysis of finger joints in selected isometric functions.' J. Biomech., 9, 387-396. CHAO E. Y. (1980) 'Mechanics of bioceramic endoprostheses using conical cone fixation without bone cement, 1980 - Advances in Bioengineering'. (Edited by Mov. V. C.) 89-92. ASME, New York. CHAO E. Y. and AN K. N. (1982) 'Biomechanical analysis of external fixation devices for the treatment of open bone fractures. In: Finite Elements in Biomechanics.' (Edited by Gallagher R. H. et al.), 195-222, John Wiley, New York. CHISSIN C. (1906) 'Uber die Offnungsbewegung des Unterkiefers und die Beteiligung der ausseren Pterygoid-muskeln bei derselben.' Arch. Anat. Entwick lungsqueschichte, 41-67. CHRISTENSEN C. (1905) 'The problem of the bite.' Dent. Cosmos, 47, 1184-1195. CNOCKAERT J. C., LANSEL G. and PERTUZON E. (1975) 'Relative contribution of individual muscles to the isometric contraction of a muscular group.' J. Biomechanics, 8, 191-197.

COOK S. D., KLAWITTER J. J. and WEINSTEIN, A. M. (1980) The influence of design parameters on calcar stresses following femoral head arthroplasty.' J. Biomed. Mat. Res. 14, 133-144. COOK S. D., KLAWITTER J. J. and WEINSTEIN A. M. (1982) 'The influence of implant geometry on the stress distribution around dental implants.' J. Biomed. Mat. Res., 16, 369-379. COWIN S. C. (Ed.) (1981) 'Mechanical Properties of Bone.' AMD - Vol. 45. ASME, New York. CROMPTON A. W. and HOTTON N. III (1967) 'Functional morphology of the masticatory apparatus of two Dicynodonts.' (Reptilia : Therapsida). Postilla, 109, 1-51. CROMPTON A. W., COOK P., HIIEMAE K., and THEXTON A. J. (1975) 'Movement of hyoid apparatus during chewing.' Nature (Lond.), 258, 69-70. CROON H. W., CAMPEN D. H., VAN KLOK J. and MIEHLKE R. (1982) 'Quasi two-dimensional FEM analysis and experimental investigations of the tibial part of knee endoprostheses with intramedullary stems.' In: Biomechanics : Principles and Applications (Edited by Huiskes et al.) 313-318, Martinus Nijhoff, The Hague. CROWNINSHIELD R. D. (1978) 'Use of optimization techniques to predict muscle forces.' J. Biomech. Engng., 100, 88-92. CROWNINSHIELD R. D., JOHNSON R. D., ANDREWS J. G. and BRAND R. A. (1978) 'A biomechanical investigation of the human hip.' J. Biomech., 11, 75-85. CROWNINSHIELD R. D. and BRAND R. A. (1981) 'A physiologically based criterion of muscle force prediction in locomotion.' J. Biomech., 14, 793-801. D'AMICO A. (1958) 'The canine teeth. Normal functional relation of the natural teeth of man.' J. Soc. Calf. Dent. Ass., 26, 6-23, 49-60, 127-142, 175-182, 194-208, 239-241. D'AMICO A. (1961) 'Functional occlusion of the natural teeth in man.' J. Prosth. Dent., 2, 899-915. DALY C. H., NICHOLLS J. I., NANSEN P. D. and KYDD W. L. (1972) 'The response of the maxillary central incisor to torsional loading.' Proc. 25th ACEMB - 35.7, Americana Hotel, Florida. **DAVIDIAN E. J. (1971)** 'Use of a computer model to study the force distribution on the root of the maxillary central incisor.' Amer. J. Orthodont, 59, 581-588. DeBOEVER J. A., McCALL W. D., HOLDEN S. and ASH M. M. (1978) 'Functional occlusal forces : An investigation by telemetry.' J. Posthet. Dent., 40, 326-333. DECHOW P. C. and CARLSON D. S. (1982) 'Development of masticatory muscle force in macaques.' J. Dent. Res., 61, 211. DECHOW P. C., CARLSON D. S., La BANC J. P. and EPKER B. N. (1983) 'Changes in bite force by masticatory muscle repositioning in Macaca nemestrina.' Am. J. Phys. Anthropol., 60, 187-188. DECHOW P. C. and CARLSON. D. S. (1983) 'A method of bite force measurement in primates.' J. Biomechanics, 16, 797-802. DeMARCO T. J. and PAINE S. (1974) 'Mandibular dimensional change.' J. Prosthet. Dent., 31, 482-485.

DuBRUL E. L. (1980) 'Sicher's Oral Anatomy.' Ed. 7, St. Louis, The C. V. Mosby Co. DuBRUL E. L. and SICHER H. (1954) 'The Adaptive Chin.' Springfield Ill., Charles C. Thomas. DUCHEYNE P., AERNOUDT E., DEMEESTER P., MARTENS M., MULIER J. C. and VAN LEEUWEN D. (1978) 'Factors governing the mechanical behaviour of the implant - porous coating trabecular bone interface. J. Biomechanics, 11, 297-307. EVANS F. G. (1953) 'Methods of studying the biomechanical significance of bone form. Am. J. Phys. Anthrop., 11, 413-436. EVANS F. G. (1957) 'Stress and Strain in Bones.' Charles C. Thomas, Springfield, Illinois. EVANS F. G. and BANG S. (1967) Differences and relationships between physical properties and the microscopic structure of human femoral, tibial and fibular cortical bone.' Am. J. Anat., 120, 79-88. EVANS F. G. (1973) 'Mechanical properties of bone,' Charles C. Thomas, Springfield, Illinois. FARAH J. W., CRAIG R. G. and SIKARSKIE D. L. (1973) 'Photoelastic and Finite element stress analysis of a restored axisymmetric first molar.'J. Biomechanics, 6, 511-520. FEDERICK D. R., PAMEIJER C. H. and STALLARD R. E. (1974) 'A correlation between force and distalization of mandible in obtaining centric relation. J. Periodont., 45, 70. FICK H. (1904) 'Handbuch der anatomie und mechanik der Gelenke.' Gustav Fisher, Jena. FICK R. (1910) 'Hanbuch der anatomie des menschen II.' Gustav Fischer, Jena. FIELDS H. W., PROFFIT W. R., MORAY L. J. and CASE J. C. (1982) 'Evaluation of vertical occlusal force in normal and long face children.' J. Dent. Res., 61, 342. FINN R. A., THROCKMORTON G. S., GONYEA W. J., BAKER D. R. and BELL W. H. (1980a) 'Neuromuscular aspects of vertical maxillary dysplasias. In: Surgical Correction of Dento-facial Deformities.' Vol: II (Edited by Bell et. al.) 1712-1730, W. B. Saunders, Philadelphia. FINN R. A., THROCKMORTON G. S., BELL W. H. and EGAN H. L. (1908b) 'Biomechanical considerations in the surgical correction of mandibular deficiency.' J. Oral Surg., 38, 257-264. FERRE J. C., HELARY J. L., LUMINEAU J. P. and LEGOUX R. (1981) 'Etude mechanique de las mandibule a l'aide des methodes modernes utilisees en resistance des materiaux.' Rev. Stomatol. Chir. Maxillofac., 82, 258-264. FERRE J. C., HELARY J. L., LUMINEAU J. P. and LEGOUX R. (1982) 'Application d'un modele tridimensionnel par informatique a l'etude de la structure de la mandibule. Rev. Stomatol. Chir. Maxillofac., 83, 4, 201-205. FISHER R. (1952) 'Beitrag zum artikulations problem.' Schweiz. Mschr. Zahnheilk., 62, 317-376. FISCHMAN B. M. (1976) 'The influence of fixed splints on mandibular flexure.' J. Prosthet. Dent., 35, 643-647.

FRANK L. (1950) 'Muscular influence on occlusion as shown by x-rays of the condyle.' Dent. Digest, 56, 484-488. FRANKEL V. H. and BURSTEIN A. H. (1970) 'Orthopaedic Biomehanics.' Lea and Febinger, Philadelphia. FREIMANN R. (1954) 'Untersuchungen uber Zahl und Anordnung der Muskelspindeln in den Kaumusheln des Menschen.' Anat. Anz., 100, 258-264. **FULTON J. F. (1955)** 'Textbook of Physiology.' Ed. 17, 140-141, W. B. Saunders Co., Philadelphia. GANZ R., PERREN S. M., RUETER A. (1975) 'Mechanische induktion der knochenresorption'. Fortschr Kiefer-u. Gesichtschir. XIX, 45. GARNER L. D. and KOTWAL N. S. (1973) 'Correlation study of incisive biting force with age, sex and anterior occlusion.' J. Dent. Res., 52, 698-702. GARRETT F. A., ANGELONE L. and ALLEN W. I. (1964) The effect of bite opening, bite pressure and malocclusion on the electrical response of the masseter muscles." Am. J. Orthod., 50, 435-444. GASPARD M., LAISON F. and MAILLAND M. (1973a) 'Organisation architechurale et texture du muscle masseter chez les primates et l'homme.J. Bio. Buccale, 1, 7-20. GASPARD M., LAISON F. and MAILLAND M. (1973b) 'Organisation architecturale et texture du muscle temporal et des faisceaux de transition du complexe temporomasseterin chez les primates et l'homme.' J. Biol. buccale, 1, 171-196. GASPARD M., LAISON F. and MAILLAND M. (1973c) 'Organisation architecturale et texture des musles pterygoidieuz chez l'homme.' J. Biol. buccale, 1, 353-366. **GASPARD M. (1974)** 'Myologie functionelle et odontologie : presentation d'une methode d'analyse of chaup de forces appliquees 'ala mandible.' Chirurgien - Dent. fr., 212, 41-53. GASS S. I. (1975) 'Linear programming.' McGraw-Hill, New York. GATES G. N. and NICHOLLS J. I. (1981) 'Evaluation of mandibular arch width change.' J. Prosthet. Dent., 46, 385-392. GIBBS C. H., RESWICK J. B. and MESSERMAN T. (1969) 'Functional movements of the mandible.' Case Western Reserve University, E.D.C. Report No. EDC 4-69-24. GIBBS C. H., MESSERMAN T., RESWICK J. B., and DERDA H. J. (1971) 'Functional movements of the mandible.' J. of Prosthet. Dent., 26, 604-620. GIBBS C. H., MAHAN P. E., LUNDEEN H. C., BREHNAN K., WALSH E. K. and **HOLBROOK W. B. (1981)** 'Occlusal forces during chewing and swallowing as measured by sound transmission' J. Prosthet. Dent. 46, 443-449. GILL H. I. (1971) 'Neuromuscular spindles in human lateral pterygoid muscles.' J. Anat., 109, 157-167.

GILLINGS B. R. D. (1967) 'Photoelectric mandibulography : a technique for studying jaw movements.' J. Prosthet. Dent., 17, 109-121. GINGERICH P. D. (1971) 'Functional significance of mandibular translation invertebrate jaw mechanics.' Postilla, 152, 1-10. GLICKMAN I., PAMELJER J. H. N. and ROEBER F. (1968) Intraoral occlusal telemetry Part I. A multifrequency transmitter for registering tooth contacts in occlusion.' J. Prosthet. Dent., 19, 60-68. GOEL V. K. and VALLIAPPAN S. (1976) 'Stress analysis of the first molar.' Int. Conf. on Finite Element Methods, Adelaide, Australia. GOEL V. K. and SVENSSON N. L. (1977) 'Forces on the Pelvis.' J. Biomechanics, 10, 195-200. GOEL V. K. (1977) 'Stress analysis associated with total hip prosthesis.' Ph. D. Thesis, University of New South Wales, Sydney. GOEL V. K., VALLIAPPAN S. and SVENSSON N. L. (1981) 'Stresses in the pelvis fitted with Charnley and McKee-Farrar prostheses.' Unpublished report. GOLGI C. (1893) 'Intorno all'origine del quarto nervo cerebrale.' Atti della reale Accad. dei Lincei. Ser. V. Vol II. GOODKIND R. J. and HERINGLAKE C. B. (1973) 'Mandibular flexure in opening and closing movements.' J. Prosthet. Dent., 30, 134-138. GOOD H. C. (1953) 'A radiographic and clinical evaluation of a method for determining transverse horizontal axes of the movement of the mandible.' Thesis, Chicago. GOODMAN M. C. (1968) 'Structure and function in the sumphyseal region of the pongid mandible.' Ph. D. Dissertation, Yale University. GOODSON J. M. and JOHANSEN E. (1975) 'Analysis of Human Mandibular Movement.' Monographs in Oral Science, Vol. 5, Editor.H. M. Myers., S. Kargel, A. G. Basel, Switzerland. GOSEN A. J. (1974) 'Mandibular leverage and occlusion.' J. Prosthet. Dent., 31, 369-376. GOUBEL F. (1971) 'Relation entre l'EMG integre et le travail mechanique dans le cas de mouvements, effectues a inertie constante avec ou sans charge.' J. Physiol. (Paris), 63, 224. GRANT P. G. (1973a) 'Biomechanics of the masticatory apparatus of the rhesus macaque (macaca mulatta).' Ph. D. dissertation, University of California, Berkeley. GRANT P. G. (1973b) 'Biomechanical significance of the instantaneous centre of rotation : The human temporomandibular joint.' J. Biomechanics, 6, 109-113. GRANT P. G. (1973c) 'Lateral pterygoid : Two mucles ? Am. J. Anat., 138, 1-10 **GRANIT R. (1955)** 'Receptors and Sensory Perception.' Yale University Press, New Haven.

GRANIT R. (1970) 'The Basis of Motor Control'. London, Academic Press. **GREAVES W. S. (1978)** 'The jaw lever system in ungulates : a new model.' J. Zool. (London), 184, 271-285. GRENOBLE D. E., KATZ J. L., DUNN K. L., GILMORE R. S. and MURTY K. L. (1972) 'The elastic properties of hard tissues and apatites.' J. Biomed. Mat. Res., 6, 221-233. GREGORY G., SHRYOCK E. F. and BAUM L. (1969) 'Hinge axis analysis : New procedures for location.' J. South Calif. Dent. Assoc., 37, 59. GRIFFIN C. J. and MALOR R. (1974) 'An analysis of mandibular movement.' Front. Oral. Physiol., 1, 159-198. GRIFFIN C. J. and MUNRO R. R. (1969) 'E.M.G. of the jaw closing muscles in the open-close-clench cycle in man'. Arch. Oral. Biol., 14, 141-149. **GRIFFIN C. J. (1971)** 'E.M.G. of the masseter and anterior temporalis muscles in patients with temporamandibular joint dysfunction.' Arch. Oral. Biol., 16, 929-949. GRIFFIN C. J. and SHARPE C. J. (1960) 'The structure of the human temporo-mandibular meniscus.' Aust. Dent. J., 5, 190-195. GRUNEWALD J. (1921) 'Uber die Beanspruchung und den Aufban des menschlinchen unterkiefers und die mechanische Bedeutung des Kinnes.' Arch. f. Anthropol., 46, 100 (N.F. 18). GUPTA K. K., KNOELL A. C., and GRENOBLE D. E. (1972) 'Mathematical modelling and structural analysis of the mandible.' ASME Winter Annual Meeting, 72-WA/BHF-4, New York. GUPTA K. K., KNOELL A. C., GRENOBLE D. E. (1973) 'Mathematical modelling and structural analysis of the mandible.' J. Biomat. Med. Dev., Art. Org., 1, 469-479. GURDJIAN E. S. and LISSNER H. R. (1944) 'Mechanism of head injury as studied by cathode ray oscilloscope.' J. Neurosurg., 1, 393-399. GYSI A. (1921) 'Studies on the leverage problem of the mandible.' Dent. Digest., 27, 74-84, 184-190, 203-208. HALL R. E. (1929) 'An analysisof the work and ideas of investigators and authors of relations and movements of the mandible.' J. A. D. A., 16, 1642-1693. HAMILTON W. J. and APPLETON A. B. (1956) 'Locomotor System' in: Textbook of Human Anatomy, Editor Hamilton W.J., MacMillan and Co. Ltd., London. HAMPTON S. J., ANDRIACCHI T. P., GALANTE J. O. and BELYTSCHKO T. B. (1976) 'Analytical approach to the study of stresses in the femoral stem of total hip prostheses.' Proc. 29th Annual Conf. on Eng. in Medicine and Biology, 32.1, Alliance for Eng. in Medicine and Biology. HAMPTON S. J., ANDRIACCHI T. P., DRAGANICH L. F. and GALANTE J. O. (1981) 'Stresses following stem cement bond failure in femoral total hip implants.' Proc. 27th Annual meeting Orthopaedics Research Society, 144, ORS, Chicago.

HANNAM A. G., DELOU R. E., SCOTT J. D. and WOOD W. W. (1980) 'The kinesiographic measurement of jaw displacement' J. Prosthet. Dent., 44, 88-93. HANNAM A. G. and WOOD W. W. (1981) 'Medial pterygoid muscle activity during the closing and compressive phases of human mastication. Am. J. Phy. Anthrop., 55, 359-367. HARRIS L. J., CHAO R., BLOCH R. and WEINGARTEN V. (1978) 'A three dimensional finite element analysis of the proximal third of the femur.' Proc. of 24th Annual Meeting of Orthopaedic Research Society, 16, ORS, Chicago. HAWTHORNE R. (1969) 'Microscopic Anatomy of the Temporomandibular Joint', M.D.S. Thesis, University of Sydney. HAWTHORNE R. (1980) 'Concepts on the temporomandibular joint function and dysfunction.' A.S.P. Bull., 31-38. HAYES W. C., SNYDER B., LEVINE B. M. and RAMASWAMY S. (1982) 'Stress-morphology relationships in trabecular bone of the patella.' Finite Elements in Biomechanics, Edited by Gallangher R. H. et al., 223-268, John Wiley, New York. HAYES W. C., SWENSON L. W. and SCHURMAN D. J. (1978) 'Axisymmetric finite element analysis of the lateral tibial plateau.' J. Biomechanics, 11, 21-33. HEDEGARD B. (1979) 'Mandibular movements recorded with LED s'. J. Prosthet., 42, 6,673. HEKNEBY M. (1974) 'The load of the temporomandibular joint : Physical calculations and analysis.' J. Prosthet. Dent., 31, 303-312. HELLSING G. and KLINEBERG I. (1983) 'The masseter muscle : the silent period and its clinical implications.' J. Prosthet. Dent., 49, 106. HELKIMO M., INGERVALL B. and CARLSSON G. E. (1973) 'Comparison of different methods in active and passive recording of the retruded position of the mandible.' Scand. J. Dental. Res., 81, 265-271. HENATSCH H. D., MEYR-COHMANN J., SCHMIDT J. and WINDHORST U. (1975) Influence of inhomogeneous extrafusal mechanics upon the static and dynamic behaviour of primary muscle-spindle endings in the cat.' J. Anat., 119, 200-202. HIGHLEY L. B. and LOGAN R. A. (1941) 'Roentgenographic interpretation of certain condyle and menton movements.' J. Amer. Dent. Asso., 28, 779-785. HIIEMAE K. M. (1966) 'The development, structure and function of the mandibular joint in the rat.' Ph. D. Dissertation, University of London. HILDERBRANDT G. Y. (1931) 'Studies on the mastication movements of the human lower jaw.' Skand. Arch. Physiol., 61, Suppl., 1-190. HILDERBRANDT G. Y. (1937) 'A further contribution to mandibular kinetics.' J. Dent. Res., 16, 661. HJORTSJO C. H. (1953) 'The mechanism in the temporomandibular joint.' Acta. Odon. Scan., 11, 5-23.

HJORTSJO C. H. (1954)

'Studies on the mechanics of the temporo-mandibular joint,'

Lund, Lunds Universitets Arsskrift.

HONEE G. L. J. M. (1966)

'An investigation on the presence of muscle spindles in the human lateral pterygoid muscle.' Ned. Tijdschr. Tandheelkd., 73, 43-48.(Suppl. 3)

HONEE G. L. J. M. (1970)

'De musculus pterygoideus lateralis.'

Thesis, Univ. of Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

HONEE G. L. (1972)

'The anatomy of the lateral pterygoid muscle.'

Acta Morphol. Neerl. Scand., 10, 331-340.

- HORI R. Y., LEWIS J. L., HANMER R. S. and ASKEW M. L.(1982)
 'The effect of a fibrous tissue liner between bone and cement on finitie element models of bone-prosthesis structures.' Proc. 28th Annual meeting Orthopaedic Research Society, 146, ORS, Chicago.
- HOWELL A. H. and MANLY R. S. (1948)

'An Electronic strain gauge for measuring oral forces.' J. Dent. Res., 27, 705-712.

HOWEL A. H. and BRUDEVOLD F. (1950)

'Vertical forces used during chewing of food.' J. Dent. Res., 29, 133.

HUI F. C., CHAO E. Y. and AN K. N. (1978)

'Muscle and joint forces at the elbow joint during isometric lifting.'

Trans of the 2th Annual Meeting of the Orthopaedic Research Society, 3, 167.

HUISKES R., HECK J. van, WALKER P. S., GREEN D. J. and NUNAMAKER D. (1980)
'A 3-D stress analysis of a new finger-joint prosthesis fixation system.'
Int. Conf. Proc. on Finite Elements in Biomechanics. (Edited by Simon B. R.), 749-762, University of Arizona Press, Tucson.

HUISKES R. and SCHOUTEN R. Y. (1980a)

'The effect of interface loosening on the stress distribution in intramedullary fixated artificial joints.' 1980 - Advances in Bioengineering (edited by Mow V. C.), 213-216, ASME, New York.

HUISKES R. and HECK J. van (1981)

'Stresses in the femoral head-neck region after surface replacement, a three dimensional finite element analysis.' Proc. 27th Annual Meeting Orthopaedics Research Society, 174, ORS, Chicago.

HUISKES R. and CHAO E. Y. S. (1983)

'A survey of finite element analysis in orthopaedic biomechanics : the first decade.' J. Biomechanics, 16, 385-409.

HYLANDER W. L. (1972)

'The Adaptive Significance of Eskimo Cranio- facial Morphology.'

Ph. D. Thesis. The University of Chicago.

HYLANDER W. L. (1975)

'The human mandible : Lever or Link?'

Am. J. Phys. Anthropol., 43, 227-242.

HYLANDER W. L. (1977)

'In vivo bone strain in the mandible of Galago crassicaudatus.'

Am. J. Phys. Anthropol., 46, 309-326.

HYLANDER W. L. (1978)

'Incisal bite force direction in humans and the functional significance of mammalian mandibular translation.'Am. J. Phys. Anthropol., 48, 1-7.

HYLANDER W. L. (1979)

'An experimental analysis of tempero-mandibular joint reaction forces in Macaques.' Am. J. Phys. Anthrop., 51, 433-456.

- HYLANDER W. L. (1984)
 - 'Stress and strain in the mandibular symphysis of primates : a test of competing hypotheses.' Am. J. Phys. Anthrop., 64, 1-46.

INMAN V. T., RALSTON H. J., SANDERS J. B., FEINSTEIN B. and WRIGHT E. W. (1952) 'Relation of human EMG to muscular tension.' Electroenceph. Clin. Neurophysiol., 4, 187-194. IKAI M. and FUKUNAGA T. (1968) 'Calculation of muscle strength per unit cross-sectional area of human muscle by means of ultrasonic measurement.' Int. Z. Agnew. Physiol., 26, 26-32. JANKELSON B., HOFFMAN G. M. and HENDRON J. A. (1953) 'Physiology of the stomatognathic system.' J. Am. Dent. Assoc., 46, 375. JANSEN R. H. and DAVY D. T. (1975) 'An investigation of muscle lines of action about the hip : a centroid line approach vs. the straight line approach.' J. Biomehanics, 8, 103-110. **JARABAK J. R. (1957)** 'An electromyographic analysis of muscular behaviour in mandibular movements from rest position.' J. Prosthet. Dent., 7, 682-710. **JENKINS G. N. (1966)** 'The Physiology of the Mouth,' 3 rd. ed., F. A. Davis Co., 461-476, Philadelphia. **JENKINS G. N. (1978)** 'The Physiology and Biochemistry of the Mouth.' 4.th ed., Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford. JOHNSON (1903) Cited by Fick (1910) JOHNSON M. A. and POGAR J. (1973) 'Data on distribution of fibre types in thirty six human muscles: an autopsy study.' J. Neurol. Sci., 18, 111. JOHNSTON T. B. and WHILLIS J. (1954) Editors, Gray's Anatomy, Ed. 31, Longmans, Green and Co., Inc., London. JUNG F. (1952) 'Die Elastizitat der Skeletteile des Gebifsystems' Stoma, 5, 74-93. JUNG F. (1959) 'Veranderungen des Protheslager's unter der Teilprothese' Dtsch. Zahnaerztl. Z., 14, 105-107. JUNG F. (1960) 'Zie Funktionell - elastische Deformation des Kieferknochens und die Eigenbeweglichkeit der Zahne.' Schweiz. Mschr. Zahnheilk, 70, 17. KANTOR M. E., SILVERMAN S. I. and GARFINKEL L. (1972) 'Centric-relation recording techniques - a comparative investigation.' J. Prosthet. Dent., 28, 593. **KARLSEN K. (1965)** The location of motor end plates and the distribution and histological structure of muscle spindles in the jaw muscles of the cat.' Acta Odontol. Scand., 23, 521-547. KARLSSON U., HOOKER W. and BENDEICH E. (1971) 'Quantitative changes in the frog muscle spindle with stretch.' J. Ultrastruct. Res., 36, 743-756. KARLSSON U. and HAWKS A. T. (1974) 'Sensory deformation in the primate muscle spindle.' J. Ultrastruct., Res. 50, 384-385. KARLSSON U. L. (1976) 'The structure and distribution of muscle spindles and tendon organs in the muscles.' In: Mastication, Editors, Anderson and Matthews, Wright, Bristol.

KARLSSON S.(1977) 'Recording of mandibular movements by intraorally placed light emitting diodes.' Acta Odontol Scand, 35, 111-118. KATZ J. L. and MOW V. C. (1973) 'Mechanical and structural criteria for orthopaedic implants.' Biomaterials. Med. Devices Artif. Organs., 1, 575-634. KAVANAGH D. and ZANDER H. A. (1965) 'A versatile recording system for studies of mastication.' Med. Biol. Eng., 3, 291-300. KAWAMURA Y., MAJIMA T. and KATO I. (1967) 'Physiologic role of deep mechanoreceptor in temporomandibular joint capsule.' J. Osaka Univ. Dent. Sch., 7, 63-76. KAWAMURA Y. (1967) 'Neurophysiologic background of occlusion.' Periodontics, 5, 175-183. KAWAMURA Y. and ABE K. (1974) 'Role of sensory information from temporo-mandibular joint.' Bull. Tokyo Med. Dent. Univ., 21, Suppl., 78-82. KIDD G. and BRODIE P. (1980) 'The motor unit: A review.' Physiother., 65, 5. KITOH M., SUETSUGS T. and MURAKAMI Y. (1977) 'Mechanical behaviour of tooth, periodontal membrane, and mandibular bone by the finite element method.' Bull. Tokyo Med. Dent. Univ., 24, 81-87. KLINEBERG I. (1971) 'Structure and function of tempromandibular joint innervation.' Ann. R. Coll. Surg. Engl., 49, 268-288. KLINEBERG I. J., GREENFIELD B. E. and WYKE B.B. (1979) 'Afferent discharges from temporomandibular joint mechanoreceptors. An experimental study in the cat.' Arch. Oral. Biol., 15, 935-952. KLINEBERG I. (1971) 'Masticatory Reflex Mechanism.'A.S.P. Bull., 25-31. KNAP F. J., RICHARDSON B. L. and BOGSTAD J. (1970) 'Study of mandibular motion in six degrees of freedom.' J. Dent. Res., 49, 289-292. KNOELL A. C. (1977) 'A mathematical model of an in vitro human mandible.' J. Biomechanics, 10, 159-166. KNOELL A. C. and GRENOBLE D. E. (1974) 'The role of biomechanics in oral implantology.' J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Symposium, No. 5, (Part 2), 435-443. KOBAYASHI A. S., WOO S. L., LAWRENCE C. and SCHLEGEL W. A. (1971) 'Analysis of the corneoscleral shell by the methods of direct stiffness.' J. Biomechanics, 4, 323-330. KOCH J. (1917) 'The Laws of Bone Architecture.' Am. J. of Anat., 21, 177-298. KOLLNER H. J. Von (1978) 'Das Verhalten der mandibula bei der repistrierung der retrudierten kontaktposition.' Zahn-Mund-u., Kieferheilkd., 66, 792-796. KOLLNER H. J. Von (1979) 'Okkluso-artikulare funktionsdiagnostik.' Stomatol. DDR, 29, 213-216. KOSKI K. (1962) 'Axis of the opening movement of the mandible.' J. Pros. Dent., 12, 888-894. KRAUS B. S., JORDAN R. E. and ABRAMS L.(1969) 'Dental Anatomy and Occlusion.' The Williams & Wilkins Co., Baltimore.

KROGH-POULSEN W. G. and OLSSON A. (1969) 'Management of the occlusion of the teeth. In: 'Facial Pain and Mandibular Dysfunction', Editors : Schwartz L. and Chayes C. M., 236-280, W. B. Saunders, Philadelphia. **KROMPECHER S. (1937)** 'Die knochenbildung.' Fisher, Jena. KUBOTA K. and MASEGI T. (1972) 'Muscle spindle distribution in the masticatory muscle of the Japanese shrew-mole.' J. Dent. Res., 51, 1080-1091. KUNTSCHER G. (1934) 'Die darstellung des kraftflusses im knochen.' Zbl. Chir., 61, 2130-2136. KURTH L. E. and FEINSTEIN I. K. (1951) 'The hinge axis of the mandible.' J. Prosthet. Dent., 1, 327. **KUPPERS K. (1971)** 'Analyse der funktionellen struktur des menschlichen Unterkiefers.' Springer-Verlag, Berlin. KWAK B. M., LIM O. K., KIM Y. Y. and RIM K. (1979) 'An investigation of the effect of cement thickness on an implant by finite element stress analysis.' Int. Orthop. (SICOT), 2, 315-319. KYDD W. L. (1958) 'Rapid serial roentgenographic cephalometry for observing mandibular movements.' J. Prosthet. Dent., 8, 880-886. LAKES R. S. and KATZ J. L. (1984) 'Viscoelastic properties of bone.' In: Natural and Living Biomaterials, (Ed.), Hastings and Ducheyne, CRC Press Inc., Florida. LANGER (1865) As cited by Posselt (1952) LAST R. J. (1954) 'Anatomy, Regional and Applied,' J. and A. Churchill Ltd., London. LAURITZEN A. G. and BODNER G.H. (1961) 'Variations in location of arbitrary and true hinge axis points.' J. Prosthet. Dent., 11, 224. LAVERNIA C. J., COOK S. D., WEINSTEIN A. M. and KLAWITTER J. J. (1981) 'An analysis of stresses in dental implant system.' J. Biomechanics, 14, 555-560. LEHR R. P., BLARTON P. L. and BIGGS N. L. (1971) 'An electromyographic study of the mylohyoid muscle.' Anat. Rec., 169, 651-660. LE PERA F. (1964) 'Determination of the Hinge Axis.' J. Prosthet. Dent., 14, 651. LEWIS J. L. (1977) 'Analytical methods in prosthesis design.'Proc. Workshop on Internal Joint Replacement'127-134, Northwestern University, Chicago. LEWIS J. L., ASKEW M. J. and JAYCOX D. P. (1982) 'A comparative evaluation of tibial component design of total knee prosthesis.' J. Bone Jt. Surg., 64 - A, 1, 129-135. LINDBLOM G. (1960) 'On the anatomy and function of the temporo-mandibular joint.' Acta Odontol. Scand., 17, Suppl. 28.

LINDEGARD B. (1953) 'Variations in human body building.' Acta Psychiat. et Neurolog. Suppl. 86 LINDERHOLM H. and WENNSTROM A. (1970) 'Isometric bite force and its relation to general muscle force and body build.' Acta Odont. Scand., 28, 679-689. LIPKE D. P., GAY T., GROSS B. D. and YAEGER J. A. (1977) 'An EMG study of the humanlateral pterygoid muscle.' J. Dent. Res., 56B, 230. LIPPOLD O. C. J. (1952) The relation between the integrated action potentials in a human muscle and its isometric tension.' J. Physiol., 117, 492. LOCKHARD R. D., HAMILTON G. F. and FYFE F. W. (1959) 'Anatomy of the Human Body,' Faber and Faber Ltd., London. LUCE C. E. (1889) 'The movements of the lower jaw'. Boston Med. and Surgical J., 121, 8-11. LUND P., NISHIYAMA T. and MOLLER E. (1970) 'Postural activity in the muscles of mastication with the subject upright, inclined and supine.'Scand. J. Dent. Res., 78, 417-424. LUNDBERG M. (1963) 'Free movements in the temporomandibular joint.' Acta, radio. suppl., 220, 1-77. LUNDEEN H. C. and GIBBS C. H. (1982) 'Advances in Occlusion.'John Wright, PSG, Inc., Ch. 1, Boston. LUPKIEWICZ S. M., GIBBS C. H., MAHAN P. (1982) 'The instantanneous hinge axis.'J. Dent. Res., 61, 1, 2-7. MacCONAILL M. A. (1967) The ergonomic aspects of articular mechanisms. In studies on the Anatomy and Function of Bones and Joints.' (Ed.) Evans, F. G., Springer-Verlag, Berlin. MAINLAND D. and HILTZ E. J. (1934) 'Forces exerted on the human mandible by the muscles of mastication.' J. Dent. Res., 14, 107-124. MAGLIO V. J. (1972) 'Evaluation of mastication in the Elephantidae.' Evolution, 26, 638-658. MANIATOPOULOS C., PILLIAR R. M., SMITH D. C. (1986) Threaded versus porous surface design for implant stabilization in bone endodontic implant model.' J. Biomed. Mat. Res., 20, 1309-1333. MANNS A. and SPRENG M. (1977) EMG amplitude and frequency at different muscular elongations under constant masticatory force or EMG activity.' Acta Physiol. Lat. Am., 27, 259. MANNS A., MIRALLES R. and PALAZZI C. (1979) 'EMG, bite force, and elongation of the masseter muscle under isometric voluntary contractions and variations of vertical dimension.' J. Prosthet. Dent., 42, 674-682. **MATTHEWS B. (1975)** 'Mastication.'In : Lavelle C. (ed.), Applied Physiology of the Mouth.' Wright, Ch. 10., Bristol. McCORMIC C. W. (Editor) (1973) 'NASA Structural analysis program.' NASTRAN. McDOWELL J. A. and REGLI C. P. (1961) 'A quantitative analysis of the decrease in width of the mandibular arch during forced movements of the mandible.' J. Dent. Res., 40, 1183-1185.

MCELHANEY J. H., FOGLE J. L., MELVIN J. W., HAYNES R. R., ROBERTS V. L. and ALEM N. 'Mechanical Properties of Cranial Bone.' J. Biomechanics, 3, 495-511. McNAMARA D. C. (1976) 'Inhibitory effects in the masticatory neuromusculature of human subjects at median occlusal position.' Arch. Oral. Biol., 21, 329. McNAMARA D. C. (1977) 'Occlusal adjustment for a physiologically balanced occlusion,' J. Prosthet. Dent., 38, 284. McNAMARA J. A. JR. (1972) 'Neuromuscular and skeletal, adaptations to altered oro-facial function.' Ann Arbor, University of Michigan. McNAMARA J. A. JR. (1973) 'The independent functions of the two heads of the Lateral Pterygoid muscle.' Am. J. Anat., 138, 197-206. MERRILLEES N. C. R. (1962) 'Some observations on the fine structure of a Golgi tendon organ of a rat.' In : Barker D. (Ed.) Symposium of Muscle Receptors. Hong Kong University Press, 199. **MEYER E. (1875)** 'Uber rothe und blasse quegestreifte Muskeln.' Arch. Anat. Physiol., 217-232. MILLNER-BROWN H. S., STEIN R. B. and YEMM R. (1973) 'Changes in firing rate of human motor units during linearly changing voluntary contractions.' J. Physiol. (London), 230, 359-390. **MOLLER E. (1966)** 'The chewing apparatus : an EMG study of the action of the muscles of mastication and its correlation to facial morphology.' Acta Physiol. Scand., 69, Suppl. 280. **MOLLER E. (1970)** 'Computer analysis of EMG data in clinical studies of oral function.' Scand. J. Dent. Res., 78, 411-416. **MORRISON J. B. (1967)** 'The Forces Transmitted by the Human Knee Joint During Activity.' Ph.D. Thesis, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow. MOSS M. L. (1959) 'Functional Anatomy of the Temporomandibular Joint,' In Schwarz L. (Ed.) Disorders of the Temporomandibular Joint, W. B. Saunders Comp., Philadelphia. MOSS M. L. (1960) 'Functional anatomy of the TMJ.' New York J. of Dent., 29, 315-319. **MOYERS R. E. (1950)** 'EMG analysis of certain muscles involved in a temporomandibular movement.' Am. J. Orthodont., 36, 481-515. MURASE K., CROWNINSHIELD R. D., PEDERSEN D. R. and CHANG T. - S. (1983) 'An analysis of tibial component design in total knee arthroplasty.' J. Biomechanics, 16, 13-22. MUHLEMANN H. R. (1951) 'Periodontometry : A Method for measuring tooth mobility.' Oral Surg., Oral Med., Oral Path., 4, 1220. MUHLEMANN H. R. (1954) 'Tooth Mobility I. The measuring method, initial and secondary tooth Mobility.' J. Periodont., 25: 22. MUHLEMANN H. R. (1954) 'Tooth Mobility II. The role of Interdental contact points and of activation on tooth mobility.' ibid., 125. MUHLEMANN H. R. and ZANDER H. A. (1954) 'Tooth Mobility III. The mechanism of tooth mobility.' ibid., 128. MUHLEMANN H. R. (1954) 'Tooth Mobility IV. Tooth mobility changes through artificial alterations of the periodontum.' ibid., 198.

MUHLEMANN H. R. (1954) 'Tooth Mobility V. Tooth mobility changes through artifical trauma.' ibid., 202. MUHLEMANN H. R. (1967) 'Tooth Mobility: A review of clinical aspects and research findings.' J. Periodont., 38, 114-141. MUNRO R. R. (1971) 'An EMG study of the jaw opening reflex following tooth contact in the open-close clench cycle in man.' Thesis, University of Sydney, Sydney. MUNRO R. R. and BASMAJIAN J. V. (1971) 'The jaw opening reflex in man.' Electromyography, 11, 191-206. MUNRO R. R. and GRIFFIN C. J. (1971) EMG of the jaw jerk recorded from the masseter and anterior temporalis muscles in man.' Arch. Oral. Biol., 16, 59-69. MYERS G. C. (1974) 'Status report on articulators.' J. Am. Dent. Associ., 89, 1158. NAVARKARI K. (1956) 'An analysis of mandibular movement from rest to the occlusal position.' Acta Odont. Scand., 14, suppl. 19, 1-129. NICOL A. C. (1977) 'Elbow joint prosthesis design: Biomechanical aspects. Ph. D. Thesis, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow. NICOL A. C., BERME N., PAUL J. P. (1977) 'A biomechanical analysis of elbow joint function in joint replacement in the upper limb.' I. Mech E, London. NISSAN M. (1981) 'The use of a permutation approach in the solution of joint biomechanics : The knee.' Engng. Med., 10, 39-44. NOBLE H. W. (1973) 'Comparative functional anatomy of temporo-mandibular joint.' Oral Sci. Rev., 2, 3-28. NORDH F. (1974) 'Trigeminal neuralgia and mandibular dysfunction.' Swed. Dent. J., 67, 1-20. NORDSTROM S. H., BISHOP M. and YEMM R. (1974) 'The effect of jaw opening on the sarcomere length of the masseter and temporal muscles of the rat.' Arch. Oral Biol., 19, 151. NORTON R., KNOELL A., GUPTA K. and GRENOBLE D. (1974) 'Biomechanical modelling and structural analysis of a human mandible containing a blade implant.' Proc. of 5th Int. Conf. on Experimental Stress Analysis. Udine. Italy. NOVAK C. A. (1972) 'Mandibular dimensional change in the various jaw position and its effect upon prosthetic appliances.' Dental Student, 50, 19. OKESON J. P. (1985) 'Fundamentals of Occlusion and Temporo-mandibular Disorders.' The C. V. Mosby Comp., Princeton. OLOFSSON H. (1976) 'Three dimensional FEM calculation of elastic stress field in human femur. Dissertation.' Institute of Technology, University of Uppsla, Sweden. OMAR R. and WISE M. D. (1981) 'Mandibular flexure associated with muscle force applied in the retruded axis position.' J. Oral Rehab., 8, 209-221.

OONISHI H. (1981)

'Three-dimensional finite element analysis of the pelvis and ceramic acetabulum.' Proc. 27th Annual Meeting Orthopaedic Research Soc., 72, ORS, Chicago.

OONISHI H., ISHA H. and HASEGAWA T. (1983)

'Mechanical analysis of the human pelvis and its application for the artificial hip joint by means of the three dimensional finite element method.' J. Biomechanics, 16, 427-444.

OSBORN J. and TOMLIN H. R. (1964)

'Medial convergence of the mandible.'British Dental Journal, 117, 112-114.

OSBORN J. W. and BARAGAR F. A. (1985)

'Predicted pattern of human muscle activity during clenching derived from a computer assisted model : Symmetric vertical bite forces.'

J. Biomechanics, 18, 599-612.

OSTROM J. H. (1964)

'A functional analysis of jaw mechanics in the dinosaur Triceratops.'Postilla, 88, 1-35.

PAGE H. L. (1954)

'Temporomandibular joint physiology and jaw surgery.'

Dent. Dig., 60, 54-59.

PAGE H. L. (1960)

'Hinge axis, arguments and typical examples-Proof.

Dent. Dig., 00, 368.

PALLA S. and ASH M. M. JR. (1981)

'Effect of bite force on the power spectrum of the surface electromyogram of human jaw muscles.' Arch. Oral Biol., 26, 287-295.

PARFITT G. J. (1960)

'Measurement of the physiological mobility of individual teeth in an axial direction.'J. Dent. Res., 39, 608-618.

PARRINGTON F. R. (1934)

'On the Cynodont genus Galesaurus, with a note on the functional significance of the changes in the evolution of the Thesiodont skull.'

Ann. Mag. Nat. Histo. 13, 38-67.

PAUL J. P. (1965)

'Studies of forces transmitted by joints II - engineering analysis. In : Biomechanics and related Bioengineering topics.' (Ed.) Kenedi R. M., Pergamon Press. Oxford.

PAUL J. P. (1967)

'Forces transmitted by joints in the human body.'

Proc. Inst. Mech. Engng., 181, 8-15.

PAUL J. P. (1980)

'Joint kinetics. In : The joints and synovial fluid.'

Vol. II, 139-176, (Ed.) Sokoloff L., Academic Press, New York.

PAULSON J. (1973)

'Biomechanics of the Leg.'

Ph. D. Thesis, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow.

PAUWELLS F. (1965)

'Gesammelte abhandhungen zur funktionellen anatomie des bewegung sapparates.' Springer, Berlin.

PAUWELLS F. (1980)

'Biomechanics of the Locomotor Apparatus.' Springer-Verlag, Berlin.

PERRY H. (1955)

'Functional EMG of the temporal and masseter muscles in class II, division I malocclusion and excellent occlusion.' Angle Orthod., 25, 49-58.

PERRY H. (1957)

'Muscular changes associated with TMJD.'

J. Am. Dent. Asso., 54, 641-653.

PICTON D. C. A. (1962) 'A method of measuring physiologic tooth movements in man.' J. Dent. Res., 36, 814. PICTON D. C. A. (1962) 'Distortion of the jaws during biting.' Arch. Oral Biol., 7, 573-580. **POSSELT U. (1952)** 'Studies in the mobility of the human mandible.' Acta. Odont. Scand., 10, Supp. 10, 1-160. **POSSELT U. (1962)** 'Physiology of occlusion and rehabilitation.' Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford. **PRESTON J. D. (1979)** 'A reassessment of the mandibular transverse horizontal axis theory.' J. Prosthet. Dent., 41, 605-613. PRIVITZER E., WIDERA O. and TESK J. A. (1974) 'Some factors affecting dental implant design.' Proc. 6th Annual Biomat. Symp., Clemson University, Clemson. PROFITT W. R., FIELDS H. W. and NIXON W. L. (1983) 'Occlusal forces in normal and long face adults.' J. Dent. Res. 62, 566-571. PRUIM G. J., TEN BOSCH J. J. and DE JONGH H. J. (1978) 'Jaw muscle EMG-activity and static loading of the mandible.' J. Biomechanics, 11, 389-395. PRUIM G. J., DE JONGH H. J. and TEN BOSCH J. J. (1980) 'Forces acting on the mandible during bilateral static bite at different bite force levels.' J. Biomechanics, 13, 755-763. PUGH J. W., ROSE R. M., RADIN E.K. (1973) 'Elastic and viscoelastic properties of trabecular bone : dependence on structure.' J. Biomechanics, 6, 475-485. RAMFJORD S. P. and ASH M. (1971) 'Occlusion,' 2nd Ed. Saunders, Philadelphia. REES L. (1954) 'Structure and function of the mandibular joint.' Brit. Dent. J., 96, 125-133. REILLY D. T. and BURSTEIN A. H.(1974) 'Mechanical properties of cortical bone.' J. of Bone and Joint Surgery, 56A, 1001-1022. REILLY D. T. and BURSTEIN A. H.(1975) 'The elastic and ultimate properties of compact bone tissue.' J. Biomechanics, 8, 393-405. REGLI C. P. and KELLY E. K. (1967) 'The phenomenon of decreased mandibular arch width in opening movements.' J. Prosthet. Dent., 17, 49-53. RINGOVIST M. (1973) 'Isometric bite force and its relation to dimensions of the facial skeleton.' Acta. Odon. Scand., 31, 35-42. RINGQVIST M. (1973a) 'Histochemical enzyme profiles of fibres in human masseter muscles with special to fibres with intermediate myofibrillar ATPase reaction.' J. Neurol. Sci. 18, 133-141. RINGQVIST M. (1973b) 'Fibre sizes of human masseter muscle in relation to bite force.' J. Neurol. Sci., 19, 297-305. RINGQVIST M. (1974) 'A histochemical study of temporal muscle fibres in denture wearers and subjects with natural dentition.' Scand. J. Dent. Res., 82, 28-39.

ROBERTS D. (1974) 'The etiology of the temporomandibular joint dysfunction syndrome.' Am. J. Orthodont., 66, 498-515, **ROBERTS D. and TETTERSALL I. (1974)** 'Skull form and the mechanics of mandibular elevation in mammals.' Am. Mus. Novitates, 2356, 1-9. ROBINSON M. (1946) 'The temporomanidibular joint: Theory of reflex controlled non-lever action of the mandible.' J. Am. Dent. Assoc., 33, 1260-1271. ROEHRLE H., SCHOLTEN R., SOLLBACH W., RITTER G. and GRUENERT A. (1977) 'Der kraftfluss bei huftendoprothesen.' Arch. Orthop. Unfallchir., 89, 49-60. ROEHRLE H., SCHOLTEN R. and SOLLBACH W. (1980) 'Analysis of stress distribution in natural and artificial knee joints on the femur side using the finite element mothod.' Int. Conf. Proc. on Finite Elements in Biomechanics. (Ed.) Simon B.R., 781-794, University of Arizona Press, Tucson, ROEHRLE H., SOLLBACH W. and GEKELER J. (1982) 'Stress anakysis in artificial knee joints with fixed and movable axis using the finite element mothod.' Biomechanics Principles and Applications. (Ed.) Huiskes R. et al., 305-312, Martinus Nishoff, The Hague. ROHLMANN A., BERGMANN G. and KOELBEL R. (1980) 'Aussagewert und grezen der spannungsberechnung mit der Finiten-Element-Methode (FEM) bei orthopdischen Problemen.' Z. Orthop., 118, 122-131. ROHLMANN A., BERGMANN G. and KOELBEL R. (1982) 'The relevance of stress computation in the femur with and without entoprostheses.' Finite Elements in Boimechanics. (Ed.) Gallagher R.H. et al., 361-377, John Wiley. ROSSE C. and CLAWSON D. K. (1980) 'The musculoskeletal system in health and disease.' Harper and Row, Hagerstown, Md. RYBICKI E.F., SIMONEN F.A. and WEIS E.B. (1972) 'On the mathematical analysis of stress in the human femur.' J. Biomechanics, 5, 203-215. ROYDHOUSE R.H. (1955) 'The temporomandibular joint: upward force of the condyles on the cranium.' J. Am. Dent. Assoc. 50, 166-172. SARNAT B. G. and LASKIN D. M. (1980) The Temporomandibular Joint. 3rd ed., Springfield, Charles C. Thomas, Publisher, Illinois. SCALZI H. A. and PRINCE H. M. (1972) 'Electron microscopic observations of the sensory region of the mammalian muscle spindle.' In: (Ed.) Banker B. Q. et al., Research in Muscle Development and the Muscle Spindle, 254-263, Excerpta Medica, Amsterdam. SCHAERER P., LEGAULT J. V. and ZANDER H. A. (1966) 'Mastication under anesthesia.' Helv. Odontol. Acta, 10, 130-134. SCHENK R. (1975) 'Histologie der primaren knochenheilung.' Fortschr. Kiefer- u. Gesichtschir. XIX, 8. SCHOLTEN R., ROEHRLE H. and SOLLBACH W. (1978) 'Analysis of stress distribution in natural and artificial hip joints using finite-element method.' S. Afr. Mech. Eng., 28, 220-225. SCHOLTEN R. (1975) 'Ueber die berechnung der mechanischen beanspruchung in knochenstrukturen mittels fuer den flugzeugbau entwickelter rechenver-fahren.' Med. Orthop. Technik, 6, 130-138.

221

SCHMOKER R. and SPIESSL B. (1973) 'Exzentrisch - dynamische Kompressionplatte.' Schw. Monat. fur Zahnh., 83, 1496-1509. SCHUMACHER G. H. (1961) 'Functionelle Morphologie der Kaumuskulatur.' Fisher, Jena. SCHUMACHER G. H. and WOLFF (1966) 'Trocken gewicht und physiologischer querschnitt der menschlichen skelettmuskulatur. II, Physiologiche Querschnitte.' Anat. Anz., Band 119 259-269. SCOTT J. H. and SYMONS N. B. B. (1958) Introduction to Dental Anatomy. 2nd ed., E. & S. Livingstone Ltd., London. SEIDELMANN U., RICHTER H. and SOLTESZ U. (1982) 'On the structural safety of ceramic hip-joints heads.' Biomaterials 1980, (Ed.) Winter G. D. et al., 213-218, John Wiley, New York. SHAPAGH I., YODER J. L. and THAYER K. E. (1975) 'Diurnal variance of centric relation position.' J. Prosthet. Dent., 34, 574. SHANAHAN T. E. J. and LEFF A. (1966) 'Physiologic and mechanical concepts of occlusion.' J.Prosthet. Dent., 16, 62-72. SHRIVASTAVA S. C., AHMED A. M., BURKE D. L. and SALAMON S. (1980) 'The effect of geometry of PMMA - bone composite on stresses in a prosthetically resurfaced proximal tibia.' Proc. 26th Annual Meeting Orthopaedic Res. Soc., ORS, Chicago. SHYBUT G. T., ASKEW M. J., HORI R. Y. and STULBERG S. D. (1980) 'Theoretical and experimental studies of femoral stresses following surface replacement hip arthroplasty.' The Hip, Ch. 10, 192-224, C. V. Mosby, St. Louis. SICHER H. (1954) 'Position and movements of the mandible.' J. Am Dent. Assc., 48, 620-625. SICHER H. (1960) Oral Anatomy, 3rd ed. C. V. Mosby Co., St. Louis, Missouri. SICHER H. and BHASKAR S. N. (1972) Orbans Oral Histology and Embryology, 7th ed., C. V. Mosby Co., St. Louis. SICHER H. and Du BRUL E. L. (1975) Oral Anatomy, C. V. Mosby Co., St Louis. **SIEBERT G. (1981)** 'Recent results concerning physiological tooth movement and anterior guidance.' J. Oral. Rehab., 8, 479-493. SIH G. C., MATIC P. and BERMAN A. T. (1981) 'Failure prediction of the total hip prosthesis system.' J. Biomechanics, 14, 833-841. SIMON J. H. and FRANK A. L. (1980) 'The endodontic stabilizer additional histologic evaluation.J. Endod., 6, 450-455. SIMPSON D. (1975) An Examination of the Design of an Endoprosthesis for the Elbow, M. Sc. thesis, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow. SISSONS H. A. (1969) 'Anatomy of the motor unit' In: Disorders of Voluntary Muscle, (Ed.) Walton, 1-16, Churcill, London. SKIBA T. J. and LASKIN D. M. (1981) 'Masticatory muscle silent periods in patients with MPD syndrome before and after treatment.' J. Dent. Res., 60, 699. SKINNER H. B., COOK S. D., WEINSTEIN A. M. and HADDAD R. J. (1982) 'Stress changes in bone secondary to the use of a femoral canal plug with cemented hip replacement.' Clin. Orthop. Rel. Res., 166, 277-283.

SMITH R. J. (1978) 'Mandibular biomechanics and temporo-mandibular joint function in primates.' Am. J. Phys. Anthrop., 49, 341-350. SOLOMON J. A., WAYSENSON B. D. and WARSHAW B. D. (1979) 'Computer-monitored radionuclide tracing of three-dimensional mandibular movements.' J. Prosthet. Dent., 41, 463-469. STALLARD H. and STUART C. E. (1963) 'Concepts of occlusion. What kind of occlusion should re-cusped teeth be given?' Dent. Clin. North Am., Nov., 591-606. STEIN J. M. and PODYKULA H. A. (1962) 'Histochemical classification of muscle fibres.'Exp. Neurol., 26, 424-432. STERN J. T. Jr. (1974) 'Biomechanical signifiance of the instantaneous center of rotation: the human temporomandibular joint.' J. Biomechanics, 7, 109-110. STRENGER F. (1949) Biting Forces in Man. Stockholm, Sweden. STROHAVER R. A. (1972) 'A comparison of articulator mountings made with centric relation and myomonitor centric position records. J. Prosthet. Dent., 28, 379. STUART C. E. (1964) 'Good occlusion for natural teeth.' J. Prosthet. Dent., 14, 716-724. STUART C. E. and STALLARD H. (1957) 'Diagnosis and treatment of occlusal relations of the teeth.' Tex. Dent. J., 75, 430-435. SVENSSON N. L., VALLIAPPAN S. and WOOD R. D. (1977) 'Stress analysis of human femur with implanted Charnley Prosthesis.' J. Biomechanics, 10, 581-588. SVENSSON N. L., VALLIAPPAN S. and McMAHON R. (1980) 'Finite element analysis of a simulated total hip replacement.' Engng. Med., 9, 143-146. SZENTAGOTHI J. (1948) 'Anatomical considerations of monosynaptic reflex arcs.' J. Neurophysiol., 11, 445-453. TATTERSALL I. (1973) 'Cranial anatomy of Archaeolemurinae.' Anthrop.Pap.Amer.Mus.Nat.Hist.,52,1-110. TAYLOR A., CODY F.W.J. and BOSLEY M. A. (1973) 'Histochemical and mechanical properties of the jaw muscles of the cat.' Exp.Neurol., 38, 99-109. **TAYLOR A. (1976)** 'Fibre types in the muscles of mastication. In:Mastication,(Ed.) Anderson D.J. and Matthews B.,16-25, John Wright and Sons Ltd.,Bristol. **TAYLOR A. (1976)** 'The role of jaw elevator muscle spindles, ibid.,198-204. **TAYLOR R. G. (1980)** 'Fast and slow skeletal muscles: Contractility evaluated by paired stimuli in mice.' Arch. Phys. Med., 61, 151. TERRY R.J. and TROTTER M. (1953) 'The Articulators in Morris Human Anatomy, (Ed.) Schaeffer J.P., 11th ed., Blakiston Co., New York. TESK J.A. and WIDERA O. (1973) 'Stress distribution in bone arising from loading on endosteal dental implants. J. Biomed. Mat. Res. Symp. 4, 251-261.

TESK J.A., WIDERA G.E.O.and PRIVITZER E.(1976)
Interaction effects among cortical bone, cancellous bone and periodontal membrane of
natural teeth and implants.
J. Biomed. Mat. Res. Symp. 7, 613.
THEXTON A.J. and HIIEMAE K.(1975)
'Masticatory EMG activity as a function of food consistency.
J. Dent. Res., 54, L95(abstract).
THRESHER R.W. and SAITO G.E. (1973)
The stress analysis of human teeth.
J. Biomechanics, 6, 443-449.
THROCKMORTON G.S. and THROCKMORTON L.S. (1985)
'Quantitative calculations of temporomandibular joint reaction forces-I.: The
importance of the magnitude of the jaw muscle forces.
J. Biomechanics, 18, 445-452.
THROCKMORTON G.S. (1985)
Quantitative calculations of temporomandibular joint reaction forces II.: The
importance of the direction of the jaw muscle forces.
J. Biomechanics, 18, 453-461.
THROCKMORTON G. S., FINN R. A., BELL W. H. (1980)
'Biomechanics of differences in lower facial height.'
Am. J. Orthod., 77, 410-420.
THOUREN G.(1914)
'Articulatio mandibularis och unterkakens rorelser i sagittalt och horisontellt plan.
Svensk Tandlak., 7, 32-48.
TOULOUMIS C., PATRY Y., LUND J. P., RICHMOND F. and LAMARRE Y. (1975)
'Golgi tendon organs in masseter and temporalis muscles of the kitten.'
J. Dent. Res., 54, 109 (Abstract).
TRAPOZZANO V. R. and LAZZARI J. R. (1967)
The physiology of the terminal rotational position of the condules in the
temporomandibular joint.'
J. Prosthet. Dent., 17, 122-133.
TUELLER V. T. (1969)
The relationship between the vertical dimension of occlusion and forces generated by
closing muscles of mastication.'
J. Prothet. Dent., 22, 284-288.
TURNER M. J. (1956)
'Stiftness and deflection analysis of complex structures.'
J. Aerosol. Sci., 23, 805-812.
ULRICH J. (1896)
'The human temporomandibular joint: Kinematics and actions of the masticatory
muscles.' Condensed and translated by Posselt U. from Doctorate in Medicine,
Copenhagen. J. Pros. Dent., 9, 399-408
UTKU S. and AKYUZ F. A. (1968)
'ELAS a general purpose computer program for the equilibrium problems of linear
structures'. Jet propulsion Lab., Tech. Report 32-1240 Pasadena, California.
VAJDA T. T. (1987) personal communications.
VALLIAPPAN S., SVENSSON N. L. and WOOD R. D. (1977)
Three dimensional stress analysis of the human femur.
Comput. Biol. Med., 7, 253-264.
VALLIAPPAN S., KJELLBERG S. and SVENSSON N. L. (1980)
'Finite element analysis of total hip prosthesis'. Int. Conf. Proc. on Finite Elements
in Biomechanics. (Ed.) Simon B. R., 528-548. University of Arizona Press. Tucson.
VAN AUDEKERCHE R. and MARTENS M. (1984)
'Mechanical properties of cancellous hone'. In: Natural and Living Biomaterials

'Mechanical properties of cancellous bone', In: Natural and Living Biomaterials ,(Ed.) Hastings and Ducheyne, CRC press, Florida.

VASU R., CARTER D. R. and HARRIS W. H. (1982) 'Stress distributions in the acetabular region - I. Before and after total joint replacement'. J. Biomechanics, 15, 155-164.
VICHNIN H. H., HAYES W. C. and LOTKE P. A. (1979) 'Parametric FE studies of tibial component fixation in the total condylar knee prosthesis'. Proc. 25th Annual Meeting Orthopaedic Research Society. 99, ORS. Chicago.
VICHNIN H. H. and BATTERMAN S. C. (1982) 'Effects of cortical bone anisotropy on prosthesis stem stresses'. Proc. 28th Annual Meeting Orthopaedic Research Society., 277, ORS, Chicago.
VICHNIN H. H. and BATTERMAN S. C. (1986) 'Stress analysis and failure prediction in the proximal femur before and after total hip replacement'. J. Biomechanics., 108, 33-41.

VITTI M. and BASMAJIAN J. V. (1977)

'Integrated actions of masticatory muscles: Simultaneous EMG from eight intramuscular electrodes'. Anat. Rec., 187, 173-190.

VOSS H. (1956)

'Zahl und anordnung der muskelspindeln in den oberen zungenbeinmuskeln, in M. trapezius und M. latissimus dorsi'. Anat. Anz. 103, 443-446.

- WALKER A. C. (1978)
 - 'Functional anatomy of oral tissues'.

In: Textbook of Oral Biology. (Ed.) Shaw J. H. et al., W. B. Saunders Co., Philadelphia.

WAUGH L. M. (1937)

'Dental observation among Eskimos'.

J. Dent. Res., 16, 355.

WEIJS W. A. (1980)

'Biomechanical model of the analysis of form: A study of the mammalian masticatory apparatus'. Am. Zool., 20, 707-719.

WEIJS W. A. and DANTUMA R. (1981)

'Functional anatomy of the masticatory apparatus in the rabbit'. Neth. J. Zool., 31, 99-147.

WEIJS W. A. and HILLEN B. (1984)

'Relationship between the physiological cross-section of the human jaw muscles and their cross-sectional area in computer tomograms'.

Acta. Anat., 118, 129-138.

WEINBERG L. A. (1959)

'Transverse hinge axis - Real or imaginary?'.

J. Prosthet. Dent., 9, 775-787.

WEINMANN J. P. and SICHER H. (1955)

Bone and Bones-Fundamentals of bone biology, 2.nd ed., Kimpton, London.

WEINSTEIN A. M., KLAWITTER J. J. and COOK S. D. (1980)

'Implant-bone interface characteristics of bioglass dental implants'.

J. Biomed. Mat. Res., 14, 23-29.

WIDERA G. E. O., TESK J. A. and PRIVITZER E. (1976)

'Interaction effects among cortical bone, cancellous bone and periodontal membrane of nature teeth and implants'. J. Biomed. Mat. Res. Symp., 7, 613-623.

WIEDERHIELM C. A., KOBAYASHI A. S., STROMBERG D. D. and WOO S. L. Y. (1968) 'Structural response of relaxed and constricted arterioles'.

J. Biomechanics, 1, 259-270.

WILKES C. H.(1978)

'Antrograph of the temporomandibular joint'. Minnesota Medicine, Nov.

WILLIAMSON E. H.(1982)

'The masticator silent period: its use in diagnosis and treatment in dysfunctions'. J. Clin. Orthod., 16, 686.

WILSON G. H. (1920)

'The anatomy and physics of the temporomandibular joint'.

J. Nat. Dent. Assoc., 7, 414-420.

WILSON G. H. (1921)

'The anatomy and physics of the temporomandibular joint'.

J. Nat. Dent. Assoc., 8, 236-241.

WOELFEL J. B., HICKEY J. C., STACY R. W. and RINEAR L. L. (1960)

'Electromyographic analysis of jaw movements'.

J. Pros. Dent., 10, 688-698.

WOLFF J. (1870)

'Ueber die innere architektuer der knochen und ihre bedeutung fuer die frage vomknochen wachstum'.

Virchows Arch. path. Anat. Physiol., 50, 389.

WOOD R., VALLIAPPAN S. and SVENSSON N. L. (1973)

'Stress analysis of human femur'.

Theory and Practice in FEM Structural Analysis, Tokyo Seminar. (Ed.) Yamada Y. and Gallagher R. H., 461-478. University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo.

WOOD W. W. (1986)

'Medial pterygoid muscle activity during chewing and clenching.'

J. Prosthet. Dent., 55, 615-621.

WORNER H. K. and ANDERSON M. N. (1944) 'Biting force measurements on children'.

Aust. J. Dent., 48, 1-12.

YAMADA H. (1970)

Strength of Biological Materials. Williams and Wilkins, Baltimore.

YAO B. P.(1976)

'Investigations concerning the principle of minimal total muscular force'. J. Biomech., 9, 413-416.

YEMM R. (1976)

'The properties of their motor units, and length-tension relationships of the muscles'.In: Mastication, (Ed.) Anderson D. J. and Matthews B., 25-32, John Wright and Sons Ltd., Bristol.

YEMM R. (1977)

'The representation of motor unit action potentials on skin-surface eletromyograms of the masseter and temporal muscles in man'.

Archs. Oral. Biol. 22, 201-205.

YETTRAM A. L. and WRIGHT K. W. J. (1979)

'Biomechanics of the femoral component of total hip prostheses with particular reference to the stress in the bone-cement'.

J. Biomed. Engng., 1, 281-285.

YETTRAM A. L. and WRIGHT K. W. J. (1980)

'Dependence of stem stress in total hip replacement on prosthesis and cement stresses'. J. Biomed. Engng., 2, 54-59.

YOSHIDA K. (1968)

'Anatomical and anthropological study of mandible'.

Medical Journal - Kobe University, 30, 28-86.

ZWIRNER E. (1949)

'Verwendungsmoglichkeiten des kathodenstrahloszillographen zu forschungszwecken in der Zahn-Mund-Kieferheilkunde'. Deut. Zahnartzt. Z., 4, 794.

ZWIRNER E. (1951)

Nachweis von zahnbewegungen im tierversuch, ibid., 6, 39.

ZIENKIEWICZ O. C. (1971)

The Finite Element Method in Engineering Science. McGraw-Hill Pub. Co. Ltd., Maidenhead.

ZENKER W. and ZENKER A. (1955)

'Die tatigkeit der kiefermuskein und ihre electomyographishe analyse'. Z. Anat. Entwicklungsgesh, 119, 174-200.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

ANDERSON D. J. and MATTHEWS B. (1976) Mastication, John Wright and Sons Ltd., Bristol. BELL W. E. (1982) Clinical management of temporomandibular disorders, Year Book Medical Publishers, Chicago. BERKOVITZ B. K. B., HOLLAND G. R. and MOXHAM B. J. (1985) A Colour Atlas and Textbook of Oral Anatomy. Wolfe Med. Pub. Ltd. Du BRUL E. L. (1980) Sicher's Oral Anatomy, 7th ed., The C. V. Mosby Co., St. Louis. FRANKEL V. H. and NORDIN M. (1980) Basic Biomechanics of the Skeletal Systems. Lea and Febiger, Philadelphia. GALLAGHER R. H., SIMON B. R., JOHNSON P. C., GROSS J. F. (1982) Finite Elements in Biomechanics. John Wiley & Sons., New York. GRIFFIN C. J. and HARRIS R. (1975) The Temporomandibular Joint Syndrome. The Masticatory Apparatus of Man Normal and Abnormal Function. Monographs in Oral Science, Vol. 5, S. Karger, Basel. KAWAMURA Y. (1974) Frontiers of Oral Physiology, Vol. 1., Physiology of Mastication S. Karger, Basel. KLINEBERG I. (1986) Occlusion, 2nd ed., Friar Press, Sydney. McMINN R. M. H. and HUTCHINGS R. T. (1977) A Colour Atlas of Human Anatomy. Studentlitteratur, Lund, Sweden. MOORE K. L. (1982) Clinically Oriented Anatomy, Williams & Wilkins. NORKIN C. and LAVANGIE P. (1983) Joint Structure and Function, 'A Comprehensive Analysis', F. A. Davis Company, Philadelphia. **OKESON J. P. (1985)** Fundamentals of Occlusion and Temporomandibular Disorders. The C. V. Mosby Co., St. Louis. **POSSELT U. (1968)** The Physiology of Occlusion and Rehabilitation, 2nd ed., F. A. Davis Co., Philadelphia. RAMJFORD S. P. and ASH M. M. (1983) Occlusion, 3rd ed., W. B. Saunders Co., Philadelphia. ROHEN J. W. and YOKOCHI C. (1983) Colour Atlas of Anatomy, Igeku-Shoin, N.Y. SARNAT B. G. and LASKIN D. M. (1980) The Temporomandibular Joint, 3rd ed., Charles C. Thomas, Springfield, Illinois. SCHUMACHER G. H. (1961) Funktionelle Morphologie Der Kaumuskulatur. Gustav Fisher Verlag, Jena. SCHWARTZ L. Disorders of the Temporomandibular Joint. W. B. Saunders Comp., Philadelphia. SCOTT J. H. and DIXON A. D. (1978) Anatomy for Students of Dentistry, 4th ed., Churchill Livingstone., Edinburgh. SOLBERG W. K. and CLARK G. T. (1980) Temporomandibular Joint Problems. Quintessence Pub. Co. Inc. SPIESSL B. (1976) New Concepts in Maxillofacial Bone Surgery. Springer-Verlag, Berlin. WILLIAMS P. L. and WARWICK R. (1982) GRAY's Anatomy. 36th ed., Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh. ZIENKIEWICZ O. C. (1971) The Finite Element Method in Engineering Science. Maidenhead, McGraw-Hill Pub. Co. Ltd.

APPENDIX I

Digitizing method and finite element nodal point generation. Following figures represents, the final twenty nine plots of the digitized cross sections.





MAND.03

231












































APPENDIX II

General published anatomic data on the muscles of the mastication.

242							
	TABLE A						
MUSCLE	ORIGIN	INSERTION					
BUCCINATO	ALVEOLAR PROCESSES OF MAXILLAE AND MANDIBLE	ORBICULRIS ORIS FIBRES					
* MASSETER	ZYGOMATIC PROCESS OF MAXILLA, ZYGO- MATIC ARCH	RAMUS, ANGLE AND CORONOIC PROCESS OF MANDIBLE					
MENTALIS	MENTAL SYMPHYSIS	SKIN OF CHIN AND LOWER LIP					
* PTERYGOID LATERALIS	GREAT WING OF SPHENOID, LATERAL PTERYGOID LAMNIA	CONDYLOID PROCESS					
* PTERYGOID MEDIALIS	LATERAL PTERYGOID LAMNIA, PALATINE MAXILLA	RAMUS ANDANGLE OF MANDIBLE					
RISORIUS	BUCCINATOR FASCIA	SKIN OF CORNERS OF MOUTH					
* TEMPORALIS	TEMPORAL FOSSA	CORONOID AND RAMUS, MANDIBLE					
	TABLE B						
MUSCLE	GENERAL	ACTION					
BUCCINATO	CHEEK OF FACE	COMPRESSES FACE					
* MASSETER	SIDE OF MANDIBULAR	ELEVATES MANDIBLE					
MENTALIS	CHIN	DEPRESSES LIP, WRINKLES CHIN					
* PTERYGOID LATERALIS	MEDIAL TO RAMUS OF MANDIBLE	PROTRUDES AND OPENS JAW					
* PTERYGOID MEDIALIS	MEDIAL TO LATERALIS	CLOSES JAW					
RISORIUS	LATERAL TO MOUTH	PULLS MOUTH LATERALLY					
* TEMPORALIS	LATERAL SKULL	CLOSES JAWS					
1							

Average length (mm) of muscles of mastication (SCHUMACHER, 1961).

MED.PTERY.	MALE 17.7	FEMALE 14.9
MASSETER	26.7	25.2
TEMPORALIS	36.1	31.5
LAT. PTERY.	22.8	21.5

TABLE 2

Average weight (gr) of muscles of mastication (SCHUMACHER, 1961).

MED.PTERY.	WET WGHT. 3.13	% 11.1	DRY WGHT. 0.92	% 11.1
MASSETER	7.85	28.0	2.35	28.1
TEMPORALIS	12.89	45.8	3.82	45.7
LAT.PTERY.	4.24	15.1	1.26	15.1

Mean values(x), standard deviations(sd), and range of variation for the mandibular dimensions reported by Ringqvist (1973).

VARIABLE	x	S.D.	RANGE
Max.incisor bite force, kg.	29.9	6.0	20.5-45.7
Max. molar bite force, kg.	47.7	9.4	30.8-69.3
Overjet, mm	2.5	1.6	1.0-5.5
Overbite, mm	3.3	1.5	1.0-7.5
Max. opening, mm	54.8	4.7	41.0-62.0
Lateral movement, left, mm	10.6	1.7	6.5-14.0
Lateral movement, right mm	10.6	1.9	7.0-16.0
Protrusion, mm	8.2	2.1	4.0-12.0
Length of the mandibular base, mm	114.7	4.8	106.5-125.6
Length of the mandibular body, mm	80.5	5.5	68.0-92.0
Height of the ramus, mm	51.2	4.9	41.6-59.2
Height of the mand.alveolar proc., mm	29.7	2.5	27.2-34.1
-			

TABLE 4

Reported average maximum opening (mm)

	MALE	FEMALE
Posselt (1952)	43.4	
Navakari (1960)	55.7	
Travell (1960)	59.0	53.0
Posselt (1962)	60.0	50.0
Sheppard (1965)	46.9	
Ringqvist (1973)	54.8	
Bosman (1974)	54.4	53.6
Agerberg (1974)	58.6	53.3
Rosenbaum (1975)	44.9	
Rieder (1978)	40.0-60.0	35.0-55.0



Reported maximum bite forces (both sides) (N)

	PRUIM	RANGE	OSBORN
First PREMOLAR P ₁	633	(386-908)	833
First MOLAR M_1	965	(609–1308)	1029
Second MOLAR M_2	756	(403-1206)	
Third MOLAR M_3			1715

APPENDIX III

General published biomechanics data on the muscles of the mastication.

Physiological cross sectional area (cm^2) of the facial muscles:

	SCHUMACHER	PRUIM	GRANT	BRYCE WEBER FICK CARLSOO	GYSI	BUCHNER	THIS WORK
MED.PTERY.	1.97	5.0	1.43	4.0	2.3	1.5	2.0
MASSETER	3.02	5.3	2.53	7.5	3.87	2.75	3.0
Anterior	2.01	2.6	1.65	5.19	-	0.45	
Posterior	3.81	1.6	1.65	3.05	4.3	3.45	3.8
OPENERS	_	1.0 ×	. –	· _	-	-	1.4
LAT. PTERY.	1.83	2.1	. –	-	-	1.5	1.8

*Only anterior digastric was measured (0.8cm²)

TABLE 7

.

Averaged	calculated	maximum	muscle	forces	(N)	(single	side)
----------	------------	---------	--------	--------	-----	---------	-------

	HONEE (1970)	CARLSOO (1952)	SCHUMACHER (1961)×	PRIUM (1980)	OSBORN (1985)	THIS WORK
MED.PTERY.	—	299 <u>+</u> 46	190	620,176	254	191
MASSETER	-	614 <u>+</u> 107	340	039 <u>+</u> 170	450	340
Anterior	-	519 <u>+</u> 102	490	362 <u>+</u> 65	264	590
Posterior	-	305 <u>+</u> 102	420	197 <u>+</u> 26	323	528
OPENERS	-	-		115 <u>+</u> 40	107	155
LAT. PTERY.	100 <u>+</u> 16.5	525	175	378 <u>+</u> 106	382	378

* Reported by Pruim et al.(1980)

Average Maximum Muscle Tension (Maximum force exerted by a muscle to its physiological cross section)(N/m^2)

		_
JOHNSON (1903)	1.0×10^{6}	
FICK (1910)	$1.0X10_{c}^{0}$	
MORRIS (1948)	$0.9X10^{0}_{c}$	
CARLSOO (1952, 1956)	$1.1 \times 10^{\circ}$	
HETTINGER (1961)	$0.4X10^{0}_{c}$	
IKAI & FUKUNAGA (1968)	$0.7 \times 10^{\circ}$	
PRUIM (1980)	$1.4 \times 10^{\circ}$	
THIS WORK	$1.47 \times 10^{\circ}$	

TABLE 9 Muscle moment arms in (cm):

	BARBANEL	(1973) GRAN	Т	**	PRUIM
	(1972)	CLOSE	I C CLOSE	R × OPEN	C. Cent. OPEN	(1980)
MED. PTERY.	2.3	2.4	4.5	0.45	2.2	3.5
MASSETER	2.7	3.3	5.4	0.95	2.95	4.1
Anterior	2.6	3.1	5.8	5.2	3.4	3.3
Posterior	2.0	1.9	3.5	6.3	1.5	2.1
OPENERS	-	-	-	-	-	10.4
LAT. PTERY.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

* ICR: Instantaneous centre of rotation.

** Condyle center

249

TABLE 10

Angular Directions (Degrees)

	PRUIM×	OSBORN	THROCKMORTON	THIS WORK**
MED.PTERY.	70.3	55.,67.	· _	80.0
MASSETER	64.1	72.,75.,87.,91.	66.	80.0
Anterior TEMPORALIS	99.5	98 129 144	119	113 4
Posterior	139.8	30.,123.,111.	112.	115.1
OPENERS	210.8	190.	-	210.8
LAT.PTERY.	0.0	10.,332.,356.	_	348.0

 $\boldsymbol{\times}$ Measured when condyle was located opposite the tubercle and not in the articular fossa. ****** During clench.

APPENDIX IV

General published data on the mechanical properties of the mandibular bone.

TABLE	1	1

Various	published Young's modulus (MPa) values
	for enamel, dentin, and PDL.

	ENAMEL	DENTIN	PDL
GUPTA (1972)		2.06×10^4	
THRESHER (1973)	4.1×10^4	1.37×10^4	0.13×10^4
NORTON (1974)		2.06×10^4	
WIDERA (1976)		2.07×10^4	0.69×10^2
KITOH (1977)	5.88×10^4	1.07×10^4	
KNOELL (1977)		2.08×10^4	
WEINSTEIN (1980)		2.07×10^4	0.69×10^2
GOEL (1976)	4.0×10^4	1.33×10^4	

TABI	E 1	12
------	-----	----

Various published Young's modulus (MPa) values.

	CORTICAL BONE	ALVEOLAR BONE	CANCELLOUS BONE
GRENOBLE (1972)	1.79×10^4		
NORTON (1974)	1.03×10^4	1.03×10^4	
WIDERA (1976)	1.03×10^4		1.29×10^3
KITOH (1977)	0.98×10^4		0.5×10^3
KNOELL (1977)	1.79×10^4	1.04×10^4	
WEINSTEIN (1980)	1.37×10^4		
LAVERNIA (1981)	1.37×10^4		0.69×10^3
BLACK (1973)	Wet $6.9-10.4 \times 10^3_4$ Dry 10.7-18.8 x 10 ⁴		
REILLY (1974)	1.7×10^4		
EVANS (1973)	1.9×10^4		
SVENSSON (1977)	1.72×10^4		0.32×10^3
VICHNIN (1986)	1.15×10^4		0.325×10^3

Variations in Young's moduli (MPa) values according to intermedullary cancellous bone percentages.

	KNOELL (1977)	WEINSTEIN (1980)
1% 10% 15% 25% 30% 40% 50% 65% 75% 90%	$\begin{array}{r} 0.2 \times 10^{3} \\ 2.7 \times 10^{3} \\ 5.4 \times 10^{3} \\ 7.2 \times 10^{3} \\ 11.7 \times 10^{3} \\ \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.005 \times 10^{3} \\ 0.5 \times 10^{3} \\ \\ 1.5 \times 10^{3} \\ \\ \\ 4.0 \times 10^{3} \\ \\ 7.0 \times 10^{3} \\ 11.0 \times 10^{3} \end{array}$

TABLE 14

The	elastic	moduli	of	bone	(GPa)	
			_			

	Swans	son	Van Burskirk	Vichnin
	WET DRY		(198 ľ)	(1986)
LONGITUDINAL	8.78	12.1	21.5	17.0
TRANSVERSE	4.21	6.29	14.4	11.5
RADIAL	3.8	6.4	13.0	_

APPENDIX V

Details of the force analysis of the muscles of mastication. Various previously published data and anatomic observations were utilised to determine the magnitude and the direction of the muscles.

	MASSETER	TEMPORALIS A	TEMPORALIS B	MEDIAL PT	LATERAL PTERYGOID	OPENERS*
Р	340.0	264.2	264.2	191.4	378.1	155.0
P _x	141.9	50.6	50.6	-82.9	-215.4	0.0
P _y	-53.6	+102.9	+102.9	29.7	-307.6	+133.2
Pz	304.3	238.1	238.1	170.0	-43.2	-79.3
P _{xy}	151.7	114.6	114.6	-88.1	375.5	0.0
P _{zy}	309.0	259.3	259.3	172.5	310.6	155.0
P _{xz}	335.8	243.4	243.4	9.1	219.7	0.0





ESTIMATED	MUSCLE	FORCE MAGNITUDE (N) AND DIRECTIONS
		(ONE SIDE ONLY)
	B. 1	IDE OPENING MOVEMENT

	MASSETER	MEDIAL PTERYGOID	LATERAL PTERYGOID	OPENERS
Р	129.0	65.36	377.6	155.0
P _x	44.7	-24.5	-197.2	0.0
P _y	0.0	0.0	-218.6	135.6
Pz	121.2	60.6	156.1	-75.1
P _{xy}		_	343.8	-
P _{xz}	_	-	322.0	155.0
P_{xz}	129.0	65.36	251.5	_

ESTIMATED	MUSCLE	FORCE	MAGNITUDE	(N)	AND	DIRECT	IONS.
		(ONE	SIDE ONLY))			
	С.	PRO	TRUSION				

	MEDIAL PTERYGOID	LATERAL PTERYGOID	OPENERS×
Р	196.4	377.6	155.0
P _x	-74.46	-197.2	0.0
P _y	0.0	-281.6	135.6
P _z	181.79	156.1	-75.1
P _{xy}	_	343.8	-
P _{zy}	-	322.0	155.0
P _{xz}	196.4	251.5	_

* Openers are: Digastrics, mylohyoid and geniohyoid muscles.

A. EQUILIBRIUM EQUATIONS:

$$\overline{P} = \sqrt{(P_{ix})^2 + (P_{iy})^2 + (P_{iz})^2}$$

 $P_{ix} = sum of projections of all forces on x axis,$ $P_{iy} = sum of projections of all forces on y axis,$ $P_{iz} = sum of projections of all forces on z axis.$



REACTION FORCE AND MUSCLE FORCE CALCULATIONS

A. CLENCH

MUSCLES	P _x	Py	Pz	a _y	a _z	M×
MASSETER A	141.9	-53.6	304.3	-30.0	-30.25	10750.4
MASSETER B	-141.9	-53.6	304.3	-30.0	-30.25	10750.4
TEMPORALIS A	50.6	102.9	238.1	-30.0	-16.8	8871.7
TEMPORALIS A	50.6	102.9	238.1	-30.0	-16.8	8871.7
TEMPORALIS B	-50.6	102.9	238.1	-30.0	-16.95	8887.1
TEMPORALIS B	-50.6	102.9	238.1	-30.0	-16.95	8887.1
MEDIAL PTERY. A	-82.9	-29.7	170.0	-30.0	-29.4	5973.18
MEDIAL PTERY. B	82.9	-29.7	170.0	-30.0	-29.4	5973.18
LATERAL PTER.A	-215.4	-307.6	-43.2	-4.0	5.1	-1741.56
LATERAL PTER.B	215.4	-307.6	-43.2	-4.0	5.1	-1741.56
OPENERS	0.0	133.2	-79.3	-81.0	-24.7	-9713.34
TOTAL	0.0	-237.0	1735.3			55768.3
JOINT REACTION	A 0.0	63.8	-467.6	0.0	0.35	
JOINT REACTION	B 0.0	63.8	-467.6	0.0	0.35	
BITE FORCE A	0.0	54.7	-400.0	70.0	14.6	
BITE FORCE B	0.0	54.7	-400.0	70.0	14.6	

REACTION FORCE AND MUSCLE FORCE CALCULATIONS

B. WIDE OPEN

MUSCLE	P _x	Py	P _z	a _y	a z	M×
MASSETER A	44.7	0.0	121.2	-30.0	-30.25	3636.0
MASSETER B	-44.7	0.0	121.2	-30.0	-30.25	3636.0
MEDIAL PTER A	-24.5	0.0	60.6	-30.0	-29.4	1818.0
MEDIAL PTER B	-24.5	0.0	60.6	-30.0	-29.4	1818.0
LAT. PTER A	-197.2	-281.6	156.1	-4.0	5.1	-811.7
LAT. PTER B	197.2	-281.6	156.1	-4.0	5.1	-811.7
OPENERS	0.0	135.6	-75.1	-81.0	-24.7	-9432.4
TOTAL	0.0	-427.6	600.7			-147.8
JOINT REACTION	0.0	213.0	-300.3	0.0	0.35	
JOINT REACTION	0.0	213.0	-300.3	0.0	0.35	

260